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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY
We acknowledge the Mirarr people who are the Traditional Owners of 
country where the Ranger Rehabilitation Project operates, and the Larrakia 
people who are the Traditional Owners of country where our Darwin head 
office is located.

We pay our respects to Elders past and present and extend that respect  
to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.
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ABOUT ERA 
Energy Resources of Australia (ERA) operated the former Ranger mine, Australia’s 
longest continuous uranium mine surrounded by, but separate from, Kakadu National  
Park in the Northern Territory.

The former Ranger uranium mine lies within the  
79 square kilometre Ranger Project Area, which  
is located eight kilometres east of Jabiru and  
260 kilometres east of Darwin.

ERA ceased mining operations in 2012 and continued 
to process stockpiled ore until 8 January 2021, when 
the Ranger Authority required processing to cease. 
The sale of the last drum of uranium oxide was made 
in May 2022. The Ranger Project Area is now being 
progressively rehabilitated.

Under the Ranger Authority, ERA must rehabilitate 
the Ranger Project Area to establish an environment 
similar to the adjacent areas of Kakadu National Park. 
If this occurs and it is the opinion of the Minister, with 
the advice of the Australian Government’s Office of the 
Supervising Scientist (OSS) (previously referred to as 
the Supervising Scientist Branch), the rehabilitated area 
could be incorporated into the Kakadu National Park,  
if this aligns with the Traditional Owners wishes.

ERA’s ongoing rehabilitation activities on the 
Ranger Project Area are undertaken according to an 
authorisation granted under section 41 of the Atomic 
Energy Act 1953 (the Ranger Authority). Under the 
terms of the current Ranger Authority, ERA’s rights 
to access, occupy and use the Ranger Project Area 
continue until 8 January 2026. 

As this Act was amended in November 2022, ERA is 
working with the Australian Government, Northern Land 
Council (NLC) and Gundjeihmi Aboriginal Corporation 
(GAC) – on behalf of the Mirarr Traditional Owners, 
to negotiate a new Ranger Authority that allows 
rehabilitation works to continue past 8 January 2026.

ERA holds the title to the world-class Jabiluka Mineral 
Lease. In accordance with the Jabiluka Long Term Care 
and Maintenance Agreement, the Jabiluka deposit will 
not be developed by ERA without approval of the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners. The Jabiluka estimated Mineral 
Resource is 137,100 tonnes of uranium oxide at a  
cut-off grade of 0.2% U3O8. The current lease is 
due to expire in August 2024. ERA has commenced 
discussions with stakeholders, including the GAC, 
concerning any application for renewal of the Lease. 

ERA’s strategic priority is to rehabilitate the Ranger 
Project Area and the company’s primary focus is to 
create a positive legacy and achieve world-class, 
sustainable rehabilitation of former mine assets.  
The principles that guide ERA’s approach are safety, 
teamwork, respect, integrity, and excellence  
in every area of the business. 

The company’s shares are publicly held and traded  
on the Australian Securities Exchange. Rio Tinto,  
a diversified resources group, currently holds  
86.3% of ERA shares.
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As I move into my second year as a member of the 
ERA Board, I reflect on the pace at which change 
affects the ERA business and the Ranger Rehabilitation 
Project, and I am thankful to be a part of this unique 
project. I look forward to continuing our journey  
of restoration. 

The Board is proud of the progress made throughout 
the year and the sense of purpose we have heading 
into 2024.

Ongoing progress in delivering  
world-class rehabilitation
ERA continued to maintain the high standards for the 
progressive rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area 
(RPA) throughout 2023. The Board has overseen ERA’s 
organisational transformation and culture program 
which has allowed strong progress in project execution. 
Several pleasing highlights over the year included 
completion of wicking and commencement of Brine 
Injection, giving the ERA Board a high degree  
of confidence that investments in capability and  
culture have produced positive results. 

ERA released the updated 2023 Ranger Mine Closure 
Plan (the Plan), outlining the path for mine closure 
and progressive rehabilitation in line with the cultural 
closure criteria developed in partnership with the 
Mirarr Traditional Owners. This release follows annual 
updates to the plan since its first public release in  
June 2018. 

It is also pleasing to see ERA’s commitments in Jabiru 
being delivered to high levels of quality, receiving 
positive feedback from stakeholders. ERA remains 
committed to delivering on its commitments in Jabiru. 

The ERA team continue to work collaboratively with 
Gundjeihmi Aboriginal Corporation (GAC), Northern 
Land Council (NLC) and relevant Government 
departments to progress a new section 41 Authority 
(and associated agreements) to extend its existing 
Ranger authority beyond the original January 2026 
deadline. As agreed by stakeholders, this will allow 
additional time for ERA to complete the rehabilitation  
of the Ranger Project Area, including long-term 
monitoring and maintenance. 

Reaching certainty through studies 
During 2023, ERA invested significant efforts and 
resources to complete the 2022 Feasibility Study.  
The outcomes of the 2022 Feasibility Study challenged 
core project assumptions, and now require further 
analysis to verify the key areas that are driving risk  
and increases to cost and schedule estimates.  
ERA is undertaking separate studies to verify  
estimates and investigate alternative solutions. 

ERA’s current rehabilitation provision has increased  
to $2.4 billion. A significant portion of this estimate  
can be attributed to activities after 2027, some of 
which are subject to further studies. ERA will use the 
outcomes from the studies to verify and attempt to 
mitigate estimated cost and schedule impacts.

However, with further studies underway around 
assumptions beyond 2027, ERA is transitioning to a 
programme management approach to rehabilitation. This 
approach supports each stage of the project to reach 
appropriate levels of certainty through accurate studies 
and is best supported by an ERA-led execution model.

CHAIR’S REPORT
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Thank you for the opportunity to give an 
overview of our business performance 
in 2023. It has been a productive year 
of achieving several rehabilitation 
milestones on the Ranger Project Area, 
alongside our investment into building 
project capability and pursuing long-term 
certainty on key project assumptions.  
I am pleased to report that ERA has 
made solid progress across all these 
areas, with clear plans in place for 2024. 

Priorities in 2023 were: 

1.	 Progressing rehabilitation while continuing to focus 
on the outstanding safety and well-being of  
our people

2.	 Undertaking the 2022 Feasibility Study and 
presenting the outcomes, and setting up additional 
studies to improve clarity needed on factors driving 
our schedule and cost estimates

3.	 Embedding project capability within ERA to support 
transition to a suitable project execution model,  
the programme management approach 

4.	 Collaborating with stakeholders to progress a new 
section 41 Authority (and associated agreements) 
to extend ERA’s existing Ranger authority beyond 
the original January 2026 deadline, to allow ERA 
sufficient time to carry out rehabilitation

5.	 Continuing to deliver rehabilitation activities on the 
Ranger Project Area and commitments in Jabiru.

Throughout 2023, ERA continued to prioritise the 
safety and wellbeing of all ERA staff and contractors. 
During the year, ERA celebrated a record of over 
1300 days without any Lost Time Injuries (LTI). ERA’s 
safety culture was evident with another year of zero 
recordable injuries. This year also marks the third 
consecutive year with an All-Injury Frequency Rate 
(AIFR) of 0.0. 

In support of our strong safety record, we continue to 
implement the Rio Tinto Safety Maturity Model and 
recorded a score improvement of 4.3, up from 4.0.  
This is an excellent result for our team since 
implementing this model, and I commend all at ERA for 
their commitment and dedication to safety. 

In 2023, we continued to deliver on our purpose to 
create a positive legacy and achieve world-class, 
sustainable rehabilitation of former mine assets.  
I am pleased to share that we have achieved  
several significant milestones:

	y 	Celebrated 2 years of revegetation restoration 
success on Pit 1. As part of the Ecosystem 
Establishment Strategy, the progress, growth 
and resilience shown at Pit 1 gives us confidence 
in the ecosystem design underway for the 
remaining areas of the Ranger Project Area. 

	y 	Demonstrated progress of works at Pit 3 to 
prepare for dry capping and safe storage of 
brine. This included installing 41,000 wicks in 
Pit 3, dewatering Pit 3 and activities to support 
drying out tailings on Pit 3. Brine injection wells 
were commissioned and installed, followed by 
successful brine injection.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
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BUSINESS STRATEGY
ERA’s purpose is to create a positive 
legacy and achieve world-class, 
sustainable rehabilitation of former mine 
assets. The Ranger Rehabilitation Project 
is unique in that it is rehabilitating land 
in one of the world’s most culturally and 
environmentally sensitive locations, 
surrounded by the World Heritage Listed 
Kakadu National Park on the land of  
the Mirarr Traditional Owners.

ERA’s strategic priority continues to be the rehabilitation 
of the Ranger Project Area in accordance with ERA’s 
obligations such that it can be incorporated into Kakadu 
National Park, if the Mirarr Traditional Owners wish.

ERA plans to deliver this purpose by: 

	y 	Creating a physical, ecological and cultural 
landscape that meets the expectations of the 
Mirarr Traditional Owners 

	y 	Setting the standard for mine site rehabilitation in 
a culturally and environmentally sensitive region 

	y 	Achieving this in partnership with Mirarr 
Traditional Owners, governments and other  
key stakeholders.

In May 2022, ERA commenced a Feasibility Study  
to further refine the Ranger Project Area rehabilitation 
execution scope, risks, cost, and schedule. ERA 
received outcomes from the 2022 Feasibility Study  
that require more analysis and separate studies.  
ERA’s current rehabilitation provision on 31 December 
is $2.4 billion, up from $1.2 billion from the previous 
period. Of the increase in the provision, approximately 
85% is attributable to rehabilitation activities post 2027. 

24  Energy Resources of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2023
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The activities underpinning this increase are the subject 
of further studies referenced above and are also 
potentially sensitive to external events such as rainfall.

In the Interim Entitlement Offer completed in May 2023, 
ERA raised approximately $369 million (before costs), 
which is expected to provide ERA with sufficient capital 
to fund planned RPA rehabilitation expenditure through 
to Quarter 3, 2024. Further funding is expected to be 
required by ERA in 2024 to fund the next tranche of 
planned rehabilitation works. This funding requirement 
is expected to be addressed in the form of a material 
equity raise in 2024.

ERA’s near-term strategic priorities include: 

	y Execute rehabilitation scope of the Ranger 
Project Area 

	y Continuing further studies following the 2022 
Feasibility Study outcomes to provide a clear 
rehabilitation plan 

	y Secure a suitable funding solution to meet future 
rehabilitation obligations in the form of a material 
equity raise

	y Moving to a programme management approach 
including transitioning to an ERA-led execution 
model 

	y Progressing negotiations to extend the existing 
Ranger authority beyond the current January 
2026 deadline

	y Preserve the company’s undeveloped resources.

ERA has commenced discussions with stakeholders, 
including GAC, concerning any application for renewal 
of the Jabiluka Mineral Lease. ERA acknowledges its 
obligations under the Long-Term Care and Maintenance 
Agreement (LTCMA) and confirms it has complied 
with the wording and intent of the LTCMA, which has 
protected the significant cultural heritage of the area.  
In accordance with the LTCMA, the Jabiluka deposit  
will not be developed by ERA without the approval of 
the Mirarr Traditional Owners.

Energy Resources of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2023  25
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Energy Resources of Australia Ltd (ERA 
or the Company) incurred negative  
cash flow from operating activities of  
$223 million in 2023 compared to 
negative $147 million in 2022.

Rehabilitation spend for the calendar year was 
$211 million compared to $194 million in 2022.

Total cash resources of $726 million at 31 December 
2023, comprised of $217 million in cash at bank 
and $509 million cash held by the Commonwealth 
Government as part of the Ranger Rehabilitation  
Trust Fund. ERA has no debt financing in place  
and $126 million in bank guarantees1.

ERA recorded a net loss after tax in 2023 of 
$1388 million (inclusive of $1349 million net  
rehabilitation adjustment), compared to a net loss 
after tax of $161 million for the same period in 2022. 
The 2023 result was mostly driven by an increase 
in the forecast cost of rehabilitation of the Ranger 
Project Area, resulting in an increase in the provision 
for rehabilitation. This increase is primarily the result 
of changes in estimate made following the receipt 
of outcomes and data of the 2022 Feasibility Study 
(received in October 2023). 

As of 31 December 2023, revisions to the rehabilitation 
cost estimate resulted in unfavourable adjustments 
of $1,362.5 million compared to an unfavourable 
adjustment of $62.2 million in 2022. The increase in 
the 2023 rehabilitation provision was partially offset by 
other non-cash adjustments in the estimates present 
value due to the increase in the discount rate from  
1.5% to 2% on 1 July 2023 of $13.3 million, as well  
as $211 million of payment of rehabilitation in 2023 
($194 million in 2022). 

Further contributing to the 2023 result was that no 
uranium oxide sales revenue was generated following 
a cessation of uranium oxide sales from the Ranger 
Project Area in 31 May 2022 compared to $35 million 
revenue received in 2022. Revenue from continuing 
operation mainly includes interest income and some 
rental receipts.

Interest income for 2023 was $32.2 million, compared 
to $9.3 million for 2022. The increase was driven by 
both higher than average cash balances and higher 
rates of interest in 2023 than the prior period, with the 
weighted average interest rate received on term deposit 
for the period being 4.69 per cent (2022: 1.53 per cent).

1	 $125 million related to Ranger Project Area and $1 million related to Jabiluka.
2	� 31 December 2023 provision discounted at 2% per cent. This equates to an estimated $2961 million in undiscounted nominal terms  

or $2667 million in undiscounted real terms.

Operating costs for 2023 were lower than the 
corresponding period in 2022. This was primarily 
due to higher employee related cost in 2022 due to 
redundancies following ERA’s transition to an Integrated 
Project Management Team (IPMT) and higher 2022 
consulting and legal charges related to organisational 
changes and the setup of the IPMT. In addition, the 
completion of all sales of remaining uranium inventories 
in May 2022 resulted in no royalty and selling costs 
in 2023, further positively impacting operating costs. 
Operating costs are now only of a corporate nature.

Provision for Rehabilitation
At 31 December 2023, the ERA rehabilitation provision 
was $2420 million2, a net increase of $1195 million from 
the previous period. 

Of the increase in the provision, approximately 85%  
of the increase is attributable to rehabilitation activities 
post 2027. An extension in schedule to achievement 
of Final Landform (FLF) has been a significant factor 
in driving additional estimated project costs. This 
extension is primarily due to a reassessment of the time 
taken to achieve Pit 3 consolidation, with a secondary 
driver being the transition to lower technical risk Pit 
3 capping methods, removing previously estimated 
schedule synergies. 

In addition to schedule, increased estimates in water 
volumes requiring treatment have driven higher 
variable costs of treatment against prior year estimates, 
with the overall long-term performance of the water 
treatment plant being below the planned performance 
in ERA’s previously assumed water treatment strategy. 
ERA will continue to pursue initiatives to improve the 
performance of the water treatment plants in line with 
its revised water treatment strategy. Estimated bulk 
material movement costs have also been forecasted 
to increase materially, due to higher unit costs than 
previously estimated with some additional scope 
relating to catchment conversion activities also driving 
an increase in cost. 

ERA expects to spend approximately $1.2 billion in 
undiscounted nominal terms on rehabilitation activities, 
including studies until the end of 2027. Activities 
post 2027 and estimates of their cost, remain highly 
uncertain. These activities remain subject to a number 
of studies and are also potentially sensitive to external 
events, as such, estimates of expenditure beyond 2027 
are subject to further study work detailed below.
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Rehabilitation Activities in 2023 
During 2023, ERA incurred expenditure of $211 million 
on rehabilitation activities. Continued progressive 
rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area achieved 
several key milestones. 

The capping of Pit 3 remains a critical path activity, 
including the Pit 3 backfill approval application.  
Wicking commenced in November 2022 in the  
eastern end of Pit 3, and the final wick was installed  
on 9th April 2023. The Pit 3 backfill approval application 
was resubmitted to the Northern Territory governing 
agency during the September 2023 Quarter. Final 
approval of the backfill application is expected in the  
later part of Quarter 1, 2024. 

Preparation for the dry capping of Pit 3 has continued 
to progress. Upon the successful dewatering of Pit 3, 
the next step is to lay geofabric which will protect the 
tailings during capping activities. 

Progress was made during the year to mobilise 
equipment to be used to accelerate the drying of 
Pit 3 within the completed wicked zone. Additional 
specialised drying equipment is expected to be 
delivered early in 2024.

The Brine Squeezer process water treatment upgrade 
work progressed, reaching completion during the 
last Quarter of 2023, including regulatory approval to 
operate. This upgrade will allow additional treatment  
of process water from the Ranger Water Dam. 

While performance against operational plan volumes 
improved in 2023, treatment rates of process water 
through the Brine Concentrator has continued below 
the planned performance assumed in ERA’s previous 
water management strategy. Progress is being 
made in identifying and implementing strategies that 
improve plant reliability and production consistency. 
Although water quality has been a challenge this year, 
high quality on specification distillate continues to be 
produced. Process improvement initiatives continue  
to be a key focus area. 

During 2023, the Jabiru housing refurbishment program 
continued to progress including the release of further 
properties. ERA is progressively working on the transfer 
properties to enable tenanting by third parties.

Overall, factors including a tight labour market and 
remnant supply chain constraints, continue to impact 
the project.

Outcomes of the 2022 Feasibility 
Study
In May 2022, ERA commenced the 2022 Feasibility 
Study. The 2022 Feasibility Study relates to a lower 
technical risk rehabilitation methodology (primarily 
relating to the subaerial (dry) capping of Pit3) and to 
further refine the Ranger Project Area rehabilitation 
execution scope, risks, cost and schedule. 

3	  In essence, the subaerial methodology involves Pit 3 drying and being capped subaerially (i.e. not under water).

As previously announced, ERA received outcomes 
and data from the 2022 Feasibility Study in October 
2023, that require more analysis and separate studies, 
including but not limited to: 

	y Investigating alternative lower cost solutions for 
the management of water inventories requiring 
treatment

	y Developing sediment and erosion control 
solutions to optimise release of water from 
rehabilitated landforms

	y Evolution of the final landform design and 
construction to optimise the movement of bulk 
materials and appropriately manage late-stage 
closure sequencing

	y Investigating alternative lower cost options for 
site simplification and opportunities for cost 
optimisation of post-closure monitoring and 
maintenance

	y Value engineering and safety in design 
investigations.

ERA will use the outcomes from the studies to optimise 
Rehabilitation cost, schedule and risk.

Project Execution Approach 
Over 2023, ERA embedded project execution, reporting 
and governance systems through the mobilisation of 
the IPMT with support from Bechtel. This was an interim 
project execution approach to support rehabilitation 
activities being done alongside the 2022 Feasibility 
Study. This approach brought the best of Bechtel’s 
project capability alongside ERA’s rehabilitation 
expertise. The transition to the IPMT was completed  
in March 2023. 

As announced on 26 September 2023, ERA has 
transitioned to a programme management approach. 
This approach seeks to ensure that project scopes with 
certainty can proceed in parallel to studies on remaining 
project execution scopes, without certainty. This 
approach is best supported by an ERA-led execution 
model, which ERA will adopt in H1, 2024.

Extension of the Expiry date of ERA’s 
tenure on the Ranger Project Area
ERA continues to work collaboratively with Gundjeihmi 
Aboriginal Corporation (GAC), the Northern Land 
Council (NLC), and relevant Government departments 
to progress a new section 41 Authority (and associated 
agreements) to extend its existing Ranger authority 
beyond the original January 2026 deadline. This 
will allow additional time for ERA to complete the 
rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area, including  
long-term monitoring and maintenance.

27
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A number of risks and uncertainties, 
which are both specific to ERA and 
of a more general nature, may affect 
the future operating and financial 
performance of ERA.

This section describes some, but not all, of the material 
risks and uncertainties that may impact on ERA’s 
financial performance or outcomes

Rehabilitation 
Under applicable Australian and Northern Territory 
government statutory requirements, ERA ceased 
mining and processing activities at the Ranger Project 
Area on 8 January 2021 and has progressed to 
rehabilitating the site. 

As stated in ERA’s 2022 annual report, on 24 
November 2022, the Australian Parliament passed 
amendments to the Atomic Energy Act 1953, allowing 
additional time for ERA to complete the rehabilitation of 
the Ranger Project Area, including long-term monitoring 
and maintenance. ERA is required to negotiate new 
authorities and agreements now the Act has been 
amended. ERA is working with all stakeholders in 
relation to a revised timeline for its rehabilitation 
obligations, beyond the 8 January 2026 deadline. 

In October 2023, ERA received outcomes and data 
from the 2022 Feasibility Study. These outcomes have 
been a key consideration in the increase in estimated 
rehabilitation costs as reported on 31 December 2023. 
These reported costs are a substantial increase on 
estimates made as of 31 December 2022. While 
ERA expects to spend approximately $1.2 billion in 
undiscounted nominal terms on rehabilitation and  
study activities to 2027, costs estimated beyond  
this period are highly uncertain. 

As a consequence, ERA has adopted a programme 
management approach to the rehabilitation of the 
Ranger Project Area. This approach seeks to ensure 
that each stage of the project can reach appropriate 
levels of certainty through further studies focussed  
on selected closure scope elements that have a 
material impact on closure schedule and cost. 

Further studies will include but not be limited to:

	y Investigating alternative lower cost solutions for 
the management of water inventories requiring 
treatment

	y Development of sediment and erosion control 
solutions to optimise release of water from 
rehabilitated landforms

	y Evolution of the final landform design and 
construction to optimise the movement of bulk 
materials and appropriately manage late-stage 
closure sequencing

	y Investigating alternative lower cost options for 
site simplification and opportunities for cost 

optimisation of post-closure monitoring and 
maintenance

	y Value engineering and safety in design 
investigations.

The Ranger Rehabilitation Project is complex,  
with many overlapping and interconnected aspects.  
The total cost of rehabilitating the Ranger Project Area 
is uncertain and requires matters involving estimation 
and judgment. It is possible that, upon completion of the 
study works outlined above, ERA’s rehabilitation costs 
may be more (or less) than the current rehabilitation 
provision estimated by the company. Increased 
costs could result from factors beyond ERA’s control, 
such as legal requirements, technological changes, 
environmental conditions, labour costs and availability, 
impact of pandemics including but not limited to 
COVID-19, weather events and market conditions. 

Any increase in rehabilitation costs is likely to have 
a material adverse effect on ERA’s business and 
its financial position and performance. There is no 
certainty that the company could secure additional 
funding in the future if it was required. 

Post 2026 Tenure Risk 
On 24 November 2022, the Atomic Energy Amendment 
(Mine Rehabilitation and Closure) Bill 2022 was passed, 
allowing ERA to apply to extend its existing Ranger 
authority to enable the rehabilitation of Ranger Mine 
to continue beyond the 8 January 2026 deadline. 
For access to the site beyond 8 January 2026, a 
new section 41 Authority is required and drafting of 
agreements has commenced with the administrators 
of the Atomic Energy Act 1953, the Australian 
Government’s Department of Industry, Science  
and Resources (DISR).

There is a risk that a new section 41 Authority may not 
be agreed upon in the required timeframe or a material 
change to terms that may adversely affect ERA’s 
business and its financial position and performance. 

Water Treatment and Injection of 
Waste Brines
Overall long-term performance of the water treatment 
plant has been below the planned performance in 
ERA’s previously assumed water treatment strategy. 
This has been a contributing factor to an increase 
in estimated rehabilitation costs reported at 31 
December 2023. ERA will continue initiatives to improve 
performance of the water treatment plants in line with 
its revised water treatment strategy. Further deficits 
in this infrastructure against targets established in 
the revised strategy may produce further delays in 
completing the Ranger Rehabilitation Project.

To the extent that any of these initiatives cost more 
than expected or ERA is required to implement further 
initiatives (such as installing additional water treatment 
infrastructure), the rehabilitation cost may increase 
further.

BUSINESS RISKS 
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As a result of treating processed water, a waste stream 
of contaminated salt is generated. The salt is ultimately 
to be stored below tailings in Pit 3 by injecting the 
brine through boreholes. This technology has been 
commissioned but the long-term performance is yet to 
be fully confirmed. An alternate method of salt disposal 
would be required if disposing the salt in this way does 
not prove viable. This would require additional capital 
expenditure, which has not been allowed for in the 
rehabilitation estimate or the resulting provision and 
may not be available to ERA. 

Tailings Consolidation 
During the capping and backfill of Pit 3, the capped 
tailings will consolidate and express process water that 
will need to be collected and treated. The installation of 
vertical wicks during 2023 has accelerated the rate of 
tailings consolidation. 

The timeframe for completion of tailings consolidation 
is supported by a detailed tailings consolidation model 
that is based on in-situ testing of site tailings. The 
consolidation model’s prediction of the rate of tailings 
consolidation is impacted by many factors, including 
the characteristics of the tailings, the progression of 
Pit 3 capping and backfill, and the ability to remove the 
expressed water from the tailings. 

Forecasts for the practical completion of tailings 
consolidation and the end of process water collection 
have been extended because of changes in Pit 3 
capping method and schedule, changes in the assumed 
degree to which expressed water needs to be collected 
to satisfy environmental constraints, and other changes 
in tailings model assumptions. This extension has 
been a contributing factor to the increase in estimated 
rehabilitation costs reported at 31 December 2023.

If tailings consolidation timeframes or the timeframe for 
the end of process water collection extend further, then 
it could have additional adverse impacts on the cost 
and schedule of completing rehabilitation.

Bulk Material movement
Once Pit 3 is capped, large scale bulk material 
backfill and landform shaping will occur. Bulk material 
movements are sensitive to the volume of material which 
is to be moved and the schedule of movement. Changes 
in estimated bulk material movement unit rates against 
previous estimates have been a contributing factor to  
the increase in estimated rehabilitation costs reported 
at 31 December 2023. There may be further material 
impact on the rehabilitation cost or schedule if volumes 
or costs of movement change. 

Wet Season and Weather
The Ranger Project Area is subject to extreme and 
contrasting weather conditions in the Northern Territory. 
The extent of each wet season can have a significant 
impact on ERA’s rehabilitation activities, including an 
increase in process water inventories. Wet seasons 
that significantly exceed long term averages will have 
a material adverse effect on ERA’s ability to implement 
water management and its ability to complete other 
rehabilitation activities. 

This may impact on schedule and cost, including 
requiring additional process water treatment  
capacity and may affect ERA’s financial position  
and performance. 

Ranger Rehabilitation Trust Fund
ERA is required to maintain the Trust Fund with the 
Commonwealth Government. The Trust Fund is 
intended to provide security against the estimated 
costs of closing and rehabilitating the Ranger Project 
Area. ERA is required to prepare and submit an 
Annual Plan of Rehabilitation (Annual Plan) to the 
Australian Government. Once accepted, the Annual 
Plan is independently assessed and costed and the 
amount to be provided by the company into the Trust 
Fund is then determined.

As at 31 December 2023, ERA had $509 million in cash 
held by the Australian Government in the Trust Fund. 
Bank guarantees procured by ERA totalling $125 million 
are held by the Government as additional security for 
ERA’s rehabilitation obligations (an additional $1 million 
is held as an allowance for Jabiluka rehabilitation).

These deposits and bank guarantees were 
provided to the Australian Government based on 
its review in February 2020 of the 44th Annual Plan 
of Rehabilitation submitted by ERA (i.e. prior to 
the reforecast of the cost of Ranger Project Area 
rehabilitation), and subsequently reduced for an 
interim payment of $57 million for rehabilitation works 
completed from 9 January 2021 to 30 June 2022.

ERA has agreed on amendments to the Ranger 
Government Agreement with the Australian 
Government to introduce a clearer framework 
for managing the amount of security held by the 
Government and releasing funds from the Trust 
Fund for completed rehabilitation works. However, 
drawdown of funds under this framework will first 
require re-evaluation of the security arrangement. 
Given the increase in the cost of rehabilitating the 
Ranger Project Area, ERA may be required to provide 
additional security or funds in the Trust Fund.

ERA does not consider that it can rely upon drawdown 
of any further cash from the Trust Fund before the  
re-evaluation of the security arrangement is complete.  
 
ERA’s ability to continue to access financial guarantees 
can be influenced by many factors, including potential 
future cash balance, cash flows and shareholder 
support. Issuers of the bank guarantees have certain 
pay and walk rights, and the guarantees are subject 
to periodic reviews. Should the banks execute their 
pay and walk rights or ERA is unable to access bank 
guarantees, substantial additional cash would be 
required to indemnify the banks or be deposited into 
the Trust Fund. This is likely to have a material adverse 
effect on ERA’s business and its financial position 
and performance, as well as its ability to meet its 
rehabilitation obligations. 

The Trust Fund is disclosed as Government Security 
Receivable in the Financial Statements.
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Access to Capital Risk
On 29 April 2016, the company entered into a  
$100 million Loan Agreement with North Limited  
(a wholly owned subsidiary of Rio Tinto) in support 
of ERA’s rehabilitation obligations, should additional 
funding ultimately be required.

On 6 October 2022, ERA agreed to enter into an 
amended $100 million loan agreement with Rio Tinto 
(Revised Credit Facility), under which loans of a 
cumulative value of up to $100 million can be made 
available to provide ERA with additional liquidity to 
rehabilitate the Ranger Project Area. The Revised 
Credit Facility contained a maturity date of 31 March 
2023 unless additional funds were raised before that,  
or unless extended by Rio Tinto. In addition, the 
maturity date was subject to deferral for approximately 
3 months if ERA is unable to repay the loan at that 
time. The Revised Credit Facility provided ERA 
with additional time to negotiate and implement a 
future funding solution while providing assurance to 
stakeholders that rehabilitation of the Ranger Project 
Area will continue to be funded in the meantime. 
A summary of the agreement was provided in the 
announcement to the ASX dated 6 October 2022.

In May 2023, ERA confirmed that it had successfully 
completed a 5 for 1 non-underwritten pro-rata 
renounceable interim entitlement offer (Interim 
Entitlement Offer) raising approximately $369 million 
(before costs). This represented a 98.5% take up 
of Entitlement by eligible Shareholders. Inclusive of 
applications under the Shortfall Facility, the Interim 
Entitlement Offer was fully subscribed and provided 
total proceeds of $369 million (before costs). As set out 
in the offer materials for the Interim Entitlement Offer, 
part of the proceeds were used to settle the Revised 
Credit Facility in full. 

ERA will require additional funding for rehabilitation of 
the Ranger Project Area, or otherwise beyond existing 
cash resources and expected future cash flows. There 
can be no assurance that additional funding will be 
available on acceptable terms, or at all. Any inability to 
obtain additional capital or to monetise assets would 
have a material adverse effect on ERA’s ability to meet 
its rehabilitation obligations as well as its business and 
its financial position and performance. If ERA does 
not have sufficient funding to support its continued 
operations and rehabilitation of the Ranger Project 
Area, ERA may be unable to meet its liabilities as and 
when they fall due and its ability to continue as a going 
concern may be impacted.

Regulators and Stakeholders
The Mine Closure Plan (the Plan) is subject to ongoing 
review and refinement, with ERA required to submit 
an updated plan for regulatory approval each year. In 
addition, regulatory approvals are required to carry out 
certain rehabilitation activities. ERA’s ability to complete 
the rehabilitation program in a timely and cost-effective 
manner will be at risk if these regulatory approvals are 
not obtained or are obtained with amended conditions.

The Plan builds on more than 20 years of scientific 
work undertaken on the progressive rehabilitation 
at Ranger and was developed by reference to the 
Western Australian Mine Closure Plan Guidelines (in 

the absence of relevant Northern Territory closure plan 
guidelines). It includes proposed closure criteria for the 
Ranger mine which addresses the key themes of the 
final landform, radiation, water, flora and fauna, soils 
and cultural heritage. 

ERA first released the Plan to the public in June 2018, 
following an intensive stakeholder engagement process 
with all key stakeholders that commenced with a 
draft plan in December 2016. Key stakeholders who 
provided feedback on the draft and subsequent annual 
updates included the Gundjeihmi Aboriginal Corporation 
and Northern Land Council (as representatives of the 
Mirarr Traditional Owners), and Northern Territory and 
Australian government agencies.

In December 2023, the latest updated Plan was 
released and will continue to be updated annually 
in close consultation with Traditional Owner 
representatives, regulators, and key stakeholders. 
ERA has submitted the updated plan to the relevant 
Northern Territory and Australian ministers for approval 
in compliance with the authorisation.

Jabiru was transitioned to an Aboriginal township 
lease under Section 19A of the Aboriginal Land Rights 
(Northern Territory) Act 1976 (Cth) in June 2021. 
ERA has remained a major tenant in the town under 
an interim agreement with the Gundjeihmi Aboriginal 
Corporation Jabiru Town (GACJT). ERA’s licence to 
occupy the Jabiru properties has been extended to  
31 December 2024. The terms and any associated 
costs of any future license extension to allow ERA 
to continue to remain in Jabiru are uncertain and will 
be subject to the approval of GACJT. The process 
to undertake extensive rectification of the Jabiru 
properties, transition the houses to third parties, and 
find alternative accommodation for ERA personnel  
may result in higher costs than currently projected  
by ERA.

General Regulatory Risk
Uranium mining in Australia is extensively regulated 
by Australian, state and territory governments. The 
areas of uranium mining that are regulated include 
exploration, development, production, transport, export, 
taxes and royalties, labour standards, occupational 
health, waste disposal, protection and rehabilitation 
of the environment, mine reclamation, mine safety, 
toxic and radioactive substances, and native title. 
The approval processes for uranium mining are more 
onerous, and therefore more costly, than for the mining 
of other minerals. 

Government actions in Australia, and other countries or 
jurisdictions in which ERA has interests, could impact 
ERA, including new or amended legislation, guidelines 
and regulations about the environment, uranium or 
nuclear power sectors, competition policy, native title, 
and cultural heritage.

Operational aspects that may be affected include 
land access rights, granting licences and other 
tenements, an extended mine life and development 
approvals. Future legislation and changes in the 
regulatory framework could cause additional expense, 
capital expenditures, restrictions and delays in the 
development of ERA’s assets – the extent of which 
cannot be predicted. Any government action may 
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require increased capital, rehabilitation or other 
expenditures and could prevent or delay certain 
activities by ERA, which could have a material adverse 
effect on ERA’s business and its financial position 
and performance, as well as its ability to meet its 
rehabilitation obligations.

Jabiluka Mineral Lease
ERA holds title to the Jabiluka Mineral Lease. The 
Jabiluka Mineral Lease (being an undeveloped 
property as noted in ERA’s 2023 Annual Report) is 
currently held subject to the Long-Term Care and 
Maintenance Agreement with the Mirarr Traditional 
Owners. The Jabiluka deposit cannot be developed 
without the approval of the Traditional Owners under 
this agreement. There is currently no such approval to 
develop the Jabiluka deposit. It is uncertain that this 
approval will be forthcoming and, by extension, that the 
Jabiluka deposit will be developed. Should this approval 
not eventuate in the future, the Jabiluka Mineral Lease 
would face full impairment.

The initial term of the Lease is due to expire in 
August 2024. ERA has commenced discussions with 
stakeholders, including the GAC, concerning any 
application for renewal of the Lease which is due in 
2024. The Jabiluka Mineral Lease makes provision for 
a further term not exceeding 10 years provided that 
ERA has complied with all of its obligations under the 
Jabiluka Mineral Lease and the Mining Act 1980 (NT). 
There is a risk that the renewal will not be granted. 
If the renewal is granted, a renewal of the Jabiluka 
Mineral Lease beyond the further term of up to 10 years 
is uncertain and would require the Minister to exercise 
his or her discretion. 

The valuation of Jabiluka requires a high degree of 
judgement. The carrying value ($90 million) of the 
Jabiluka Mineral Lease as set out in ERA’s 2023 Annual 
Report, considers the above uncertainties. It also 
considers other underlying assumptions concerning the 
valuation of the Jabiluka Mineral Lease, including the 
probability of future development, uranium oxide prices 
such as term contract price premiums in the future, 
foreign exchange rates, production and capital costs, 
discount rate, ore and mineral resources, lease tenure 
renewal (August 2024), and development delays. Any 
change to ERA’s underlying assumptions regarding 
the Jabiluka Mineral Lease may result in a further 
impairment that could adversely affect ERA’s  
financial position.

Ranger 3 Deeps 
On 8 January 2021, ERA ceased to be authorised to 
conduct mining operations in the Ranger Project Area, 
accordingly development of Ranger 3 Deeps is not an 
authorised activity. ERA does not have the authority 
to mine Ranger 3 Deeps and is not pursuing such 
authority.

In addition to requiring an authorisation to mine Ranger 
3 Deeps, the project would need to be economically 
viable for it to be developed. ERA has historically 
assessed the economics of the Ranger 3 Deeps project 
to be unviable. Considering further work undertaken 
to rehabilitate the Ranger Project Area, the project 
would now be required to support a standalone mill 

and tailings construction, among other infrastructure, 
which would add fixed costs to the operation, further 
materially challenging the Ranger 3 Deeps Project’s 
viability. ERA has also completed backfill works on the 
Ranger 3 Deeps decline.

Given the above, no work is being conducted on further 
development options for the Ranger 3 Deeps deposit.

Environmental Risk
A condition of the section 41 Authority granted to ERA is 
that the company must rehabilitate the Ranger Project 
Area to establish an environment similar to the adjacent 
areas of Kakadu National Park, so the rehabilitated 
area could be incorporated into Kakadu National Park, 
if that is the opinion of the Minister with the advice of 
the Supervising Scientist, and if the Traditional Owners 
wish. While substantially complete and agreed upon, 
certain closure criteria relating to environmental matters 
require careful management.

The updated Mine Closure Plan for the Ranger Project 
Area still requires final approvals and agreement 
from stakeholders, including the Minesite Technical 
Committees. There is a risk that the process to agree 
on the environmental conditions will give rise to 
additional rehabilitation obligations that may impact 
costs and/or schedule.

The ability for ERA to meet its Ranger closure and 
rehabilitation obligations requires careful management 
of various environmental conditions into the future, 
including preventing:

	y pond and process water being discharged to the 
environment

	y impact of surface water on groundwater under 
the site and surrounding environment 

	y impact of salt accumulation in dry watercourses 
during the dry season 

	y weeds, feral animals and fire from the Kakadu 
National Park encroaching on the Ranger  
Project Area

	y release, spillage and impact on the surrounding 
environment of hazardous materials, such as 
radioactive material, diesel, and acid. 

If these environmental conditions are not satisfactorily 
managed, ERA’s ability to complete the rehabilitation 
program in a timely and cost-effective manner will be 
at risk and ERA’s business and financial position and 
performance may be materially impacted.
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Evaluation and Exploration
In 2023, no evaluation, exploration expenditure or 
processing activities were performed by ERA in and 
around the Ranger Project Area site, including the 
Ranger 3 Deeps project or on the Jabiluka Mineral 
Lease area.

Ranger 3 Deeps Reserves and 
Resources
No work is being conducted to further develop options 
for the Ranger 3 Deeps deposit, in line with ERA 
ceasing recognition of the Ranger 3 Deeps Mineral 
Resource in 2020 and the cessation of processing 
operations in 2021.

Ranger Reserves and Resources
ERA has no remaining Ranger Reserves and 
Resources due to the conclusion of processing 
activities under the Ranger Authority.

Jabiluka Reserves and Resources
The Jabiluka Mineral Resource consists of 137,100 
tonnes of uranium oxide at a cut-off grade of 0.2% 
U3O8. It is amongst the largest, high-grade undeveloped 
uranium deposits in the world.

Jabiluka will not be developed by ERA without the 
approval of the Mirarr Traditional Owners in accordance 
with the Jabiluka Long Term Care and Maintenance 
Agreement.

Governance
ERA’s Competent Person (as defined in the following 
pages) is a consultant of ERA. The ERA Board 
oversees the governance of Resources and Reserves. 
This includes the annual review and approval of the 
publicly reported Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources 
Statement. Internal approval of Ore Reserves and 
Mineral Resources for ERA, is the responsibility of 
the Chief Executive and estimates are carried out 
by a Competent Person, as defined by the Joint Ore 
Reserve Committee (JORC) Code 2012. The ERA 
Competent Person uses judgment in carrying out 
estimates of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources for 
ERA, as defined by the JORC Code 2021, including  
the use of external experts as required.

FUTURE SUPPLY 

ERA 2023 Mineral Resources

As at 31 December 2023 
CUT OFF GRADE 

0.20% U308

As at 31 December 2022 
CUT OFF GRADE 

0.20% U308

 (MT) % U308 T U308  (MT) % U308 T U308

Jabiluka Mineral Resources 

    Measured 1.21 0.89 10,800 1.21 0.89 10,800

    Indicated 13.88 0.52 72,200 13.88 0.52 72,200

Sub-total Measured  
and Indicated

15.09 0.55 82,900 15.09 0.55 82,900

Inferred Resources 10.00 0.54 54,000 10.00 0.54 54,000

Total Resources 25.10 0.55 137,100 25.10 0.55 137,100
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Assessment of Jabiluka Mineral 
Resource
The Competent Person has assessed the Jabiluka 
Mineral Resource reporting as required by the JORC 
2012 Code and has considered the following facts  
and assumptions in this appraisal.

1.	� The continuing role of nuclear energy as a 
decarbonised energy source and impact on the 
long-term uranium market as world economies 
seek to decarbonise and mitigate the effects of 
climate change over the next 20 to 50 years.

2.	� The 2005 Long Term Care and Maintenance 
Agreement specifically requires approval by 
the Mirarr Traditional Owners and confirms that 
Jabiluka will not be developed without the approval 
of the Traditional Owners, which is consistent with 
the values of ERA.

3.	� Should the JORC code be updated, or the industry 
move to a more prescriptive view on Reasonable 
Prospects for Eventual Economic Extraction 
(RPEEE), the continued reporting of the Jabiluka 
Mineral Resource may change in the future.

4.	� The Rio Tinto Group (ERA major shareholder) has 
elected in 2022 to no longer report the Jabiluka 
mineralisation as a Mineral Resource.

Competent persons
As required by the Australian Securities Exchange, the 
above tables contain details of other mineralisation 
that has a reasonable prospect of being economically 
extracted in the future, but which is not yet classified 
as Proven or Probable Reserves. This material is 
defined as Mineral Resources under the 2012 edition 
of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC 
2012 code). Estimates of such material are based 
largely on geological information with only preliminary 
consideration of mining, economic and other factors 
and are not precise calculations. While in the 
judgement of the Competent Person there are realistic 
expectations that all or part of the Mineral Resources 
will eventually become Proven or Probable Reserves, 
there is no guarantee that this will occur as the result 
depends on further technical and economic studies and 
prevailing economic conditions in the future.

The information in this announcement that relates to 
Jabiluka Mineral Resources is based on information 
compiled by geologist Stephen Pevely who is a part-
time consultant of ERA. Stephen Pevely is a member of 
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and 
has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation, type of deposit under consideration and 
activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the JORC 2012 code. Stephen 
Pevely, who is a part time consultant of ERA, consents 
to the inclusion in this announcement of the matters 
based on their information in the form and context in 
which it appears.
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One of ERA’s core values is maintaining 
the safety and wellbeing of our people. 
By working together, ERA believe that 
injuries, incidents, and occupational 
illnesses can be prevented, and everyone 
shall go home safe and healthy each day. 

Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) was a high 
priority for ERA in 2023, with significant investment 
made by ERA in planning to ensure our workforce 
went home safely each day. New project HSE routines 
and rituals were established to identify and control 
HSE risks including critical risk schedules, daily leader 
HSE debriefs and daily information sheets. These new 
tools added to already established programs including 
the leadership success program, mental wellness 
programs, PhysioAssist, leadership in the field and a 
range of health and safety workshops.

ERA’s safety goals, accountabilities and systems can 
be found in the ERA Health, Safety and Environment 
Management System. The key performance measure  
of safety at ERA is the All Injury Frequency Rate 
(AIFR). AIFR measures how often a recordable injury 
occurs every 200,000 work hours and considers lost 
time injuries, restricted work injuries and medical 
treatment cases.

In 2023, ERA celebrated achieving another year free 
of recordable injuries, resulting in the third consecutive 
year with an AIFR of 0.0. 

Previous year's results have been: 

	y AIFR 2023 – 0.00

	y AIFR 2022 – 0.00

	y AIFR 2021 – 0.00 

	y AIFR 2020 – 0.53 

	y AIFR 2019 – 1.07 

	y AIFR 2018 – 0.56 

	y AIFR 2017 – 1.17 

Mental Health and Well-being 
Staff mental health and wellbeing was a high priority 
for ERA in 2023 as the business embedded project 
capability. Onsite access to an employee assistance 
program continued to help support mental health within 
the workforce, which provided face-to-face counselling.

ERA’s Peer Support Program continued to be available 
to the workforce, with many new peer supporters being 
trained and appointed into this valued role during 2023. 

There is a zero-tolerance approach to bullying and 
harassment at ERA and proactively guided appropriate 
workplace behaviours are implemented to prevent 
behavioural escalations. 

ERA provided training to leaders on the topic of 
psychological safety, including why this is important 
to creating safe, supportive work environments where 
everyone thrives, and poor behaviour has difficulty 
existing. All staff continue to have access to the 
myVoice program to report occurrences of bullying 
and harassment. The myVoice program helps ERA to 
effectively investigate reports to ensure employees are 
supported and ERA continues to be a safe workplace.

Safety Maturity Model 
The Safety Maturity Model (SMM) is a global Rio Tinto 
initiative that drives behaviours and activity to deliver 
effective health, safety, and environment performance 
across the four pillars: leadership and engagement; 
risk management; work planning and execution; and 
learning and improvement. 

ERA achieved a SMM score of 4.3 in 2023, 
demonstrating an increase in last year’s results and 
improved HSE culture across the business. To achieve 
this ERA leveraged the project HSE experience of 
our Integrated Project Management Team (IPMT), 
in combination with ERA’s knowledge of the safety 
maturity model spanning a 6-year period. Key 
SMM initiatives imbedded across 2023 were a daily 
information sheet (DIS), communicating timely HSE 
messages to the workforce, daily field leadership 
debrief meetings, a strong culture of incident reporting 
and implementing learnings from near-miss events,  
and wide-spread use of HSE recognition programs. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
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Process Safety 
In 2023, ERA continued a control-based process 
safety approach with almost 100 controls being verified 
each month to ensure ERA does not experience a 
high consequence, low probability incident, protecting 
our people, people of the Jabiru region and the 
environment. Verification of process safety controls 
involved a large cross-section of the business, from 
operators and maintainers working within the Brine 
Concentrator, to members of the ERA Executive (ExCo) 
team completing Critical Control Monitoring Plans. 

Emergency Response 
ERA’s Emergency Response Team are trained to 
respond and provide support to onsite and offsite 
incidents, including site evacuations, fires, and vehicle 
accidents. In 2023, ERA provided support to the local 
government emergency services for multiple off-site 
incidents. ERA maintained a well-trained team of 
Emergency Services Personnel across 2023, ready to 
support emergency responses for various work fronts, 
including those within confined spaces, work at  
heights and work over water. 

Radiation Monitoring 
ERA monitors radiation at the Ranger Project Area in 
accordance with the Company’s Radiation Policy and 
Radiation Management Plan. All radiation dose results 
continue to be reviewed internally by ERA and external 
regulators. Quarterly occupational radiation dose data 
for designated workers at the Ranger Project Area are 
provided to the Australian Government’s Australian 
Radiation Dose Register (ANRDR).

In 2023, preliminary analysis of the available data on 
radiation doses received by workers at the Ranger 
Project Area remain well under the national and 
international dose limits and the natural background 
radiation levels. In 2023, ERA maintained compliance 
with all relevant state and Australian regulatory 
requirements for radiation safety and security. 

ERA did not have any designated workers (workers 
who may be exposed to radiation that exceeds  
5 millisieverts (mSv) per year) in 2023, due the  
nature of the rehabilitation works being undertaken 
on the project. 

The below table provides a summary of maximum 
and mean annual radiation doses received by workers 
at the Ranger Project Area over the past 12 months 
from the third Quarter of 2022. Reported doses have 
increased slightly from the 2022 annual report due to  
an increase in standard dose coefficients (updated by 
the Australian Government regulators in mid-2022  
to adopt changes made by international authorities).

DESIGNATED 
WORKERS (mSv) 

NON-DESIGNATED 
WORKERS (mSv) 

Timeframe Mean Max Mean Max 

2022 Q3 N/A N/A 0.0 0.18

2022 Q4 N/A N/A 0.21 0.22

2023 Q1 N/A N/A 0.06 0.42 

2023 Q2 N/A N/A 0.08 0.135

The full radiation doses received by workers in 2023 
will be reported in the Annual Ranger Mine Radiation 
Protection and Atmospheric Monitoring Report.
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REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Uranium mining activities in Australia are 
strictly regulated by the Australian and 
state or territory governments.

The purpose of these regulations is to ensure 
performance and compliance of all uranium activities 
in a range of critical areas. These include health and 
safety, process safety, safely managing toxic and 
radioactive substances, waste disposal, transport 
safety, export controls, protecting and rehabilitating the 
environment, native title, exploration and development, 
taxes and royalties, labour standards and mine 
reclamation.

International agreements designed to prevent nuclear 
proliferation also govern the mining and export  
of uranium.

Exports are subject to strict safeguards and conditions 
to ensure Australian uranium is only used for  
peaceful purposes.

Regulation of ERA’s Operations
Australian and Northern Territory legislation provides 
the regulatory framework for all of ERA’s activities, 
including rehabilitation, monitoring,  
and closure.

ERA’s activities on the Ranger Project Area and 
Jabiluka Mineral Lease are closely supervised and 
monitored by key statutory bodies and stakeholder 
organisations including:

	y 	Northern Territory Department of Industry, 
Tourism and Trade (DITT), the Australian 
Government Department of Industry, Science 
and Resources (DISR), the Office of the 
Supervising Scientist (OSS), the Gundjeihmi 
Aboriginal Corporation (GAC) and the Northern 
Land Council (NLC) representing the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners

	y 	Alligator Rivers Region Advisory Committee 
(including non-government organisation 
representatives)

	y 	Alligator Rivers Region Technical Committee 
(including non-government organisation 
representatives).

The Ranger and Jabiluka Minesite Technical 
Committees – made up of representatives from ERA, 
DITT, OSS, GAC and NLC (with DISR as observers) 
and are the key forums for approvals on environmental 
matters relating to Ranger and Jabiluka.

The Alligator Rivers Region Advisory Committee 
(ARRAC) provides a formal forum for consultation 
on matters relating to the effects of uranium mining 
activities on the environment in the region. Committee 
members include representatives of the Northern 
Territory Government, Australian Government, NLC, 
Aboriginal associations, mining companies (including 
ERA), West Arnhem Regional Council, Northern 
Territory Environment Centre and other members who 
may be appointed by the Australian Government’s 
Minister for the Environment. Further information on 
ARRAC can be found at: https://www.dcceew.gov.au/
science-research/supervising-scientist/communication/
committees/arrac 

The Alligator Rivers Region Technical Committee 
(ARRTC) also oversees the nature and extent of 
research being undertaken to protect and restore the 
environment from any effects of uranium mining in the 
Alligator Rivers Region.

The 10 ARRTC members include independent 
scientists nominated by the Federation of Australian 
Scientists Branch and Technological Societies with 
the remaining representatives being drawn from the 
OSS, Northern Territory Government, Uranium Equities 
Ltd, NLC, Parks Australia and an environmental 
non-government organisation. Further information on 
ARRTC can be found at: https://www.dcceew.gov.au/
science-research/supervising-scientist/communication/
committees/arrtc 

International and Australian 
Certification
ERA maintains international certification (ISO 14001) 
of its Health, Safety and Environment Management 
System, which includes the Company’s Water 
Management System.

ERA also maintains Australian certification (AS4801) 
of its Health, Safety and Environment Management 
System including the Ranger Radiation  
Management System.
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Remuneration report 
The Remuneration Report is set out under the 
following main headings: 

A. Board oversight of remuneration 

B. Principles used to determine non-executive 
Directors’ remuneration 

C. Principles used to determine executive 
remuneration 

D. Details of remuneration 

E. Executive service agreements 

F. Share based compensation 

G. Additional information 

The information provided in the Remuneration 
Report has been audited by the Company’s 
independent auditor as required by section 
308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

A  Board oversight of 
remuneration 
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for 
reviewing and where appropriate making 
recommendations to the Board in respect of the 
following matters: 

• Remuneration framework and policies 
(including key performance indicators) for 
the Company’s senior executives 

• Remuneration and performance of the 
Company’s senior executives 

• Remuneration of the Company’s non-
executive Directors 

• Remuneration disclosures to be made by 
the Company 

• Other relevant matters identified as 
requested by the Board. 

The Remuneration Committee Charter is available 
at the Corporate Governance section of ERA’s 
website. 

B  Principles used to determine 
non-executive Directors’ 
remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect 
the demands which are made on, and the 
responsibilities of, the non-executive Directors. The 
Remuneration Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding non- 
executive Directors’ remuneration.  

These fees are comprised of a base fee and any fees 
payable to non-executive Directors for their 
membership on established committees of the Board. 
ERA does not pay retirement or post-employment 
benefits to non-executive Directors, however statutory 
superannuation contributions are paid to non-
executive Directors. 

In addition, from time to time, the Board may approve 
that non-executive Directors receive additional fees 
for services provided outside the established 
committee processes. 

The following principles are applied in determining the 
remuneration of non-executive Directors: 

• The responsibilities of, and time spent by, 
the non-executive Directors on the affairs of 
ERA, including preparation time 

• Acknowledgement of the personal risk 
borne as a Director 

• Comparison with professional market rates 
of remuneration to remain competitive with 
the market having regard to companies of 
similar size and complexity 

• The desire to attract Directors of a high 
calibre with appropriate levels of expertise 
and experience. 

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting, a resolution to 
increase the limit of aggregate remuneration for non-
executive Directors of ERA to $1,100,000 was 
approved with 99.97% of shares voting in favour. 

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting, the 2022 
Remuneration Report was approved with 99.99% of 
shares voted in favour. The aggregate amount of non-
executive Directors’ remuneration paid in 2023 was 
approximately $1,022,000 inclusive of statutory 
superannuation. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

The executive pay and reward framework has four 
components: 

• Base salary and benefits 
• Short term incentive plans 
• Long term incentive plans through 

participation in the Rio Tinto Equity 
Incentive Plan (EIP), share-based 
remuneration, including management share 
awards (MSA), performance share awards 
(PSA) and bonus deferral awards (BDA) 
where applicable 

• Other remuneration such as 
superannuation. 

Performance and non-performance related 
remuneration 
Total remuneration is a combination of the fixed, 
performance and service related elements described 
in this report. The short and long term incentives are 
the variable components of the total remuneration 
package and are therefore “at risk”. They are tied to 
achievement of specific business measures, individual 
performance and service. Other components are 
referred to as “fixed” as they are not at risk. 

The long term incentive plans are designed to provide 
a target expected value of 30% of base salary for the 
senior executives and the Chief Executive, delivered 
in any one year through Rio Tinto Management Share 
Awards (MSAs) and Performance Share Awards 
(PSAs). In 2023 only MSAs were awarded to the ERA 
Chief Executive and senior executives. 

Excluding post-employment and non-monetary 
benefits, the proportion of total direct remuneration, 
assuming maximum award levels and maximum 
levels of performance, provided by way of variable at 
risk components as at 31 December 2023 for the 
Chief Executive and senior executives was 51%. The 
actual proportion of total direct remuneration provided 
by way of variable performance related components 
will differ from these percentages depending on 
measured Company, Rio Tinto and individual 
performance and the current blend of share plans. 

Base salary 

Base salary is set at a level consistent with market 
expectations within the wider Rio Tinto 
remuneration framework and may be delivered as 
a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial 
benefits. It is targeted broadly at the median of 
companies of similar size, global reach and 
complexity, including other large natural resource 
companies. Base salary is reviewed annually and 
adjusted taking into account the individual and 
Company performance, global economic 
conditions, role responsibilities, an assessment 
against comparator groups, internal relativities 
and base salary budgets applying to the broader 
employee population.  

Short term incentive plan 
The short term incentive plan provides a bonus 
opportunity and is designed to support the overall 
remuneration policy by focusing management 
personnel on calendar year performance against 
challenging individual and business targets. 

Short term incentive performance conditions 
Individual performance is reviewed against relevant 
targets and objectives annually. The Chief Executive 
and senior executives (excluding the Project Director) 
of the Company have 40% of their performance-
based bonus based on business measures, with the 
remainder based on individual measures. 

The bonus payments shown as remuneration relate to 
performance in 2023. 

The Company’s business performance measures for 
2023 used in the determination of short-term incentive 
plan payments were: 

• Safety - All Injury Frequency Rate, and 
measures relating to Safety Maturity & 
Major Safety Incidents 

• Rio Tinto Group Financials - underlying 
earnings and cashflow 

• Business – Brine concentrator performance 
and improvement, timely completion of the 
2022 Feasibility Study, cultural and 
stakeholder metrics and the 2023 Funding 
Strategy. 

Incentive plans 
As previously outlined, the Remuneration Committee 
believes that the general application of the Rio Tinto 
remuneration framework (including the EIP to ERA’s 
Chief Executive and senior executives, with 
appropriate review by the Remuneration Committee) 
is of benefit to the Company. During 2023, the 
Remuneration Committee reviewed the position for 
future years.  

Awards under the EIP can take the form of: 

• Conditional Awards - under which the 
participant receives shares for free 
automatically to the extent the award vests 
(which may be subject to the achievement 
of performance conditions) 

• Forfeitable Shares - under which the 
participant receives free shares on grant, 
which must be given back to the extent the 
award lapses 

• Other forms of awards are permitted under 
the EIP and may be used in the event the 
Rio Tinto Groups remuneration approach 
changes. 

Inclusion of other award types is to provide for 
sufficient flexibility in the future should the Group’s 
remuneration approach change during the life of the 
Plan. Awards may also be granted or settled on 
vesting as cash awards. 

An award may be granted on the basis that it will 
normally only vest to the extent that a performance 
condition, set by the Rio Tinto People & 

Energy Resources of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2023  49

A
bout E

R
A

Year in R
eview

B
usiness 

S
trategy

Financial 
P

erform
ance

B
usiness R

isks
Future S

upply
H

ealth and 
S

afety
R

egulatory 
Fram

ew
ork

Financial 
R

eport
C

ontents
C

hair’s R
eport

C
hief E

xecutive’s 
R

eport
49



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Remuneration Committee at the time of grant, is 
satisfied by Rio Tinto. However, awards representing 
deferred bonuses will not be subject to performance 
conditions. The vesting of awards granted to 
executive directors (other than bonus deferred 
awards) will always be subject to a performance 
condition, except as otherwise permitted by Rio 
Tinto’s Remuneration Policy. During the reporting 
period these incentive plans were not part of ERA’s 
executive pay and reward framework.  

Conditional awards will be granted on the basis that 
the participant will receive dividend equivalents for the 
vesting period (in additional shares or cash) when and 
to the extent that, the award vests or is exercised. The 
dividend equivalent will be calculated based on the 
aggregate value of dividends paid during the vesting 
period unless the Rio Tinto People & Remuneration 
Committee decides to use a different approach. 

When applicable, awards will normally vest, to the 
extent that any performance condition is met, at the 
end of a period set when the award is granted or the 
end of the period over which any performance 
condition is tested. Shares will be issued or 
transferred to the participant on vesting. Vesting may 
be delayed where a participant is subject to any 
external investigation or similar circumstances. 

If Rio Tinto was subject to a change of control, awards 
will vest subject to the extent to which any 
performance condition has been satisfied. 
Alternatively, participants may be allowed or required 
to exchange their awards for equivalent awards over 
shares in the acquiring company. If awards vest, the 
awards will be pro-rated unless the Rio Tinto People 
& Remuneration Committee decides otherwise. 
However, no pro rating will apply to deferred bonus 
awards or on performance share awards where the 
participant leaves more than three years after the 
grant. 

Awards 
The current intention remains that awards will be 
made under the EIP in the form of Conditional Awards 
in line with the Rio Tinto Group’s Remuneration 
Policy. 

Performance Share Awards 

Performance Share Awards (PSA), provide a 
conditional right to Rio Tinto shares to eligible senior 
management personnel within the Rio Tinto Group. 
Award levels under the EIP are at the discretion of Rio 
Tinto and the ERA Remuneration Committee. 

The conditional awards only vest if the performance 
condition set by the Rio Tinto People & Remuneration 
Committee is satisfied by Rio Tinto, although the Rio 
Tinto People & Remuneration Committee retains 
discretion to satisfy itself that satisfaction of the 
performance condition is a genuine reflection of the 
underlying performance of the business. Prior to the 
vesting of conditional awards, Rio Tinto’s Total 
Shareholder Return (TSR) performance against the 
performance condition is calculated independently by 
Deloitte. 

Subject to the Rio Tinto People and Remuneration 
Committee approval, awards vest based on the Rio 
Tinto Group’s TSR performance over a five-year 
performance period. The vesting of the PSA granted 
in 2019 was subject equally to relative TSR against 
the S&P Global Mining Index (transitioned from the 
EMIX Global Mining Index following its 
decommissioning on 31 July 2023), and the MSCI 
World Index.  

Management Share Awards 

Management Share Awards (MSA) are 
conditional grants of Rio Tinto shares to eligible 
employees of the company which will vest, wholly 
or partly, upon expiry of a three-year vesting 
period. Award levels under the EIP are at the 
discretion of Rio Tinto. 

Other share plans 

All employees of the company may participate in Rio 
Tinto share purchase plans applicable at particular 
locations. Under the plan (known as and referred to 
later in this report as myShare), employees may 
acquire shares up to the value of US$5,250 (or local 
currency equivalent) per year, capped at 15% of their 
base salary. Each share purchased will be matched 
by Rio Tinto and paid by ERA (currently at a ratio of 
one for one) providing the participant holds the shares 
and remains employed at the end of the three-year 
vesting period. Further details are at Note 30 to the 
Financial Statements. 

Share dealing policy 
The participation of the Chief Executive and senior 
executives in the Rio Tinto share plans involving the 
awarding of Rio Tinto securities at a future date, and 
any grants of shares and options under these plans, is 
subject to and conditional upon compliance with the 
terms of the ‘Rio Tinto Securities Dealing Policy’ 
(Dealing Rules). The Dealing Rules for dealing 
expressly prohibit the limiting of exposure to economic 
risk in relation to such securities, and are available on 
the Rio Tinto website at www.riotinto.com. 
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E  Executive service agreements 
For reasons explained on page 48, as a member of the Rio Tinto Group, ERA’s Chief Executive and Chief 
Financial Officer are seconded from Rio Tinto under agreements between ERA and Rio Tinto. 

The secondment agreements provide for the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer to work under the 
direction of and be responsible to the ERA Board. They include acknowledgements from Rio Tinto to the effect 
that the relevant executive’s duties as an officer of ERA will require him or her to, among other things, act in good 
faith in the best interests of ERA as a whole and that, in doing so, the executive will be taken to be performing his 
or her duties to the relevant Rio Tinto employing company. 

As part of the process of appointment of a senior executive under this secondment arrangement, the relevant 
executive is provided with a written statement relating to their responsibilities and duties as an officer of the 
Company, which they are required to sign for their appointment. 

Under the secondment agreements, during the secondment period ERA must pay amounts in respect of the 
relevant executive’s base salary and other entitlements in accordance with their employment agreements with Rio 
Tinto. The employment agreements provide for participation of the relevant executives in the Rio Tinto short and 
long term incentive plans upon achieving performance and service goals. The employment agreements may also 
provide for other benefits, including medical insurance, vehicle and accommodation allowances, relocation 
allowances and expenses and travel allowances. 

In setting the executives’ remuneration and any rewards based on performance, the Rio Tinto employing 
company is required to have regard to the recommendations of the ERA Board, and to consult with the ERA 
Chair regarding any material changes to remuneration and benefits. Changes to the terms of an employment 
agreement must be consistent with those made generally for all employees of the Rio Tinto employer, and ERA’s 
Chair must be promptly informed of any material changes. 

Each of the secondment agreements with Rio Tinto provide that ERA can end the secondment by giving Rio Tinto 
three months’ notice at any time. Likewise, Rio Tinto can end the executive’s secondment by giving three months’ 
notice to ERA. 

Key provisions of the employment agreements of the Chief Executive and senior executives relating to 
remuneration are as set out below. 

B Welsh – Chief Executive and Managing Director 
Term of agreement – Open, commenced as Acting Chief Executive, 4 October 2021 
Commenced as Chief Executive and Managing Director, 18 February 2022 

Base salary (excluding superannuation, allowances and other benefits) as at 31 December 2023 of $416,551 per 
annum. Maximum short term incentive bonus upon meeting performance criteria is 60% of base salary. Base salary 
and short term incentive targets are to be reviewed annually. Termination by the employee is three months’ notice in 
writing or by the employer giving six months’ notice or equivalent payment in lieu of notice. 

R Prest – Chief Financial Officer 
Term of agreement – Open, commenced 8 March 2021 

Base salary (excluding superannuation, allowances and other benefits) as at 31 December 2023 of $386,804 per 
annum. Maximum short term incentive bonus upon meeting performance criteria is 60% of base salary. Base salary 
and short term incentive targets to be reviewed annually. Termination by the employee is three months’ notice in 
writing or by the employer giving six months’ notice or equivalent payment in lieu of notice. 

B Toakley – Project Director 
Term of agreement – 3 years with options of a further 1 year plus 1 year extension at the discretion of the Company, 
commenced 24 October 2022 

Base salary equivalent of $657,334 (excluding superannuation, allowances and other benefits), representing 
consultancy fees paid on an agreed services contract commencing 24 October 2022. Base salary represents the 
actual number of days worked times contracted daily rate of $2,800 less superannuation 10.5% for the first half of the 
2023 and 11% for the second half. A completion bonus of $420 per day (excluding GST) is payable where the 
Company determines in its sole and absolute discretion that the Consultant has satisfactorily completed all Services 
in accordance with the Contract. Termination of the contract by the Company giving the Consultant not less than 30 
days' notice of its intention to do so. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Company during the 
course of the year consisted of site rehabilitation. 

Dividends 
No dividends have been paid by ERA to members in 
respect of the 2023 financial year (2022: nil). 

Operating and financial review 
Details of ERA’s review and results of operations are 
included in the Chair’s Report on page 6, the Chief 
Executive’s Report on page 8 and the Financial 
Performance section on page 26. 

Significant changes to the state of 
affairs 
In the opinion of the Directors, other than matters 
reported in the Directors’ Report, the Chair’s Report 
and the Chief Executive’s Report, there were no 
significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Matters subsequent to the end of 
the financial year 
In the interval between the end of the year and the 
date of this report there has not arisen any item, 
transaction or event of a material nature, other than 
matters reported in the Chair’s Report and the Chief 
Executive’s Report on pages 6 and 8 respectively, 
that has significantly affected or may significantly 
affect: 

• The operations of the Company
• The results of those operations
• The state of affairs of the Company

subsequent to the Financial year ended 31
December 2023.

Likely developments 
In the opinion of the Directors, any likely 
developments in the operations of the Company 
known at the date of this report have been covered 
within the Annual Report and Notes to the financial 
statements. 

A general review of developments for ERA is 
presented in the Financial Performance section on 
page 26. 

Annual General Meeting 
The 2024 Annual General Meeting will be held in 
Darwin, in the Northern Territory of Australia. Notice 
of the 2024 Annual General Meeting will be given to 
the shareholders of the Company in accordance with 
the Corporations Act. It is anticipated the meeting will 
be an in person meeting, noting that the Company will 
have the required facilities on standby should a virtual 
or hybrid option become required. 

Indemnification 
Clause 11 of the Company’s Constitution provides 
that every Director, manager, officer or employee of 
the Company shall be indemnified out of the funds of 
the Company against all liability incurred by them in 
defending any proceedings in which they are 
successful. 

The Corporations Act 2001 prohibits a company from 
indemnifying Directors, secretaries, executive officers 
and auditors from liability except for liability to a party, 
other than the Company or a related body corporate, 
where the liability does not arise out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith and except for liability for 
costs and expenses incurred in defending 
proceedings in which the officer or auditor is 
successful. An indemnity for officers or employees 
who are not Directors, secretaries or executive 
officers, is not expressly prohibited by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors and Company Secretaries of the 
Company, and all former Directors and Company 
Secretaries, have the benefit of the indemnity in 
Clause 11 of the Company’s Constitution. 

The indemnity also applies to executive officers of the 
Company (being the senior executives and managers 
who are concerned with or take part in the 
management of the Company) as well as other 
employees. 

Insurance 
Since the end of the previous financial year, the 
Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of 
a Directors’ and officers’ liability policy of insurance. 

The policy indemnifies all Directors and officers of 
ERA (including the Directors, Company Secretaries, 
and executive officers referred to above) against 
certain liabilities. 

In accordance with common commercial practice, the 
insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liability insured against and the amount of the 
premium. 

Environmental regulation and 
policy 
ERA strives to be at the forefront of environmental 
management in the uranium industry. It operates in 
accordance with relevant Commonwealth and 
Northern Territory environmental legislation as well as 
site specific environmental licences, permits and 
statutory authorisations. ERA’s environmental 
management system is ISO14001 compliant. 

ERA is required to report any incident that is a 
divergence from strict compliance with statutory 
requirements, even if the incident has no detrimental 
environmental impact, and reports are made to the 
Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade (Northern 
Territory); the Supervising Scientist Branch of the 
Commonwealth Department of Climate Change, 
Energy, Environment and Water; the Northern Land 
Council; the Commonwealth Department of Industry, 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 

 

                  
                  
                  

        

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Energy Resources of Australia Ltd 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Energy Resources of 
Australia Ltd for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 there have been: 

i. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  

 
 

  

KPMG  Derek Meates  
Partner  
Perth  
12 March 2024 

 
 

 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited 
by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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The Board of ERA considers the highest standards of 
corporate governance to be critical to business 
integrity and performance and the ability to maximise 
the overall long term return to shareholders. The 
Board seeks to ensure that ERA meets the objectives 
of its shareholders, whilst paying proper regard to the 
interests of employees and external stakeholders. 

The corporate governance structures and practices in 
place at ERA are substantially in compliance with the 
4th Edition of the Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations (Principles) developed by the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council (Council), with 
the exception of any departures articulated in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

This Corporate Governance Statement is current as at 
12 March 2024 and has been approved by the Board 
of ERA. 

Board responsibilities and charter 
In carrying out its responsibilities and powers, the 
Board at all times recognises its overriding 
responsibility to act honestly, fairly, diligently and in 
accordance with the law in serving the interests of 
ERA’s shareholders, employees and the community. 

The Board Charter underpins the strategic guidance 
and effective management oversight provided by the 
Board and defines the division of responsibility 
between Board and management by formal 
delegation and a system of Board reserved powers. 

Other than as specifically reserved to the Board in the 
Board Charter, responsibility for the management of 
ERA’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive 
who is accountable to the Board. 

The Board approves strategy and business plans and 
monitors the performance of ERA against these plans. 
The Board also monitors compliance with policies 
prescribed by the Board in areas such as health and 
safety, environment, business ethics, internal controls 
and risk management. These policies are designed to 
ensure that ERA meets or exceeds the regulatory 
requirements governing its operations. 

In addition to the matters expressly required by 
law to be approved by the Board, the powers 
specifically reserved for the Board are as follows: 

• Confirming the appointment and removal of 
a Chief Executive and the terms and 
conditions of the Chief Executive’s 
employment 

• Appointment and removal of a Company 
Secretary 

• Appointment of the Chair of the Board and 
members of Board Committees 

• Any matters set out in the Schedule of 
Matters Reserved for Decision or 
Consideration by the Board 

• Approval, subject to the Constitution, the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing 
Rules, of each of the following: 
(i) The issue of new shares or other 

securities in the Company 

(ii) Incurring of debt (other than trade 
creditors incurred in the normal 
course of business) 

(iii) Capital expenditure in excess of 
$5,000,000 

(iv) The acquisition, divestment or 
establishment of any significant 
business assets 

(v) Changes to the discretions 
delegated from the Board 

(vi) The annual operating budget 
(vii) Changes to the capital and 

operating approval limits of senior 
management 

(viii) The annual report and interim and 
preliminary final reports. 

The Board receives copies of all material market 
announcements promptly after they have been made. 

The Board Charter is available at the Corporate 
Governance section of ERA’s website. 

Composition 
The Board of ERA currently consists of seven 
Directors, six of whom are non-executive and three of 
whom are independent: 

• Richard (Rick) Dennis, Independent Non-
Executive Chair 

• Brad Welsh, Chief Executive and Managing 
Director 

• Hon. Kenneth (Ken) Wyatt, Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

• Stuart Glenn, Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

• Justin Carey, Non-Executive Director 
• Rosemary Fagen, Non-Executive Director 
• Alfred (Alfie) Grigg, Non-Executive Director 

(appointed on 1 January 2024).  

Skills, experience and diversity 
The Board strives to achieve a diversity of skills, 
experience and perspective among its Directors. 
Details of the Directors, their experience, 
qualifications and other appointments are set out on 
pages 40 to 43. Details of the independent status of 
each Director are outlined in the Independence 
section below. 

Qualification for Board membership is driven by the 
principle that the Board’s composition should reflect 
the right balance of skills, knowledge and diversity 
that the Board considers will best serve the interests 
of ERA and all of its shareholders. 

The Board reviews its structure, size and composition 
regularly. While the Board has not established a 
Nominations Committee, the Board considers that its 
existing practices in reviewing Director competencies, 
Board succession planning, Board performance 
evaluation and Director selection and nomination 
carried out in accordance with the Board Charter, are 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
business relationship which could interfere, or be 
perceived to interfere, with the Director’s 
independence of judgement, ability to provide a 
strong, valuable contribution to the Board’s 
deliberations and the Director’s ability to act in the 
best interests of ERA and shareholders as a whole. 
Where contracts in the ordinary course of business 
exist between ERA and a company in which a 
Director has declared an interest, these are reviewed 
for materiality to both ERA and the other party to the 
contract. 

In addition to the examples set out in the Principles, 
the following may be taken into account in considering 
such material business relationships: 

• Whether, within the last three years, the
Director or a close family member has been
a member of executive management of
ERA, employed in a senior position with a
member of the Rio Tinto Group or has
received additional remuneration from the
Company or a member of the Rio Tinto
Group

• Whether the Director or a close family
member is, or is associated with, a
substantial shareholder (more than five% of
the voting shares) in the Company or in a
member of the Rio Tinto Group

• The Director’s cross directorships of, or
significant links with, or involvement in,
other companies

• The Director’s length of service on the
Board and whether this may have
compromised independence

• Whether, within the last three years, the
Director or a close family member has had,
either directly or indirectly and whether as
principal, employee or consultant, a material
business relationship with ERA or with a
member of the Rio Tinto Group, whether as
an auditor, professional adviser, supplier, or
customer (“material” being more than five
per cent of ERA’s or the counterparty’s
consolidated gross revenue per annum).

Mr Dennis, the Hon. Mr Wyatt and Mr Glenn are each 
considered by the Board to be independent Directors. 

For the whole reporting period, the Board of Directors 
did not consist of a majority of independent Directors, 
with four of the seven Directors nominees of the 
Company’s largest shareholder, Rio Tinto. This does 
not follow Recommendation 2.4 of the Council’s 
Principles. However, the Board considered this was 
appropriate given the ownership structure of the 
Company, notably Rio Tinto’s 86.3% shareholding. 

The Board has policies and protocols in place to 
safeguard the integrity of the Board’s decision making 
process and all Directors are required to, and do, 
bring an independent judgement to bear on Board 
decisions and act in accordance with their statutory 
duties of good faith and for a proper purpose, and in 
the interests of shareholders as a whole. 

All related party transactions, including those with Rio 
Tinto, have been determined by the independent 

Directors to be on arm’s length terms and in the 
interests of ERA. 

Chair and Chief Executive 
On 31 January 2023, Mr Carey stepped down as 
Interim Chair and Mr Dennis was appointed as 
Independent Non-Executive Chair.   

Mr Brad Welsh was appointed as Acting Chief 
Executive on 4 October 2021 and Managing Director 
and Chief Executive on 18 February 2022. 

Company Secretary 
The Company Secretary is responsible for 
ensuring that Board procedures are complied with 
and that governance matters are addressed. All 
Directors have direct access to the Company 
Secretary who is accountable directly to the 
Board, through the Chair, on all matters to do with 
the proper functioning of the Board. Details of the 
Company Secretary’s experience and 
qualifications are set out on page 44. 

Board meetings 
The number of Directors and Committee meetings 
held and the number of meetings attended by 
each of the Directors of the Company or members 
of the Committees respectively during the 
financial year are set out on page 45. 

Board performance 
The Board has a process for periodically evaluating its 
performance, as well as the performance of its 
committees and individual Directors. The evaluation 
generally takes the form of an internal self-
assessment process facilitated by the Chair. After 
consulting each Director and the Company Secretary, 
the Chair reports a summary of the findings to all 
Directors for discussion at the next Board meeting 
where relevant actions are agreed. Periodically the 
Board may utilise the services of an external 
consultant to facilitate the process.  

The external process takes the form of a 
questionnaire completed by each of the Directors and 
the Company Secretary. Following collation by the 
consultant, the results, adequacy and appropriateness 
of the self-assessment process are compiled. A report 
outlining the results is circulated to all Directors and 
discussed at the following Board meeting where 
actions arising are agreed. 

In 2023 an internally managed performance 
evaluation of the Board was conducted with the 
findings distributed to all Directors and formally 
presented during the subsequent Board meeting. 
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Independent professional advice 
The Board has adopted a procedure for Directors 
wishing to seek independent professional advice, at 
the Company’s expense, in the furtherance of their 
duties. The Board recognises that there may be 
circumstances in which individual Directors are 
entitled to independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense in the furtherance of their duties, 
and any Director may do so by arrangement with the 
Company Secretary. 

Remuneration Committee 
On 16 February 2023, following the appointment of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors Mr Dennis 
(Chair), the Hon. Mr Wyatt and Mr Glenn, the Board 
resolved to re-establish the Remuneration Committee, 
with membership comprising the Hon. Mr Wyatt 
(Committee Chair), Ms Fagen and Mr Dennis.  

The Chief Executive may be invited to attend 
Remuneration Committee meetings. Other executives 
may also be invited to discuss or report on particular 
agenda items. The Remuneration Committee held two 
meetings during 2023. Attendance details of the 2023 
meetings of the Remuneration Committee are set out 
in the Directors’ Report on page 45. 

The Remuneration Committee Charter sets out the 
role and objectives of the Remuneration Committee. A 
summary of the objectives of the Remuneration 
Committee and the policies and practices of the 
Company regarding the remuneration of non- 
executive Directors, the Chief Executive and senior 
executives is set out on pages 47 to 50 of the 
Remuneration Report. The complete Remuneration 
Committee Charter is available at the Corporate 
Governance section of ERA’s website at 
www.energyres.com.au. 

An annual performance evaluation of the Chief 
Executive and senior executives was undertaken in 
2023. Details of how the performance evaluation 
process is undertaken by the Board in respect of the 
Chief Executive and senior executives are set out on 
pages 51 to 55 of the Remuneration Report. 

Audit and Risk Committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee was re-established on 
16 February 2023, with membership comprising Mr 
Dennis (Committee Chair), Mr Carey and Mr Glenn.   

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Executive, General Counsel and Company Secretary, 
the external auditor and the internal auditor are invited 
to attend all meetings. 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter sets out the 
role and terms of reference of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and is reviewed regularly. The Audit and 
Risk Committee Charter is available at the Corporate 
Governance section of ERA’s website. 

The Committee provides a formal structure for 
reviewing ERA’s financial statements, accounting 
policies, control systems, risk management practices 
and taxation issues and for liaison with the external 

and internal auditors. The Committee also reviews the 
adequacy of internal and external audit arrangements. 

The Audit and Risk Committee advises the Board of 
any matters that might have a significant impact on 
the financial condition of ERA and has the authority to 
investigate any matters within its terms of reference, 
having full access to the information and resources of 
ERA to fulfil its function. 

The Audit and Risk Committee held four meetings 
during 2023. Attendance details of the 2023 meetings 
of the Audit and Risk Committee, and the 
qualifications and experience of the members, are set 
out in the Directors’ Report on pages 45 and 40 to 42 
respectively. 

Each year the external auditor submits a schedule of 
audit services and fee estimate to the Audit and Risk 
Committee for consideration and approval. KPMG is 
appointed as ERA’s external auditor for 2023. Each 
year, the Audit and Risk Committee reviews the 
effectiveness of the external audit process and the 
independence of the auditor. Based on its 2023 
review, the Audit and Risk Committee was satisfied 
with the external audit process and that the external 
auditor remained independent. Any work to be 
conducted by the external auditor other than the audit 
is approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Details of the fees paid to KPMG during 2023 are 
outlined on page 63. 

Sustainability Committee 
The Sustainability Committee was re-established on 
16 February 2023 with membership comprising Ms 
Fagen (Committee Chair), the Hon. Mr Wyatt and Mr 
Welsh.  

The Sustainability Committee Charter sets out the role 
and objectives of the Sustainability Committee and is 
reviewed regularly. It is available at the Corporate 
Governance section of ERA’s website. 

The Committee provides a formal structure to further 
support governance and initiatives for improvement in 
the sustainability of ERA operations, including health, 
safety and environmental management. 

The Sustainability Committee held two scheduled 
meetings during 2023. Attendance details of the 2023 
meetings of the Sustainability Committee, and the 
qualifications and experience of the members, are set 
out in the Directors’ Report on pages 45 and 40 to 42 
respectively. 
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In addition to the Company’s Code of Business 
Conduct, the Company’s employees are required to 
comply with Rio Tinto’s statement of business practice 
The Way We Work, available at Rio Tinto’s website at 
www.riotinto.com. This includes ERA’s values and 
provides a clear framework for how we should 
conduct our business. 

The Company uses Rio Tinto’s confidential 
whistleblower program known as ‘myVoice’. It offers 
an avenue through which our employees, contractors, 
suppliers and customers can report concerns 
anonymously, subject to local law. Employees are 
encouraged to report any suspicion of unethical or 
illegal practices. Further details regarding the program 
are available in the Corporate Governance section of 
the Company’s website at www.energyres.com.au. 

The Board is informed of any material breaches and 
incidents reported under its Code of Business 
Conduct, whistleblower policy or anti bribery and 
corruption policy. 

Purchase and sale of Company 
securities 
ERA has in place a formal policy that reinforces to all 
Directors, officers and employees the prohibitions 
against insider trading. The Share Trading Policy is 
available for inspection at the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company’s website at 
www.energyres.com.au. 

In addition, the “Rules for dealing in securities of Rio 
Tinto” (Dealing Rules) apply to the participation of 
ERA executives in the Rio Tinto long term incentive 
plans involving the awarding of Rio Tinto securities at 
a future date. Any such grants of shares and options 
under the Rio Tinto plans are subject to, and 
conditional upon, compliance with the terms of the 
Dealing Rules, including an express prohibition on 
hedging or limiting of exposure to economic risk in 
relation to such securities. 

Under the ERA Share Trading Policy: 

• Directors, senior executives and senior
managers must advise the Chair in writing
and receive approval in writing from the
Chair, if they intend to purchase or sell ERA
securities

• In regard to his own dealings, the Chair is
required to notify the Chair of the Audit and
Risk Committee

• No dealings in ERA securities may take
place for the period from the end of any
relevant financial period to the trading day
following announcement of ERA’s annual
results or half year results.

Particulars of the interests held by Directors are 
outlined on page 46 of the Director’s Report. 

Risk identification and 
management 
ERA has in place a range of policies and procedures 
to manage the risks associated with its operating 
activities. These policies and procedures have been 
adopted by the Board, with primary oversight by the 
Audit and Risk Committee, to ensure that potential 
business risks are identified, and appropriate action 
taken. 

The Company has an annual internal audit program 
that is determined by the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The annual internal audit program is executed by an 
outsourced provider which reports back to the Audit 
and Risk Committee on its assessment of the 
Company’s control environment. In addition, the 
Company Secretary provides support for internal audit 
planning activities and the monitoring of actions 
implemented by the Company in response to findings 
raised by the internal auditor. 

ERA benefits from the Rio Tinto Group’s knowledge, 
policies and practices on risk management and 
corporate assurance, developed to manage Rio 
Tinto’s diverse business activities covering a variety of 
commodities and operational locations. Together, 
these make up a comprehensive framework and 
approach to risk analysis and risk management. 

The Board has in place a number of systems to 
identify and manage business risks. These include: 

• The identification and review of all of the
business risks known to be facing the
Company

• The provision of reports and information by
management to the Board, on a periodic
basis, confirming the status and
effectiveness of the plans, controls, policies
and procedures implemented to manage
business risks

• Guidelines for ensuring that capital
expenditure and revenue commitments
exceeding certain approved limits are
placed before the Board for approval

• Limits and controls for all financial
exposures, including the use of derivatives

• A regulatory compliance program
• Safety, health and environmental policies

which are supported by a set of standards
and management systems which recognise
the Company’s commitment to achieving
high standards of performance in all its
activities in these areas.

The Audit and Risk Committee reviews ERA’s risk 
management framework at least annually, and did so 
in 2023, to satisfy itself that it continues to be sound. 

The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board has 
assessed the strategic risks to the Company’s 
business and the mitigation strategies to be 
implemented by management. The strategic risks  
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identified through this assessment were future 
operating cash flow and financial resources, 
stakeholder support of the Company’s strategic 
initiatives, rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area, 
internal constraints relating to the Company’s licence 
to operate, external events relating to the Company’s 
licence to operate and retention and recruitment of 
key personnel. 

These strategic risks are in addition to risks inherent 
to the mining industry generally which include 
economic conditions (fluctuations in commodity 
pricing and exchange rates), international regulation 
of greenhouse gas emissions and impact of climatic 
conditions. More information on ERA’s business risks, 
including any material exposure to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks, is set out 
on pages 28 to 31 of the Annual Report. 

Each reporting period, the Chief Executive and the 
Chief Financial Officer give statements to the Board 
that, in their opinion, the financial records of the 
Company have been properly maintained and that the 
financial statements comply with the Australian 
Accounting Standards and give a true and fair view of 
the Company’s financial position and performance. 
The statements also provide that the opinion has 
been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk 
management and internal control which is operating 
effectively in all material respects. 

Risk identification and 
management – environmental and 
social risk 
Business risks which encapsulate material execution, 
environmental and social risks are reported in the 
Business Risks section of the Annual Report. In 
addition, ERA has developed a sustainability reporting 
framework that reports against key areas of interest in 
environmental, social and governance domains. This 
report will be released by Q2 2024. 

Public statements and disclosure 
matters 
ERA makes full and immediate disclosures to its 
shareholders and the market as required by, and in 
accordance with, its legal and regulatory obligations. 
Established systems are in place to ensure 
compliance and matters that may have a material 
impact on the price or value of ERA’s securities are 
reported to the market in accordance with the ASX 
Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 2001. ERA’s 
Continuous Disclosure Policy is available at the 
Corporation Governance section of ERA’s website at 
www.energyres.com.au.  

Management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal controls over financial 
reporting. These controls, supervised by the Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer, provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the 
Group’s financial reporting and the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements for external 
reporting purposes, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 

Company’s internal controls over financial reporting 
include policies and procedures designed to ensure 
the maintenance of records that: (i) accurately and 
fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; 
(ii) provide reasonable assurances that transactions 
are recorded as necessary, enabling the preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and 
(iii) receipts and expenditures are made with the 
authorisation of management and directors of each of 
the companies. 

Modern Slavery Statement 
ERA is a reporting entity under the Australian Modern 
Slavery Act 2018 (Cth) and will be included in Rio 
Tinto’s joint 2023 Modern Slavery Statement which 
will be published on behalf of the reporting entities in 
the Rio Tinto Group. 

Shareholder communication 
ERA recognises the importance of effective 
communication with shareholders and the general 
investment community. Apart from ERA’s compliance 
with its mandatory continuous disclosure obligations, 
ERA takes steps to ensure that its shareholders and 
other stakeholders are kept informed. Full advantage 
is taken of the Annual General Meeting to inform 
shareholders of current developments and to give 
shareholders the opportunity to ask questions. KPMG, 
ERA’s external auditor attends the Annual General 
Meeting and is available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s report. 

ERA shareholders are also able to submit written 
questions regarding the conduct of the audit and the 
statutory audit report to the auditor via the Company.  

Any questions received and answers provided will be 
made available to members at the Annual General 
Meeting. Shareholders who are unable to attend 
meetings are encouraged to appoint a proxy to vote 
either as they direct or at their discretion. 

ERA believes that investor seminars, presentations 
and briefings on financial and operational issues, 
including social and environmental performance, are 
valuable ways of communicating with relevant 
professionals, employees and other interested 
persons when required. The Chief Executive and 
Chief Financial Officer are available for regular 
meetings with the Company’s major investors. 

When conducted, ERA gives equal access to 
information disclosed in investor seminars, 
presentations and briefings. If any such event is used 
to disclose new material, it will, in advance or 
simultaneously, be disclosed to the ASX and available 
on ERA’s website. 

ERA provides shareholders with the option to receive 
communications from, and send communications to, 
the Company and the share registrar electronically. 
The contact details are available on the Company’s 
website.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

1  Summary of material accounting 
policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The 
financial statements are for Energy Resources of 
Australia Ltd (ERA). 

(a) Basis of preparation 
This general purpose financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, and the Corporations Act 
2001. The financial report has been prepared under the 
assumption that the Company is a going concern. 

(i) Going Concern 

As at 31 December 2023, ERA has a deficiency of 
capital and reserves of $1,627 million, is in a current 
liability position of $106 million and has experienced 
operating losses, driven by significant increase in the 
rehabilitation estimate, as well as net cash outflows 
during the year, also driven by rehabilitation. In light of 
this position the Company has closely considered its 
near term outlook in relation to its position as a going 
concern, particularly the following developments 
during 2023:    

• ERA has completed a non-underwritten pro 
rata renounceable entitlement offer of new 
fully paid ERA ordinary shares as an interim 
funding measure to fund its planned Ranger 
Project Area Rehabilitation expenditure 
through to quarter 3, 2024. Approximately 
$369 million was raised (before costs) with 
the entitlement offer being fully subscribed 
(inclusive of the applications under the 
Shortfall Facility)  

• The Company has announced a move to a 
programme management approach for 
executing the remaining rehabilitation 
activities. The programme management 
approach is intended to provide greater 
certainty and value for shareholders and 
stakeholders as it will support optimisation, 
risk and uncertainty to be addressed before 
funding is requested for activities likely to 
occur post 2027 whilst enabling critical path 
activities to be progressed  

• The Company considers it appropriate to 
proceed with the 1st tranche of the 
programme management scope to 2027 
which includes a range of well defined 
activities 

• ERA expects to spend approximately $1.2 
billion in undiscounted nominal terms on 
rehabilitation activities including studies up 
until the end of 2027 

• Activities post 2027 and estimates of their 
cost remain highly uncertain. As such 
estimates of expenditure beyond 2027 are 
subject to the further study work. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no debt 
financing in place, $726 million of cash including total 
cash resources at bank of $217 million and $509 
million in cash which is currently held by the 
Australian Government as part of the Ranger 
Rehabilitation Trust Fund (“Trust Fund”). The 
Australian Government is also holding $125 million in 
bank guarantees over the 44th Annual Plan of 
Rehabilitation which was finalised in February 2020 
(an additional $1 million is held as an allowance for 
Jabiluka rehabilitation). Issuers of the bank 
guarantees have certain pay and walk rights and the 
guarantees are subject to periodic reviews. Should 
the banks execute their pay and walk rights or should 
ERA be unable to access bank guarantees, 
substantial additional cash would be required to 
indemnify the banks or be deposited into the Trust 
Fund. ERA continues to maintain regular dialogue 
with its major relationship banks. 

The Company will require additional funding to 
complete the rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area 
in accordance with its obligations and commitments. 
ERA will engage with Rio Tinto and other 
shareholders in relation to a material equity raise in 
2024 and the Company has appointed Highbury 
Partnership as financial advisor and Herbert Smith 
Freehills as legal adviser to the Independent Board 
Committee. Ashurst will act as legal adviser to the 
Company in relation to the potential equity raise or 
other funding options. 

The Company notes Rio Tinto’s public statements to 
the effect that it is committed to working with ERA to 
ensure the rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area is 
successfully achieved to a standard that will establish 
an environment similar to the adjacent Kakadu 
National Park. Given Rio Tinto subscribed to its full 
share of its entitlements in the previous Interim 
Entitlement Offer in 2023, the Board considers that 
Rio Tinto remains committed to the successful 
rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area. 

The Company is required to prepare and submit an 
Annual Plan of Rehabilitation (Annual Plan) to the 
Australian Government. Once accepted by the 
Australian Government, the Annual Plan is then 
independently assessed and costed and the amount 
to be provided by the Company into the Ranger 
Rehabilitation Trust Fund (Trust Fund) is then 
determined. The Trust Fund includes both cash and 
financial guarantees. ERA has agreed on 
amendments to the Ranger Government Agreement 
with the Australian Government to introduce a clearer 
framework for managing the amount of security held 
by the Government and releasing funds from the Trust 
Fund for completed rehabilitation works. However, 
further transaction of funds between parties under this 
framework will first require re-evaluation of the 
security arrangement. Given the increase in the cost 
of rehabilitating the Ranger Project Area, ERA may be 
required to provide additional security or funds in the 
Trust Fund. 

ERA does not consider that it can rely upon 
drawdown of any further cash from the Trust Fund 
before the re-evaluation of the security arrangement is 
complete. 

76  Energy Resources of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2023

76



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

As a result of these matters, there is a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on ERA’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, 
that it may be unable to realise its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. Should additional funding support from its 
shareholders not occur ERA would likely have 
insufficient cash on hand to continue its current 
activities within the foreseeable future. However, the 
directors believe that ERA will be successful in 
obtaining additional funding support from its 
shareholders, and that the Annual Plan security 
requirements will continue to be covered by a mix of 
cash on deposit, bank guarantees and the funding 
from its shareholders. Accordingly, the financial report 
has been prepared on a going concern basis.  

(ii) Compliance with IFRS 

The financial statements of the Company also comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

(iii)  Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, except for where 
specifically outlined that an alternative basis has been 
used within Note 1. 

(iv) Critical accounting estimates 

The presentation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the accounting policies of the 
Company. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in Note 2. 

(b) Principles of consolidation 
(i) Subsidiaries 

ERA has no subsidiaries and is referred to in the 
financial report as the Company or ERA. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special 
purpose entities) over which the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect 
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Company controls another entity. 

(c) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Amounts 
disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties. 

The Company recognises revenue when the amount 
of revenue can be reliably measured. It is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
the criteria pertaining to the transfer of control of 
goods or rendering of services has been met as 
described in the sections below. 

(i) Sale of goods 

ERA places all sales through a marketing agreement 
with Rio Tinto Marketing PTE Limited (Rio Tinto 
Uranium) based in Singapore (Marketing Agreement). 

Sales revenue is recognised on individual sales when 
control transfers to the customer. This occurs when 
the uranium transfers from the Company’s account at 
converter locations to its customers account. It is at 
this stage under the respective arrangement that the 
company no longer can control or direct goods. 

There is only one performance obligation, being for 
provision of product at the point where control passes. 

Sales revenue excludes any applicable sales taxes. 
Mining royalties payable are presented as an 
operating cost. 

Receipts from sales revenue are generally received 
30 days from the date of sale. 

(ii)  Rendering of services 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised 
when the service is provided. 

(iii) Other revenue/income 

Other revenue/income recognised by the Company 
includes: 

• Interest income, which is recognised on a 
time proportion basis using the effective 
interest rate method 

• Rental income, which is recognised on a 
straight line basis 

• Net gains on disposal of assets, which is 
recognised at the date control of the asset 
passes to the acquirer 

• Contract compensation, which is recognised 
upon cancellation of a sales contract 

• Foreign exchange gains 
• Insurance recoveries, which is recognised 

on confirmation from the insurer that the 
claim payment has been approved. 

(d) Foreign currency translation 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). The financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income; except when they are 
deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and 
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qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to 
part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

(e) Financing costs 
Financing costs (including interest) are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period 
during which they are incurred. 

(f) Income tax 

Income tax expense for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted 
by temporary differences between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements, and of unused tax 
losses.  
The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period in the country where 
the Company generates taxable income (Australia).  

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if 
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. 
Deferred income tax is also not accounted if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to 
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.  
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to 
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it 
is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax 
balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to 
amounts recognised directly in equity are also 
recognised directly in equity. 

(i) New standards and amendments 
applicable for the current period Deferred 
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 
(Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' 
(IAS 12), mandatory in 2023 and endorsed 
by the UK) 

At 1 January 2023, ERA adopted narrow-scope 
amendments to AASB 112 Income Taxes i.e. AASB  
2021-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction and have 
restated comparative periods in accordance with the 
transition arrangements. These amendments 
introduce an exclusion to the initial recognition 
exemption application for transactions giving rise to 
equal and offsetting taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. 

Under the amendments, separate deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are calculated and recognised, prior to 
application of any required recovery testing and 
permitted offsetting, and subsequent movements in 
those deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the income statement. 

The most significant impact of implementing these 
amendments was from temporary differences related 
provisions for close down and restoration, and lease 
obligations and corresponding capitalised closure 
costs and right-of-use assets, where applicable to the 
Company. 

Adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities 
related to these balances have not been recognised 
as at 1 January 2022, being the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period to be presented in the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2023, in line with the recognition criteria established 
above. 
(g) Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised at fair value. The 
company applies the forward looking expected credit 
loss model required by AASB 9, using the simplified 
approach for its trade receivables portfolio review and 
the general approach for all other financial assets as 
required by the standard. 

Trade receivables are normally settled within 45 days 
and are carried at amounts due. The collectability of 
trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and specific provisions are made for any doubtful 
amounts. Receivables which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off. 

Other receivables relate to transactions outside the 
usual operating activities of the Company and are 
predominantly concerned with rental receipts from 
employees and businesses located within the Jabiru 
township. These ongoing activities are expected to be 
settled during the 12 months subsequent to balance 
date but are assessed regularly and impaired 
accordingly. 

(h) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
in ERA’s balance sheet when ERA becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from 
the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
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fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine 
the fair value of financial instruments (where active 
market quotes are not available) and non-financial 
assets. This involves developing estimates and 
assumptions consistent with how market participants 
would price the instrument. Management bases its 
assumptions on observable data as far as possible, 
but this is not always available. In that case 
management uses the best information available. 
Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices 
that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction 
at the reporting date. 

(i) Fair value measurement 

When measuring the fair value of its assets and 
liabilities, the Company uses observable market data. 
All assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
including hedging instruments, use Level 1 valuation 
techniques: quoted prices (adjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities.  

(i) Inventories  
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Net realisable value for uranium is 
determined based on estimated future sales prices, 
exchange rates and capital and production costs, 
including transport. Net realisable value for stores is 
determined based on management’s estimate of the 
extent to which the inventory is usable. 

Inventory is valued using the weighted average cost 
method and includes both fixed and variable 
production costs, as well as cash and non-cash 
charges. For stores, the costing includes solely 
material purchase prices. 

Stores are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value and are impaired accordingly to take into 
account obsolescence. The Company discloses 
obsolescence changes in Note 9. 

(j) Impairment of assets 
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value, less cost to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). 

Fair value is determined as the amount that would be 
obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length 
transaction. 

The value in use is determined using the present 
value of the future cashflow expected to be derived 
from an asset or cash generating unit. 

(k) Property, plant and equipment 
(i) Acquisition 

Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded 
at historical cost and, except for land, are depreciated 
over their useful life. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognised 
as a separate asset – as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income during the period in which 
they are incurred. 

(ii) Depreciation and amortisation  

All ERA’s property, plant and equipment (excluding 
right of use assets) is currently fully impaired. 
Property, plant and equipment expenditure incurred is 
recorded directly in other expenses. 

(l) Leases 
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Company. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period. 

The right-of-use asset is shown as a non-current 
asset and depreciated over the shorter of its useful life 
and the lease terms on a straight line basis. As right-
of-use assets represent an economic benefit they are 
not impaired, as is the case for other Ranger Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) assets. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease 
payments: 

• Fixed payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable 

• Variable lease payment that are based on 
an index or a rate 

• Amounts expected to be payable by the 
lessee under residual value guarantees 

• The exercise price of a purchase option if 
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise 
that option 

• Payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee 
exercising that option 

• The lease payments are discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that 
rate cannot be determined, the incremental 
borrowing rate is used. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising 
the following: 

• The amount of the initial measurement of 
lease liability 
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• Any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease
incentives received

• Any initial direct costs
• Restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and 
leases of low value assets are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 
twelve months or less. 

Treatment of lease agreements recognised in the 
rehabilitation provision 

Lease payments have been contemplated in the 
rehabilitation provision. However, once a lease for 
equipment to be used in rehabilitation activities is 
entered into a separate lease liability and a right-of-
use asset is recognised. The rehabilitation obligation 
is not extinguished by entering into a lease, instead, 
the rehabilitation obligation is extinguished over time 
as the leased asset is put to use in executing the 
rehabilitation program. 

Lease payments are allocated to the lease liability, 
with the interest component allocated to financing cost 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Where the right-of-use asset resulting from the lease 
arrangement is to be used exclusively for 
rehabilitation, it represents an economic resource 
which will have a future use in the completion of 
rehabilitation activity. As such the right-of-use asset is 
not impaired as is the case for other non-lease 
Ranger Cash Generating Unit (CGU) assets. 

When the right-of-use asset is depreciated, the 
depreciation charge is allocated to the rehabilitation 
provision to reduce the outstanding amount provided 
for in the rehabilitation provision. 

(m) Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises 
costs which are directly attributable to: 

• Researching and analysing existing
exploration data

• Conducting geological studies, exploratory
drilling and sampling

• Construction of underground tunnels, where
necessary for exploration drilling

• Examining and testing extraction and
treatment methods

• Compiling prefeasibility and feasibility
studies.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure also includes 
the costs incurred in acquiring mineral rights, the entry 
premiums paid to gain access to areas of interest and 
amounts payable to third parties to acquire interests in 
existing projects. 

Capitalisation of exploration expenditure commences 
when there is a high degree of confidence in the 
projects viability and hence it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Company. 
Capitalised exploration expenditure is reviewed for 
impairment indicators at each balance sheet date. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for 
impairment when any of the following facts and 
circumstances exist: 

• The term of exploration licence in the
specific area of interest has expired during
the reporting period or will expire in the near
future, and is not expected to be renewed;

• Substantive expenditure on further
exploration and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area are not
budgeted or planned;

• Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led
to the discovery of commercially viable
quantities of mineral resource and the
decision was made to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; or

• Sufficient data exists to indicate that,
although development in the specific area of
interest is likely to proceed, the carrying
amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from
successful development or by sale.

Subsequent recovery of the resulting carrying value 
depends on successful development of the area of 
interest or sale of the project. If a project does not 
prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with 
the project and the related impairment provisions are 
written off. Any impairment provisions raised in 
previous years are reassessed if there is a change in 
circumstances, which indicates that they should be 
reviewed; for example, if it is decided to proceed with 
development. If the project proceeds to development 
the amounts included within intangible assets are 
transferred to property, plant and equipment. 

(i) Undeveloped properties

Undeveloped properties are mineral concessions 
where the intention is to develop and go into 
production in due course. The carrying values of 
these assets are reviewed annually by management 
and the results of these reviews are reported to the 
Board and Audit and Risk Committee. For accounting 
purposes, the company reviews for evidence of 
impairment indicators at each reporting date and, 
where identified, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. 
In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset, or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.  
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(o) Trade and other payables 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received prior to the end 
of the financial year, whether or not billed to the 
Company. Trade accounts payable are normally 
settled within 60 days. These are recognised initially 
at their fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

(p) Provisions  
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure, 
adjusted for risk, required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount 
rate used to determine the present value reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of 
money. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as financing costs. 

(i) Rehabilitation 

The Company is required to rehabilitate the Ranger 
Project Area upon cessation of mining operations, 
which occurred on 8 January 2021. The process 
undertaken to estimate these costs is detailed further 
in note 2(a) below.  

The amortisation or unwinding of the discount applied 
in establishing the net present value of provisions is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income in 
each accounting period. The amortisation of the 
discount is shown as a financing cost. Other 
movements in the provision for closure and 
restoration costs, including those resulting from new 
disturbance, updated cost estimates, changes to lives 
of operations and revisions to discount rates are 
allocated directly to the statement of comprehensive 
income.  

Costs are allowed for in the closure provision when 
they are directly related to rehabilitation of the Ranger 
Project Area. Costs incurred to operate and manage 
the site whilst uranium oxide production was occurring 
were allocated to operating costs. The operation of 
the Brine Concentrator, pond water management and 
power station are costs that were allocated to 
operating costs up until production of uranium oxide 
ceased (8 January 2021). Following cessation of 
uranium oxide production these costs are allocated to 
the closure provision. Costs associated with non-
rehabilitation corporate activities remain in operating 
costs and so are not provided for. 

Separately, the Company is required to maintain the 
Ranger Rehabilitation Special Account (Trust Fund) 
with the Australian Government. The Trust Fund is 
intended to provide security against the estimated 
costs of closing and rehabilitating the Ranger Project 
Area immediately. The Company is required to 
prepare and submit to the Australian Government an 
Annual Plan of Rehabilitation (Annual Plan). Once 

accepted by the Australian Government, the Annual 
Plan is then independently assessed and costed and 
the amount to be provided by the Company into the 
Trust Fund is then determined.  

The Trust Fund includes both cash and financial 
guarantees. The cash portion is shown as a 
government security receivable on the balance sheet 
(Note 13), and interest received by the Trust Fund is 
shown as interest income. The balance of bank 
guarantee is shown at Note 13. 

Government security receivable balances are split 
between current and non-current assets based on 
management’s estimate as to when cash will be 
received from the Australian Government. 

The Company is required to rehabilitate the Jabiluka 
Mineral Lease upon cessation of operations to a 
standard specified by the Authorisation to operate 
issued by the Northern Territory Government. The 
estimated cost of rehabilitation is currently secured by 
a bank guarantee of $1 million. The Jabiluka Mineral 
Lease remains under a Long Term Care and 
Maintenance Agreement and will not be developed 
without the approval of Mirarr Traditional Owners. 

(q) Employee entitlements 

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave  

The liability for employee entitlements to wages and 
salaries represents the amount which the Company 
has a present obligation to pay, resulting from 
employees’ services provided up to the reporting date. 
A provision exists for annual leave and accumulating 
sick leave as it is earned by employees and is 
measured at the amount expected to be paid when it 
is settled and includes all related on-costs. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when 
the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or 
payable. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date is 
recognised in the provision of employee benefits and 
is measured in accordance with (i) above. The liability 
for long service leave expected to be settled more 
than 12 months from the reporting date is measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is 
given to the expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. 

Expected future payments are discounted using the 
rates attaching to Australian Government securities at 
the reporting date, which most closely match the 
terms of maturity of the related liabilities. 

(iii) Superannuation plan 

Employees of the Company are entitled to benefits on 
retirement, disability or death from their membership 
of the Rio Tinto Staff Superannuation Fund (“The 
Fund”). The Fund has both a defined benefit and a 
defined contribution section. Contributions to the 
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defined contribution superannuation plans are 
expensed in the income statement when incurred. 

The Company has no staff who are members of the 
defined benefits section. 

(iv) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits. The Company 
recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal 
or to providing termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

(r) Segment reporting 

Management has determined the operating segments 
based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive, 
used to make strategic decisions. The Chief Executive 
considers the business from a product perspective. 

(s) Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash 
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call. 

Cash instruments that qualify as cash equivalents 
have an original maturity date no greater than three 
months. 

(t) Contributed equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options for the acquisition of a business are not 
included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the 
purchase consideration. 

(u) Earnings per share 
(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net 
profit after income tax attributable to members of the 
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity 
other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in 
the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and 
other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 
shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 

(v) Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off’ 
of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the 
financial report have been ‘rounded off’ in accordance 
with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, 
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

(w) Share based payments 
The fair value of cash settled share plans is 
recognised as a liability over the vesting period of the 
awards. Movements in that liability between 
accounting dates are recognised as an expense. The 
grant date fair value of the awards is taken to be the 
market value of the shares at the date of award. Fair 
values are subsequently re-measured at each 
accounting date to reflect the number of awards 
expected to vest based on the current and anticipated 
TSR performance. If any awards are ultimately settled 
in shares, the liability is transferred direct to equity as 
the consideration for the equity instruments issued. 

Equity settled share plans are settled either by the 
issue of shares by the relevant parent Company, by 
the purchase of shares on market or by the use of 
shares previously acquired as part of a share 
buyback. The fair value of the share plans is 
recognised as an expense over the expected vesting 
period with a corresponding entry to other reserves. 

If the cost of shares acquired to satisfy the plans 
exceeds the expense charged, the excess is taken to 
the appropriate reserve. The fair value of the share 
plans is determined at the date of grant, taking into 
account any market based vesting conditions 
attached to the award (e.g. TSR). The Company uses 
fair values provided by independent actuaries 
calculated using a lattice based option valuation 
model. Non-market based vesting conditions (e.g. 
earnings per share targets) are taken into account in 
estimating the number of awards likely to vest. 

The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date up to the vesting 
date, at which point the estimate is adjusted to reflect 
the actual awards issued. No adjustment is made 
after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited 
or not exercised. 

Further information about the treatment of individual 
share based payment plans is provided in Note 30. 

(x) Standards issued but not yet effective 
A number of new standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 2023 and earlier 
application is permitted. However, the Company has 
not adopted the new or amended standards in 
preparing these financial statements. Management 
has also concluded that when those new standards 
become applicable and are adopted there will be no 
anticipated material impact to the balances and 
transactions of the Company. 
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2  Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that 
may have a financial impact on the Company and that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below. 

(a) Rehabilitation provision 
The calculation of the rehabilitation provision relies on 
estimates of costs and their timing to rehabilitate and 
restore disturbed land to establish an environment 
similar to the adjacent Kakadu National Park in line 
with the Company’s statutory obligations. 

The costs are estimated on the basis of a closure 
plan, taking into account considerations of the 
technical closure options available to meet ERA’s 
obligations. The provision for rehabilitation represents 
the net present cost at 31 December 2023 of the 
preferred plan and represents management’s best 
estimate of costs. 

At 31 December 2023, the ERA rehabilitation 
provision was $2,420 million, being a net increase of 
$1,195 million from the previous period.  

Of the increase in the provision, approximately 85% of 
the increase is attributable to rehabilitation activities 
post 2027. An extension in schedule to achievement 
of final landform (FLF) has been a significant factor in 
driving additional estimated project costs. This 
extension is primarily due to a reassessment of the 
time taken to achieve Pit 3 consolidation, with a 
secondary driver being the transition to lower 
technical risk Pit 3 capping methods removing 
previously estimated schedule synergies. In addition 
to schedule increased estimates in water volumes 
requiring treatment have driven higher variable costs 
of treatment against prior year estimates with the 
overall long-term performance of the water treatment 
plant being below the planned performance in ERA's 
previously assumed water treatment strategy. ERA 
will continue to pursue initiatives to improve the 
performance of the water treatment plants in line with 
its revised water treatment strategy. Estimated bulk 
material movement costs have also been forecasted 
to increase materially due to higher unit costs than 
previously estimated with some additional scope 
relating to catchment conversion activities also driving 
an increase in cost. 

ERA expects to spend approximately $1.2 billion in 
undiscounted nominal terms on rehabilitation activities 
including studies up until the end of 2027. Activities 
post 2027 and estimates of their costs remain highly 
uncertain. These activities remain subject to a number 
of studies and are also potentially sensitive to external 

events. As such estimates of expenditure beyond 
2027 are subject to the further study work detailed 
below. 

During 2023, ERA incurred expenditure of $211 
million on rehabilitation activities with progressive 
rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area continuing 
with several key milestones achieved.  

The capping of Pit 3 remains a critical path activity, 
including the Pit 3 backfill approval application. 
Wicking commenced in November 2022 in the eastern 
end of Pit 3 and the final wick was installed on 9 April 
2023. Pit 3 backfill approval application was 
resubmitted to the Northern Territory governing 
agency during the September 2023 quarter. Final 
approval of the backfill application is expected in the 
later part of quarter 1, 2024.   

Preparation for the dry capping of Pit 3 has continued 
to progress. Upon the successful dewatering of Pit 3, 
the next step will be to lay geofabric which will protect 
the tailings during capping activities followed by 
further initial capping activities.  

Progress was made during the year to mobilise 
equipment to be used to accelerate the drying of Pit 3 
within the completed wicked zone. Additional 
specialised drying equipment is expected to be 
delivered early in 2024. 

The Brine Squeezer process water treatment upgrade 
work progressed reaching completion during the last 
quarter of 2023 including regulatory approval to 
operate. This upgrade will allow additional treatment 
of process water from the Ranger Water Dam.  

While performance against operational plan volumes 
has improved in 2023, treatment rates of process 
water through the Brine Concentrator has continued 
below the planned performance assumed in ERA’s 
previous water management strategy. Progress is 
being made in identifying and implementing strategies 
that improve plant reliability and production 
consistency. Although water quality has been 
challenging this year, high quality on specification 
distillate continues to be produced. Process 
improvement initiatives continue to be a key focus 
area.  

During 2023, the Jabiru housing refurbishment 
program continued to progress including the release 
of further properties. ERA is progressively working on 
the transfer of properties to enable tenanting by third 
parties. 

Overall, factors including a tight labour market and 
remnant supply chain constraints continue to impact 
the project. 

The ultimate cost of rehabilitation is uncertain and can 
vary in response to many factors including legal 
requirements, technological change, weather events 
and market conditions.  As previously announced 
ERA received outcomes and data from the 2022 
Feasibility Study in October 2023 that require more 
analysis and separate studies, including but not 
limited to: 

• Investigating alternative lower cost solutions 
for the management of water inventories 
requiring treatment 
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• Development of sediment and erosion 
control solutions to optimise release of 
water from rehabilitated landforms 

• Evolution of the final landform design and 
construction to optimise the movement of 
bulk materials and appropriately manage 
late-stage closure sequencing 

• Investigating alternative lower cost options 
for site simplification and opportunities for 
cost optimisation of post-closure monitoring 
and maintenance 

• Value engineering and safety in design 
investigations. 

The Company will use the outcomes from the studies 
to attempt to optimise rehabilitation cost, schedule and 
risk. Activities post 2027 and estimates of their cost 
remain highly uncertain and are also potentially 
sensitive to external events. As such it is reasonably 
possible that outcomes from within the next financial 
year may be different from the current cost estimate 
and could require material adjustment to the 
rehabilitation provision for the Ranger Project Area. 

Selected risks for the Ranger rehabilitation provision 
are detailed below. 

Tailings consolidation 

During the capping and backfill of Pit 3, the capped 
tailings will consolidate, and express process water 
will need to be collected and treated. The installation 
of vertical wicks during 2023 has accelerated the rate 
of tailings consolidation. 

The timeframe for completing tailings consolidation is 
supported by a detailed tailings consolidation model 
that is based on in-situ testing of site tailings. The 
consolidation model’s prediction of the rate of tailings 
consolidation is impacted by many factors, including 
the tailings characteristics, progressing Pit 3 capping 
and backfill, and the ability to remove the expressed 
water from the tailings.   

Forecasts for the practical completion of tailings 
consolidation and the end of process water collection 
have been extended because of changes in Pit 3 
capping method and schedule, changes in the 
assumed degree to which expressed water needs to 
be collected to satisfy environmental constraints and 
other changes in tailings model assumptions. This 
extension has been a contributing factor to the 
increase in estimated rehabilitation costs reported at 
31 December 2023. 

The cost and schedule of completing rehabilitation 
could be adversely impacted If tailings consolidation 
timeframes or the timeframe for the end of process 
water collection extend further.  

Water treatment and injection of waste brines 

Overall long-term performance of the water treatment 
plant has been below the planned performance in 
ERA's previously assumed water treatment strategy. 
This has been a contributing factor to an increase in 
estimated rehabilitation costs reported at 31 
December 2023. ERA will continue initiatives to 
improve the performance of the water treatment 
plants in line with its revised water treatment strategy. 
Further deficits in performance of this infrastructure 

against targets established in the revised strategy 
may produce further delays in completing the Ranger 
Rehabilitation Project. 

To the extent that any of these initiatives cost more 
than expected or ERA is required to implement further 
initiatives (such as installing additional water 
treatment infrastructure), the rehabilitation cost may 
increase further.  

A waste stream of contaminated salt is generated as 
a result of treating processed water. The salt is 
ultimately to be stored below tailings in Pit 3 by 
injecting the brine through boreholes. These 
technologies have been commissioned but the long 
term performance is yet to be fully confirmed. An 
alternate method of salt disposal would be required if 
disposing the salt in this way does not prove viable. 
This would require additional capital expenditure, 
which has not been allowed for in the rehabilitation 
estimate or the resulting provision.  

Bulk material movement 

Large scale bulk material backfill and landform 
shaping will occur once Pit 3 is capped. Bulk material 
movements are sensitive to the volume of material 
which is to be moved and the schedule of movement. 
Changes in estimated bulk material movement unit 
rates against previous estimates have been a 
contributing factor to the increase in estimated 
rehabilitation costs reported at 31 December 2023. 
There may be further material impact on the 
rehabilitation cost or schedule if volumes or costs of 
movement change.  

Other factors 

In addition to the factors identified above there are 
many additional items that could impact the estimate. 
These include increase in water treatment volumes 
from rainfall or other sources, rehabilitation time 
frames, evaporation rates, stakeholder requirements, 
higher costs of relinquishing Jabiru township housing, 
engineering studies, other site contaminants, plant 
mortality and project support costs. 

In estimating the rehabilitation provision, a risk-free 
discount rate is applied to the underlying cash flows. 
At 31 December 2023, the real discount rate was 2%, 
this was increased from 1.5% at 31 December 2022 
as a result of changes in macro-economic conditions. 

Cash flow timing 

The company estimates the presentation of its 
rehabilitation provision between current and non-
current liabilities, based on anticipated timing of 
expenditure from updated cash flow forecasts. 

(b) Taxation 
ERA has approximately $321 million tax losses (at 
30%) that are not recognised as deferred tax assets 
due to uncertainty regarding ERA’s ability to generate 
adequate levels of future taxable profits. This 
treatment is reviewed at each reporting date. Should 
future taxable profits eventuate this treatment will not 
impact ERA’s ability to utilise available tax losses in 
future periods. 
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Comparative information has been restated to reflect 
the adoption of narrow scope amendments to IAS12 
'Income Taxes', refer to note 5 for details. 

Judgement is required in regard to the application of 
income tax legislation. There is an inherent risk and 
uncertainty in applying these judgements and a 
possibility that changes in legislation will impact the 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities recognised on the balance sheet. 

(c) Asset carrying values 
ERA has two cash generating units (CGUs); the 
Ranger Project Area and the Jabiluka Mineral Lease. 
The Ranger CGU includes all assets and liabilities 
related to activities on the Ranger Project Area, 
including the rehabilitation provision. The Jabiluka 
Undeveloped Property relates to the Jabiluka Mineral 
Lease, which is currently under a Long-Term Care 
and Maintenance Agreement with Traditional Owners. 

At 31 December 2023 the property, plant and 
equipment in the Ranger CGU continues to be fully 
impaired. When capital expenditure is incurred, it is 
immediately expensed to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. For the year ended 31 
December 2023, $0.08 million in capital expenditure 
was expensed. 

ERA assesses whether there are any indications that 
ERA’s CGUs may be impaired, or circumstances have 
changed to indicate reversal of prior impairments at 
the end of each reporting period. This requires 
judgement in analysing possible impacts caused by 
factors such as the price of uranium oxide, foreign 
exchange movements, Mineral Lease extension, 
operating and capital estimates, discount rate, project 
progression and Traditional Owner relationships. 

(d) Undeveloped properties judgements 
Undeveloped properties are considered assets not yet 
ready for use under AASB 6 Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources. In reporting periods 
where impairment testing is required, the recoverable 
amount of the undeveloped properties was 
determined using the fair value less costs of disposal 
method. Undeveloped properties consist of the 
Jabiluka Mineral Lease. 

The Jabiluka Mineral Lease is currently subject to a 
Long Term Care and Maintenance Agreement with 
Traditional Owners. This agreement ensures the 
Jabiluka deposit will not be developed without the 
approval of the Mirarr Traditional Owners. It is 
uncertain that this approval will be forthcoming and, 
by extension, that the Jabiluka deposit will be 
developed. Should this approval not eventuate in the 
future, the Jabiluka Undeveloped Property would face 
full impairment. An impairment of $90 million was 
recorded in 2018. 

The valuation of the Jabiluka Mineral Lease requires a 
high degree of judgment. To determine the fair value, 
ERA has historically used a probability weighted 
discounted cash flow model, based on post-tax cash 
flows expressed in real terms, estimated until the end 
of the life of mine plan and discounted using an asset 
specific post-tax real discount rate. These results 
have historically been cross checked against market 

valuations of other undeveloped mining projects in the 
uranium industry and the broader mining sector, 
including market valuations of mining assets subject 
to long term approval constraints as well as general 
commodity price outlooks and macro-economic data.   

ERA regularly reviews and updates these 
assumptions and assesses potential impairment 
indicators and impairment reversal indicators. In 
December 2023, the review did not identify any 
indicators that the carrying amount of the Jabiluka 
Undeveloped Property may not be recovered in full 
from successful development or sale. This review 
primarily considered the following key factors: 

• The successful interim entitlement offer and 
market capitalisation exceeding net assets 

• The ongoing strength of the uranium spot 
price 

• Valuation technique and resource multiples 
• Long term consensus forecast 

Australian/US dollar exchange rates 
• Applicable discount rate. 

The review of these factors did not identify any 
material changes that would warrant a full impairment 
or impairment reversal review to be conducted. As a 
result, the carrying value of the Jabiluka Undeveloped 
Property remains at $90 million. 

Further, ERA hold the view that the critical 
determinants of the value of Jabiluka include: 

• The Long Term Care and Maintenance 
Agreement, signed with the Northern Land 
Council and Traditional Owners 

• A better understanding of the cultural 
landscape of MLN1 

• The outcome of an application for renewal 
of the MLN1 lease, due in August 2024. 

Management considered that until this work is 
completed no further impairment or reversal of prior 
impairment was warranted. 

Key assumptions to which the Jabiluka model is 
sensitive include: the probability of future 
development (which includes an assessment of 
obtaining any required approval and/or support of 
various stakeholders, including Traditional Owners, 
regulatory bodies and shareholders), long term 
uranium oxide prices (including term contract price 
premiums in the future), foreign exchange rates, 
production and capital costs, discount rate, ore 
reserves and mineral resources, lease tenure renewal 
(August 2024) and development delays.  

ERA’s view remains that Jabiluka is a large, high 
quality uranium ore body of global significance. 

(e) Employee benefits judgements 
The employee benefits relate to annual leave and 
long service leave. Following the final severance 
payment in November, the provision of benefits 
payable on termination was $ Nil as at 31 December 
2023 (2022: $1.0M). The provision was reviewed at 
year end to ensure the provision reflects 
management’s best estimate of the benefits payable, 
and management determined that the recognition 
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requirements of the accounting standard had not been 
met as at 31 December 2023.  

Management continues to monitor the triggers for 
recognition of employee severance costs in 
conjunction with updates to the Ranger Rehabilitation 
Project execution required scopes of work and 
business operational requirements. 
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The Interim Entitlement Offer was an interim funding solution for the Company, with further interim funding 
requirements expected in the second half of 2024 for the first tranche of the estimated Ranger Project Area 
rehabilitation expenditure. This is expected to incorporate the rehabilitation requirements addressed in the 2022 
Feasibility Study (revised programme management approach). ERA will engage with Rio Tinto and other 
shareholders about a material equity raise in 2024. An inability to obtain sufficient funding would have a material 
impact on ERA’s business, financial performance and assessment as a going concern. Rio Tinto has reiterated its 
commitment to ensuring the rehabilitation of the Ranger Project Area is successfully achieved to a standard that will 
establish an environment similar to the adjacent Kakadu National Park. 

As at 31 December 2023, ERA had no debt financing in place and $726 million in total cash resources (comprising 
$217 million in cash at bank or cash equivalents and $509 million invested as part of the government security 
receivable).  

 
29  Events occurring after the reporting period 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that have significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations or state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We focused on the significant and 
judgmental assumptions the Company 
applied in their rehabilitation provision 
including:  

• Nature and extent of rehabilitation 
activities required. This impacts the 
completeness of the rehabilitation 
provision estimate; 

• Forecasted closure costs and 
timing for key rehabilitation 
activities; and 

• Economic assumptions, such as 
the discount rate 

The Company utilises both internal and 
external experts to assist in the 
determination of the rehabilitation 
provision. 

As a result of the above significant and 
judgmental assumptions, this area 
required significant audit effort. We 
involved sustainability closure 
specialists and valuation specialists to 
supplement our senior audit team 
members in assessing this key audit 
matter. 

− Evaluate the updates in methodology applied by 
the Company and Company’s external expert in 
determining the nature and extent of rehabilitation 
activities by comparison to industry practice; and  

− Assess certain assumptions regarding the forecast 
closure costs of closure activities based on their 
experience and familiarity with applicable 
legislative requirements and industry practice and 
the Company’s closure commitments.  

• Assessing the competence, scope and objectivity of 
the Company’s internal and external experts used in 
the determination of the rehabilitation provision;  

• Inspecting the most recent closure studies and other 
technical material prepared by the Company relating to 
changes in the closure provision to assess the nature 
and scope of work planned to be undertaken. This 
included assumptions relating to the nature and timing 
of closure and rehabilitation activities; 

• Testing key controls in relation to the rehabilitation 
provision;  

• On a sample basis, testing the basis of forecasted 
closure cost by obtaining an understanding of the 
nature of the estimate and inspecting underlying 
documentation for forecast rehabilitation activities;  

• Obtaining the Company’s latest external expert report 
as well as internal and external underlying 
documentation to compare to the nature and quantum 
of costs contained in the Company’s rehabilitation 
provision;  

• Testing the accuracy of the historical rehabilitation 
provision by comparing to actual expenditure incurred. 
We used this to challenge the Company’s current cost 
estimations;  

• Working with our valuation specialists to compare the 
discount rate used by the Company to external data 
such as yields on long-term government bonds;  

• Testing mathematical accuracy of the Company’s 
rehabilitation provision calculation; and  

• Assessing the rehabilitation provision disclosures in the 
financial report including disclosure of risks and 
uncertainties using our understanding obtained from 
our testing against the requirements of the accounting 
standard. This included checking the current and non-
current rehabilitation provision disclosure for 
consistency to the planned timing of the rehabilitation 
expenditure. 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (unaudited) 

 

Entitlements to vote 
Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being 
attached to any shares on a show of hands, every 
member present in person or by proxy or by attorney 
or by representative and entitled to vote at a 
shareholders’ meeting shall have one vote. 

On a poll, every member present in person or by 
proxy or by attorney or by representative shall have 
one vote for each share held by him/her. 

All substantive resolutions at a meeting of security 
holders are decided by a poll. 

Annual General Meeting 
The 2024 Annual General Meeting will be held in 
Darwin, in the Northern Territory of Australia. Notices 
of the 2024 Annual General Meeting will be given to 
the shareholders of the Company in accordance with 
the Corporations Act. It is anticipated the meeting will 
be an in person meeting, noting that the Company will 
have the required facilities on standby should a virtual 
or hybrid option become required.   

Tax file numbers 
Tax file numbers or exemption details are recorded 
from shareholders who wish to provide the 
information. Dividend advice statements, when issued 
to shareholders, indicate whether or not a 
shareholder’s tax file number has been recorded. 
ERA normally pays fully franked dividends. In the 
event of an unfranked dividend being paid, ERA will 
be required to deduct tax at the top marginal rate from 
the dividend paid to shareholders resident in Australia 
who have not supplied a tax file number or exemption 
form. 

Information on shareholding 
Shareholders who require information about their 
shareholding or dividend payment should contact 
ERA’s principal registry. 

Shareholders who have changed their address should 
advise the change in writing to: 

ERA Share Registry 
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Level 1, 200 Mary Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 

Telephone:  
1300 552 270 (within Australia)  
+61 3 9415 4000 (outside Australia) 

Online:  
www.investorcentre.com/contact 

Sponsored shareholders should note, however, that 
they should contact their sponsored broker to notify of 
a change of address. 
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opposed any development of the Jabiluka project area, and the parties agreed that ERA would not 
develop or mine MLN1 without the consent of the Mirarr Traditional Owners to that development.  
 
Secondly, in acknowledgment and recognition of the LTCMA, the Northern Territory of Australia (the 
NTG) subsequently entered into an agreement with ERA on 23 December 2009 (the Waiver 
Agreement). Under the Waiver Agreement, in order to support ERA's commitment to the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners in the LTCMA, the NTG agreed to waive, suspend, and exempt ERA from, among 
other things, any condition or requirement to use the Jabiluka project area continuously and 
exclusively for the purpose for which MLN1 was granted. 
 
There are some requirements under the Waiver Agreement, notably: 

• ERA was required to use reasonable endeavours, having regard to the circumstances at the 
time, to obtain the consent of the Mirarr Traditional Owners to develop Jabiluka (but it was 
acknowledged that circumstances may be such that consent should not be sought or 
requested at a given time); and 

• ERA was to provide an annual written report to the NTG on whether the Mirarr Traditional 
Owners' consent had been sought and whether it was given or refused, and efforts made to 
obtain that consent or reasons why it was not sought. 

 
ERA has complied with the Waiver Agreement.  
 
Throughout the term of MLN1, and as at the date of ERA's renewal application, the Mirarr Traditional 
Owners' consent to any mining or development of Jabiluka has not been forthcoming.   
 
3. Compliance with conditions of MLN1  
 
ERA has materially and substantially complied with the conditions of MLN1. 
 
ERA has paid all rents and administrative fees required by the MTA.  
 
ERA has generally complied with all reporting requirements in respect of MLN1.  
 
ERA did not lodge an Annual Plan of Rehabilitation for a period from 2016 to 2020 pursuant to the 
Jabiluka Authorisation 0140-05 issued under the Mining Management Act 2001 (NT) (MMA). 
However, it is relevant that at the time the reports in question were not lodged, the LTCMA and the 
Waiver Agreement were in effect, and MLN1 was in a phase of long term care and maintenance 
pursuant to those arrangements at the time. As the Mirarr Traditional Owners had not provided 
consent to the mining of MLN1, ERA was not undertaking any activities of any note on MLN1, and 
nor was ERA required, or permitted, to do so. Therefore, there were no activities taking place on 
MLN1 to be reported on during these years.  
 
Notably: 
 

• no issue was raised at the time, or since, by the Minister or the government in relation to 
those reports not being provided, and nor was any notice issued to ERA requiring the reports 
to be provided or asserting that ERA was not in compliance; and 

• ERA nevertheless recommenced filing such reports from 2021 despite it remaining the case 
that no mining activities were taking place on MLN1, as it remained the case that the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners' consent to mining had not been received. 

 
ERA has otherwise received certif icates of compliance from the Department of Industry, Tourism 
and Trade confirming that all statutory requirements under the MTA have been assessed as 
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satisfactory in respect of MLN1. ERA's most recent certif icate of compliance in respect of operational 
year 41 was received on 23 June 2023 and is attached.  
 
4. Reasons for seeking a renewal of MLN1  
 
The renewal application requires ERA to state reasons for seeking the renewal. 
 

a. Renewal is contemplated under the conditions of MLN1 
 

Pursuant to condition 2 of MLN1, ERA is permitted to seek a renewal of MLN1 for a further term not 
exceeding 10 years. ERA is only seeking a renewal for 10 years, which is consistent with the term 
of a renewal that was contemplated from the very time of MLN1's initial grant.  
 

b. The arrangements under the LTCMA are the best arrangements for all parties 
 
ERA believes that the current set of arrangements are the best set of arrangements for MLN1. ERA 
has complied with the wording and intent of the LTCMA and the significant cultural heritage of the 
area has been protected. The LTCMA provides the Mirarr Traditional Owners with a right of veto 
which might not be granted again should the existing lease not be renewed.  
 
Regardless of the outcome of the existing MLN1 lease, the orebody will remain. Uranium’s utility in 
a carbon constrained world has grown and will likely grow significantly in the future. Accordingly, 
there remains the prospect of future national Governments or mining companies seeking the 
development of Jabiluka in the national or commercial interests. If the Mirarr Traditional Owners 
retain their rights under the LTCMA, supported by the Waiver Agreement, they will retain the highest 
level of control over the future of the Jabiluka orebody.  

c. The strategic importance of Uranium  
 
Uranium is a significant resource for both Australia and the world as the key ingredient for nuclear 
energy production. Nuclear energy can assist greatly in the attempts to lower global carbon 
emissions. On 2 December 2023 at COP 28 in Dubai, a partnership of 20 countries (including the 
USA, UK, Canada and France) committed to tripling nuclear energy generation by 2050. 

New legislation in the USA (National Opportunity to Restore Uranium Supply Services In America 
Act of 2022), along with other supply constraints, has increased demand for Uranium from stable 
supplier nations. 

Jabiluka has approximately 137kT of measured and indicated uranium resources. 

In 2022-23, Australian exported 7.1% of world uranium requirements, placing it as the fourth largest 
producer of uranium producer after Kazakhstan, Canada and Namibia, despite having almost 30% 
of reasonably assured resources. 

Jabiluka’s uranium resources could deliver 2,843 TWh of low emissions energy. By way of 
comparison, this is more than 10 times Australia’s entire 2020–2021 electricity generation of 
approximately 264 TWh. 

d. The potential contribution to the Northern Territory economy 

A lease renewal allows ERA the time to meaningfully collaborate with the Mirarr Traditional Owners 
to reach a mutual understanding of the full range of possibilities relating to maintaining the ongoing 
protection of significant cultural heritage and through this protection understanding what / if any 
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culturally appropriate development pathways may exist to enable the Mirarr Traditional Owners to 
make a fully informed decision. 

The Northern Territory Government has a long-term aspiration to be a $40 billion economy by 2030. 
To achieve this aspiration, the Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission (TERC) 
recommended in 2020 that the Government focus on the rapid growth of the energy and resources 
sector including targeting new mines and expanding existing foundations.  The Mineral Development 
Taskforce (MDT) echoed the importance of taking immediate action to expand the mining sector by 
stating ‘speedy development of new mines is critical to achieving targeted economic outcomes’.1  
 
There are not many major mines in the Northern Territory, so every mine will make a significant 
difference.  MDT reported in December 2022 that for the Government to achieve its economic goal, 
in 10 years’ time there would need to be 5 or more new operating mines. As at 31 October 2023, 
data provided by the Government confirms that there are currently 8 major operating mines in the 
Northern Territory2 and growth has faced economic headwinds.  With a significant royalty revenue 
shortfall on the horizon following the expected closure of three major mines after 2030, TERC 
recommends the Northern Territory Government start ‘urgently working with existing operators to 
open new or expand existing mines will help address [this] economic impact'.3    
 
Subject to reaching a mutually acceptable and beneficial outcome with the Mirarr Traditional Owners, 
Jabiluka presents an opportunity to implement key TERC recommendations including, securing 
broader economic outcomes for the Mirarr Traditional Owners, building local skills and growing the 
mining industry. Jabiluka is a known and undeveloped deposit which can provide jobs, 
apprenticeships and traineeships for Territorians as well as economic benefits for the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners as outlined above. 
 
5. Details of the activities undertaken during the previous term of MLN1 
 
During the initial term of MLN1, ERA has undertaken the following activities: 
 

• 1991 - ERA purchased MLN1 from Pancontinental with the agreement of the NLC, and 
subsequently the Rehabilitation Deed assigned to ERA; 

• 1992 - ERA commenced further drilling in Mine Valley (total of 31 holes); 
• 1996 - ERA EIS submission for an underground mine at Jabiluka and milling at Ranger Mine 

(Ranger Mill Alternative (RMA)); 
• 1998 – Submission of Public Environment Report on Jabiluka Mill Alternative (JMA) with 50-

50 option for disposal of tailings underground and in surface pits. Minister for Resources and 
Energy gave ERA conditional approval for the JMA, with 100 percent underground disposal 
of tailings; NT Government authorised construction of common elements of the RMA and 
JMA proposals. Construction phase of Jabiluka commenced with the installation of the 
Interim Water Management Pond (IWMP), blasting and excavation of the tunnel and 
installation or site support infrastructure; 

• 1999 - Completion of portal, decline and box-cut and Stage 1 of Jabiluka. Project entered 
Standby Environmental Management and Planning Phase. Included covering of the 
mineralised stockpile with reinforced PVC fabric to minimise volume and load of sulphide 
oxidation products that could be produced; 

• 2003 - ERA applied to NT Government for approval to backfill decline with mineralised 
stockpile and waste rock, and emptying and cleaning of IWMP. Following approval 

 
1 2022 Mineral Development Taskforce Final Report p. 8. 
2 https://resourcingtheterritory.nt.gov.au/minerals/mines-and-projects/operational-mines (1February 2024). 
3 Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission Final Report p.18 
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Mineralised material trucked underground to backfill decline, pumping water and sludge / 
sediments from IWMP into decline, non-mineralised material backfilled into decline, all 
surface and subsurface infrastructure was removed from Jabiluka and the box-cut was 
backfilled; 

• 2005 – ERA, NLC and Mirarr Traditional Owners enter into the Long Term Care and 
Maintenance agreement; 

• 2005 - Revegetation of disturbed areas at Jabiluka footprint began with the planting of local 
native tree seedlings. Works to decommission and rehabilitate Djarr-Djarr commenced, 
including removal of infrastructure; 

• 2006 - Commencement of revegetation works at Djarr-Djarr; 
• 2008 - Djarr-Djarr wildfires through revegetated area (several f ires reported between 2008 

and 2009); 
• 2009 - Integrated program of works to progress Djarr-Djarr towards a condition consistent 

with draft restoration criteria and entry into the Waiver Agreement with the Territory; 
• 2013 - Reshaping of stockpile area and removal of IWMP completed; and  
• 2013-present - Long Term Care and Maintenance. 

 
Due to the arrangements with the Mirarr Traditional Owners under the LTCMA, no mining or 
development activities have been undertaken within the area of MLN1 since 2004.  

 
6. Proposed future activities to be undertaken on MLN1 
 
In accordance with the LTCMA and the Waiver Agreement no mining activities can occur without the 
approval of the Mirarr Traditional Owners. ERA proposes to continue to work with the Mirarr 
Traditional Owners and the NLC to determine if support could be obtained from the Mirarr Traditional 
Owners for mining on MLN1 in accordance with the LTCMA.  
 
Should the Mirarr Traditional Owners' consent be forthcoming, ERA will notify the NTG accordingly 
and advise the NTG of proposed activities to be carried out on MLN1 during the remainder of the 
renewed term. Any such activities will necessarily be dependent on the point in time during the 
renewed term that any Mirarr Traditional Owner consent was received.  
 
7. Necessary criteria 
 
ERA : 
 
(a) has given the Minister all the information to make a proper decision; 

 
(b) has complied with the requirements under the MTA; 

 
(c) has complied substantially with the conditions of each mineral title it holds, to the extent 

required by the Minister; 
 

(d) in respect of mineral titles which were held by ERA but are no longer in force, it has paid all 
outstanding fees and rent payable in relation to the titles and complied with the rehabilitation 
requirements of the title area; 
 

(e) has substantially complied with the rehabilitation requirements for each title area it holds; and 
 

(f)  has been actively negotiating in good faith in relation to the grant of other mineral titles the 
subject of the Aboriginal Land Rights (Northern Territory) Act 1976 (Cth).  
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ERA also maintains that it is a fit and proper person to continue to hold MLN1.  
 
8. Rent 
 
In accordance with section 67 of the MTA and regulation 77(1) of the Mineral Titles Regulations, 
ERA provides the rent prescribed for the first operating year after renewal. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact myself if you have any questions or require additional information.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Brad Welsh  
Chief Executive 
Energy Resources of Australia Limited 
Brad.Welsh@riotinto.com  
T: +61 (0) 8 89423500   
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ATTACHMENT 

Annual Review Notice Yr41 – Certificate of Compliance 
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From: Drew Sarhen on behalf of Tmt ITT
To: Nolan, David (RIOTINTO-ASHURST); Prest, Richard (ERA)
Cc: Creed, Lisa (ERA)
Subject: [External] Annual Review Notice Yr41 - Energy Resources of Australia Ltd - MLN1
Date: Friday, 23 June 2023 10:19:35 AM
Attachments: image001.jpg
Importance: High

Some people who received this message don't often get email from tmt.itt@nt.gov.au. Learn why this is
important

 
Good Morning,
 
The annual review for year forty one (41) in respect to Mineral Lease (Northern) 1 has been
completed.
 

Title Operational Year Rent Administration Fee Annual Reports
MLN1 42 Paid Paid Received

 
Please be advised that all statutory requirements have been assessed as satisfactory.
 
Should you have any enquiries please contact Mineral Titles on (08) 8999 5322.
 
 
Kind regards
 
Drew Sarhen
Titles Officer, Titles Management Team

t.   +61 8 8999 5322
e.  tmt.itt@nt.gov.au

Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade
Northern Territory Government of Australia
Level 5, Paspalis Centrepoint Building, 48-50 Smith St Mall, Darwin NT 0800
GPO Box 4550, Darwin NT 0801

nt.gov.au

NTG_Mono
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• Georgia asked if ERA would be open to this 
and suggested they could arrange a 
mediator and that they would also be 
available to attend in person.  This idea was 
raised when Brad was discussing the 
importance of FPIC and the Traditional 
Owners not being ‘informed’ by ERA.  
Georgia seems very supportive of wanting 
to ensure Traditional Owners are informed 
to make a decision. 

• Georgia will ask the NLC when they meet 
about their views on a meeting with ERA. 

6 February 
2024 

Dave McElrea, Deputy 
Chief of Staff, Tanya 
Plibersek 
 
Charlee-Sue Frail, senior 
advisor 

• Dave was interested in understanding the 
reasoning for the renewal and seemed to 
resonate with the protection of the veto and 
the potential economic land management 
opportunities. 

• Dave confirmed that even if the current 
lease becomes a national park, it could still 
be mined if considered to be in the national 
interests. 

• Dave is keen to hear feedback from our 
other engagements, particularly Senator 
Marion Scrymgour views. 

• Charlee-Sue confirmed that they are 
currently in conversation with Parks about 
the new leases for Kakadu.   

• They are keen to understand the 
timeframes for the application lodgement.  
Charlee-Sue mentioned this would help in 
preparing media response. 

 
 Moksha Watts – PM”s 

Adviser on Energy and 
Resources 

• Peter Garrett with Justin has met with PM 
about Jabiluka. 

• Cabinet meeting in March and she expects 
Justin will be around to talk with PM. 

7 February 
2024 

Kym Lockely, NIAA 
Rachel ?, NIAA 
Zoe ?, NIAA 

• Rachel asked if we were meeting with 
Ministers about Jabiluka.  A brief outline of 
our key reasoning was provided. No further 
questions on the renewal and the rest of the 
engagement was about the Ranger 
agreement negotiations. 

• Kym flagged that NIAA is proposing we 
have 1 umbrella agreement. They flagged 
this idea with Susan and she had no major 
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objections.  Need DIRS approval (DIRS 
indicated to us separately they have 
reservations and wanted Government 
Agreement to be separated). 

• NIAA made no commitment that they would 
be providing funding in the agreement to 
GAC/NLC. They are encouraging GAC/NLC 
to apply for general ranger funding under 
the existing buckets.  They would support 
GAC/NLC in capacity building (eg. new 
corporate structure) through existing other 
Government services (eg. IBA). 
 

7 February 
2024 

Senator Malarndirri 
McCarthy and Advisor Peter 
Wellings 

• Senator asked us to inform Linda Burney’s 
office about the renewal application. She 
wanted to know if we had sought views of 
Senator Marion Scrymgour. 

• Senator was appreciative of ERA talking to 
her and taking her through our reasoning.  
She confirmed that she hadn’t previously 
thought about how the renewal could 
protect the Mirarr’s veto rights and culture 
before. We had given her lots to think about 
and she was genuinely interested in taking 
some time now to understand our reasoning 
to renew. 

• Peter confirmed that in his experiences the 
Mirarr Traditional owners had always talked 
about the cultural landscape and this 
engagement was helpful to understanding 
how the renewal could help the Mirarr in 
protecting their landscape. Peter suggested 
we talk to Petery Yu.  He also said that 
Justin had a secret meeting with Peter 
Garett and the Minister. 

7 February 
2024 

Matt Denyer, MCA • Update provided on our engagements so 
far. 

7 February 
2024 

Luke Gosling MP • Very interested in visiting Jabiluka and was 
engaged in understanding ERA’s reasoning 
for the renewal. He also asked if we had 
spoken with Senator Marion Scrymgour. 

• Was interested in understanding the 
Traditional Owner’s views and noted they 
may have a more strategic view. He also 
was interested in understanding if the 
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Traditional Owners understood ERA’s 
views.  

7 February 
2024 

Kym Moore, DIRS 
Angela Kratz, DIRS 
Erin Crockram, DIRS 
Peter Chesworth (only for 
20mins) 

• A very high-level overview of our 
engagements so far on Jabiluka was 
provided but the meeting was largely about 
the security requirements under the Ranger 
agreements. 

• Without being able to provide formal 
commitment, Kym suggested that it could 
be possible to reach agreement that there 
will be no change in security until the 
Government Agreement is ‘refreshed’ which 
will involve a revaluation of the security.  
This refresh/update would take at least 6 
months. To do this, they would need to slow 
down the s41 Authority work. 

• Concerned no clear understanding on 
position of airport.  ERA to locate and 
provide copy of the last relationship 
committee meeting which confirms Mirarr’s 
position on airport.  

 
8 February 
2024 

Marion Scrymgour 
 

•  
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From: Welsh, Brad (ERA)
To: rick.dennis01@gmail.com; Ken Wyatt; Glenn Stuart; Carey, Justin (RTHQ); Grigg, Alfie (RT Legal);

rosemary.fagen@outlook.com
Cc: Michaela Stanton-Cook; Creed, Lisa (ERA); Stephanie So; Nolan, David (RIOTINTO-ASHURST); Prest,

Richard (ERA)
Subject: Summary update of engagements in Canberra
Date: Friday, 28 June 2024 2:08:16 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Dear board members
 
Please see my summary notes from engagements in Canberra this week I attended with
Ken Wyatt (Ken please feel free to add/correct the below as well).
 

 

Minister Madeline King (Minister for Resources and Northern Australia) – This
meeting was in reference to the letter Minister King sent ERA offering a meeting to
ERA given she had met with the Mirarr Traditional Owners. The Minister and her
office were at pains to explain they are running a fair process and wanted to give
everyone the chance to put their case effectively. We discussed the basis for the
application for renewal but also made the point that the granting of a national park
tenure over the land does not automatically rule out future mining of an underground
resource. This point is a little nuanced given it would be up to a future government to
determine the breadth and scope of any National Park tenure (for example it

144



normally wouldn’t affect 100m underground where the Jabiluka Orebody starts). Our
central point being the current mining lease gives Mirarr a veto over the Mineral
Development regardless of its depth, location, economics or other features. For
interest there is an underground mine being built under a national park in the UK (
 https://uk.angloamerican.com/the-woodsmith-project ) -  we made this point to the
Environment ministers office which I will outline below.
Kym Moore - Department of Industry, Science and Resources (DISER) – we met with
the Department in relation to the MLN1 renewal, our funding plans, the rehabilitation
authorisations and a number of other ancillary matters. Kym Moore is probably the
federal public servant with the highest understanding of the ERA arrangements and
engagements across government (MLN1 renewal, federal security arrangements,
ranger authorities and working with the Northern Territory Government). Kym
advised that the application has not been referred by the NT Government as yet, in
informal discussions the NTG has advised the Federal Department they are
completing normal checks on the renewal application and will refer post that (for
this reason we don’t anticipate the referral being made prior to NT Government
caretaker period which starts at the end of July). Kym advised that while there is
collaboration between Federal Government departments they have also set up clear
lines of responsibility to ensure the renewal is dealt with on an impartial basis. Kym
did mention that once the referral is made the Minister for Resources (Federal) might
write to both parties seeking any final views before considering the matter (in this
event we would make a written submission in a timely way of course).
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 DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY 

 
 

MLN 1 - Report Cover Sheet 
 

Tenure:  MLN 1 

Title:   MLN 1 Annual Report 1 – August 2014  to August 2015 

Period:   12   th   August 2014 to 11   th   August 2015 

Project Name:  MLN 1 

Title Holder:  Energy Resources of Australia Ltd. 

Title Operator:  Energy Resources of Australia Ltd. 

Personal Author: Greg Rogers 

Report Type:  Annual 

250K Mapsheet/s: Alligator River SD5301 

100K Mapsheet/s: East Alligator 5473, Cahill 5472 

Geological Province: Pine Creek Orogen 

Stratigraphic Name: Cahill Formation, Kombolgie Formation, Nanambu Complex 

Keywords:  Uranium, MLN1 

Commodity:  Uranium 

Drilling:  Nil 

Geochem Sampling: Nil 

Geophysics:  Nil 

Work Done: No exploration or evaluation work was carried out on the MLN1 lease in the 
reporting period. 

Results: Nothing to report 

Conclusions: MLN1 and the Jabiluka mineral resource remain under the Jabiluka Long Term 
Care and Maintenance Agreement between ERA, traditional owners and the 
Northern Land Council dated 25 February 2005 (LTCMA).  Under the terms of 
the LTCMA ERA has agreed not to undertake any mining development or apply 
for any authorisation to undertake mining development on MLN1 without the 
approval of traditional owners.  Based on the current circumstances, ERA has 
not undertaken any exploration on the MLN1 lease during the period to which 
this report applies. 

Copyright Statement: This document and its content are the copyright of Energy Resources of Australia. The document has 
been written for submission to the Northern Territory Department of Mines and Energy as part of the 
tenement reporting requirements as per the Mineral Titles Act (NT). Any information included in the 
report that originates from historical reports or other sources is listed in the “References” section at 
the end of the document. All relevant authorisations and consents have been obtained. Energy 
Resources of Australia authorise the Minister to publish information in which the copyright subsists 
where “publish” has the meaning under Regulation 10 or 125 of the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth). This 
includes authorisation to copy and distribute the report and associated data. 

 

This document, the data it contains and its attachments are submitted under the NT Mineral Titles 
Act. As such, the copyright normally reserved by Energy Resources of Australia is controlled by that 
Act as well as the Commonwealth Copyright Act, as may be applicable. This statement authorises the 
NT Department of Mines and Energy to copy, store and distribute this document, data and attachments 
subject to the confidentiality restrictions of the relevant NT Acts. 

157



 

 
 

Energy Resources of Australia Ltd 
 
 

MLN1 – Exploration Report - 2015 
 
 

Alligator River SD53-01, Northern Territory 
Alligator Rivers Uranium Field 

 
 
 
 

 
Tenement Holder: Energy Resources of Australia Ltd 
 
 
Date: October 2015 
 
 
Author: Andrew McLellan 
 
 
Submitted: Greg Rogers 
 
 
Distribution: ERA Darwin Office 
   

  

 
Exploration Report No: ERA_EXPL002 

 

158



 

 
 

LIST OF CONTENTS 
Page No 

1 Location map ..................................................................................................................... 3 

2 Regional Geology .............................................................................................................. 4 

2.1 Regional Geological Correlation .................................................................................. 4 

2.2 Regional Stratigraphy ................................................................................................. 4 

2.3 Basement Complexes ................................................................................................. 6 

2.4 The Pine Creek Geosyncline and the Cahill Formation ............................................... 7 

2.5 Cover Rocks ............................................................................................................... 8 

2.6 Igneous Intrusions ..................................................................................................... 10 

3 LOCAL GEOLOGY.......................................................................................................... 11 

4 TENEMENT HISTORY .................................................................................................... 16 

5 EXPLORATION HISTORY .............................................................................................. 16 

6 WORK COMPLETED ...................................................................................................... 17 

7 CONCLUSIONS and RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................. 17 

 

159



 

1 LOCATION MAP 

 
Figure 1 – Map showing the location of MLN 1 – Northern Territory Australia. 

Map shown in MGA Zone 53. 
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2 REGIONAL GEOLOGY 

2.1 Regional Geological Correlation 

The majority of the rocks that make up the wasterock stockpiles at Ranger Uranium Mine (RUM) 
are derived from a sequence of what are largely metasedimentary rocks, known as the Cahill 
Formation. The Cahill sequence forms a c ontinuous folded belt approximately 5km wide, 
covering an area of some 15000 square kilometres geographically. The ribbon like, V-shaped 
occurrence stretches roughly north-south from approximately the entrances of the South 
Alligator and East Alligator rivers in the north to the escarpment of the Arnhem Land Plateau 
near Mount Partridge Range in the south (see fig 3.1). 

Regionally the Cahill Formation is situated within the eastern limits of an extensive synclinal 
geological formation known as the Pine Creek Geosyncline (PCG) of which it is part of. The 
PCG extends at the surface in an app roximate triangle, covering some 66,000 square 
kilometres south and eas t of Darwin. The region within its geographic bounds consists of 
Proterozoic metasediments, dolerite and granite interspersed with minor granitoid Archaean 
basement domes (Needham et al, 1980). It is surrounded on al l sides by sediments of Middle 
Proterozoic to Mesozoic in age which overlie it with marked regional unconformity (see fig 
3.1(top)). 

Exposure of the PCG, including the Cahill Formation, is moderate to sparse as deposition of 
Cainozoic cover sequences and deep w eathering has occurred extensively in the region.  
Likewise in the vicinity of RUM insitu and reworked weathering products (nodules, pisoliths, Fe 
concretions and m ottled clays), unconsolidated sands, mud, silt and c lay of the Tertiary to 
Quaternary (estimated ages only from Needham, 1988) conceals most of the geology.  However 
interpretations from shallow stratigraphic drilling reveals the north-south trending Cahill 
formation at Ranger is banked by the granite, gneissic rocks of the Nanambu Complex and the 
Nourlangie Schist on the west and east respectively (see fig 3.1). The nearest exposed rocks 
are the Nanambu Complex 11km to the west, the plateau forming Kombolgie Formation 15km to 
the east, the Cahill Formation and N ourlangie Schist 5km to the north and more Cahill 
Formation at the base of Mount Brockman (Kombolgie Formation) less than 3km to the south 
(Needham, 1988). 

2.2 Regional Stratigraphy 

At its simplest, the PCG consists of a stack of clastic, organic and c hemical sediments with 
minor volcanics overlaying a granitic basement. Both have been s ignificantly metamorphosed 
and then eroded before being overlayed by a large platform cover of shallow marine, fluviatile 
and colluvial sediments, also with interspersed volcanics. During deposition the basin was 
perhaps as large as 100,000 square km (Needham et al, 1980) and so obviously what are 
equivalent sedimentary units in stratigraphic time can vary in type from one side of the basin to 
the other, depending upon their relative environment of deposition. Conformity of the 
sedimentary units with interbedded tuff units across the basin indicates the chronostratigraphic 
nature of the geosynclinal pile (Needham et al, 1980). For this reason emphasis will be placed 
on those rocks more relevant to the Ranger side of the basin.  
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Comprehensive summaries of regional stratigraphy along with detailed discussions of the rocks 
of the PCG have been presented by Needham et al (1980), Needham et al (1988), Needham 
and Stuart-Smith (1976, 1985) and N eedham (1988). For a more detailed understanding of 
regional geological stratigraphy these publications are recommended. The following provides a 
summary of the PCG stratigraphy relative to Ranger whilst Fig 3.2 represents a s implified 
stratigraphic correlation of the PCG from west to east.  

2.3 Basement Complexes 

The granitoids of the PCG can be split into two groups; those emplaced before regional peak 
metamorphism (approx 1800Ma), thus undergoing deformation, and those emplaced after. The 
latter have been c ommonly interpreted as high level diapiric granitoids (ages of 1780 to 
1710m.y.), having intruded the overlying metasediments and in some cases, creating hornfelsic 
aureoles up to 5km wide around them (Ferguson et al, 1980; Riley, 1980).  

Of the five major granitoid complexes emplaced before peak metamorphism, only the Nanambu 
complex underlying Ranger in the east, and the Rum Jungle and Waterhouse complexes in the 
west are definitive PCG Archaean basement. Whole rock Sr-Rb isochron and U-Pb zircon 
studies have determined Archaean ages (2500Ma ± 100m.y.) for all three (Page, 1976 i n 
Ferguson et al, 1980; Richards and R hodes, 1967; Page et al, 1980). Predating even these 
however, are metasediments, some granitised, banded i ron formation, volcanics and 
metabasics which are contained within and eng ulfed by these three granitic complexes 
(Ferguson et al, 1980; Needham et al, 1980; Needham, 1988). It has been suggested that the 
three basement complexes have features in common with mantled gneiss domes, the doming 
being produced by polyphase folding (Ruxton and S hields, 1962 i n Ferguson et al, 1980; 
Needham et al, 1980; Needham, 1988). 

Rocks of the Nanambu complex, basement to the Ranger orebodies, have been subdivided on 
the basis of age and lithology into: unmetamorphosed Archaean two-mica granite; 
metamorphosed Archaean granite (now predominantly augen gneiss); and Early Proterozoic 
pegmatoid leucogneiss, schist and migmatite. This latter subgrouping is thought to represent a 
portion of Lower Proterozoic basal arkosic rocks which were accreted onto the Archaean 
granitoids during peak metamorphism around 1800Ma (Needham et al, 1980; Page et al, 1980). 
However due to the sparse nature of exposure within the PCG geological subdivision has been 
limited and thus large areas are mapped as undivided Nanambu Complex (Needham, 1988).  
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2.4 The Pine Creek Geosyncline and the Cahill Formation 

The Ranger ore bodies occur in the lower member of the Cahill Formation, the second major 
sequence of sedimentation within the PCG. Deposition of the PCG pile began some time after 
2400Ma (the age of the youngest basement rocks) and finished prior to 1870Ma (the age of pre-
metamorphic granadiorites in the northeast) (Needham et al, 1980). It has been suggested by 
Needham et al (1988) that the 10km, maybe 14 km, of supracrustals more likely accumulated in 
less than 20 million years around 1900Ma.  

The Cahill Formation conformably overlies a g roup of quartzofeldspathic gneisses (Mount 
Basedow and Mount Howship Gneiss) and quartzites (Kudjumarndi Quartzite) formally known 
as the Kakadu Group. The arkosic parents of the Mount Basedow Gneiss unconformably 
overlay the basement Nanambu Complex, hence they can be regarded as the oldest known 
sediments of the eastern PCG (Needham, 1988). To the west these rocks correlate with similar 
arkosic rocks of the Beestons Formation, part of the Bachelor Group, and unconformably 
overlying other Archaean basement (Rum Jungle and Waterhouse Complexes). Rocks of the 
Mount Basedow Gneiss are radioactive with up t o  0 .3% U3O8  in the vicinity of the uranium 
fields of the Alligator Rivers region.  Frequently preserved bedding and compositional banding 
(mainly bands of different grain size in quartzites) with rare cross bedding can be found 
throughout the sequence. It is thought that this initial deposition in the PCG occurred in proximal 
marine or fluviatile conditions (Needham, 1988). 

The Cahill Formation has been separated into two groups, a lower carbonaceous sequence and 
an upper more psammitic member. The lower member is some 300 to 600 m etres thick and 
consists of carbonaceous schist, marble, calc-silicate rock, para-amphibolite and dolostone, and 
schist and quartzite. The upper member conformably overlies the lower member and consists of 
interlayered feldspathic quartz schist, feldspathic schist, feldspathic quartzite, and minor mica 
schist and quartzofeldspathic gneiss. At Koongarra this member has an apparent thickness of 
some 2500 metres due to repeated faulting and folding (Needham, 1988). The lower member 
corresponds to the Masson Formation (part of the Namoona Group) in the Rum Jungle area to 
the west, a s equence of carbonaceous shales, calcarenite, carbonate and s andstone 
(Needham, 1988; Needham et al, 1980). Together, the lower Cahill Formation and the Masson 
Formation are host to much of the uranium deposits and other mineralisation in the entire PCG. 
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A significant interpretation of these rocks is the identification of evaporitic parentage for some of 
the metamorphic carbonate sequences, indicating a transition from subtidal, low energy marine 
to intertidal and supratidal evaporitic facies. Evidence suggests that in the west these evaporites 
formed in thick continuous stromatolitic algal mats where as in the east they formed lens shaped 
masses up t o 250 m etres thick (now calcitic dolomite to magnesite marble) within the partly 
carbonaceous and calcareous sediments of the lower Cahill Formation. Importantly the thickest 
lenses of the latter are adjacent to or partly within the major uranium orebodies and have thus 
been used as a possible Mg source for the medium to high Mg-chlorites which are common to 
all the major uranium deposits.  

Overlying the Cahill Formation is the Mount Partridge Group, comprising the Mundogie 
Sandstone (sandstones, conglomerate, siltstone and phy llite) conformably overlain by the 
Wildman siltstone (interbedded siltstone and carbonaceous shale and quartzite). The Mondogie 
sandstone overlies lithologies similar to those of the lower Cahill Formation and so it is thought 
that it may be a coarser grained and lower grade metamorphic equivalent of the Upper Cahill 
Formation (Needham, 1988). West of the Alligator Rivers region an ex tensive unconformity 
exists at the base of the Mundogie Sandstone. Pebbles of silicified carbonate from the 
Mundogie sandstone conglomerate, allegedly derived from the Cahill Formation, imply a period 
of palaeo-weathering for the corresponding hiatus (Needham, 1988). Also further west in lower 
grades of metamorphism, ripple-drifts can be found in the banded siltstone and carbonaceous 
shales of the Wildman Siltstone (Needham, 1988).  

Closer to Ranger, interpretation of the Jabiru drill traverse (Needham and Stuart Smith, 1976) 
revealed that the Upper Cahill Formation appears to be overlain, in some places conformably 
and in others unconformably, by the Nourlangie Schist.  I t is thought that this is simply a h igh 
grade metamorphic equivalent of the relatively homogenous Wildman Siltstone, which overlays 
Upper Cahill Formation equivalents elsewhere as stated above. In fact east of the Nanambu 
Complex the stratigraphic succession of the PCG becomes a monotonous combination of 
schists and gneiss corresponding to an i ncrease in metamorphic grade away from a c entral 
PCG trough. Further to the east of Ranger, the Nourlangie Schist grades into metamorphically 
differentiated schist and gneiss of the Myra Falls Metamorphics. Parent lithologies are mostly 
unrecognisable in this group however resisters are present, which indicate remnant Kakadu 
Group and C ahill Formation lithologies. The presence of the Cahill formation may be f urther 
supported by the hosting of the Nabarlek Uranium deposit in these metamorphics. 

The South Alligator Group rests unconformably on the Wildman Siltstone; in fact a basal 
ferruginous sandy quartz breccia with rare quartz pebbles at the contact in places could be 
interpreted as a regolith (Needham et al, 1988). The group basically consists of Fe-rich 
sediments, carbonate, and tuff and represents a period of mature sedimentation (the Koolpin 
Formation) followed by episodic felsic volcanism (Gerowie Tuff and Mount Bonnie Formation). 
Where this sequence is found in the uranium fields closer to Ranger, tuff and argillite are absent 
making subdivision difficult, hence the entire sequence has been named as a s ingle unit, the 
Kapalga Formation. The youngest group of sediments in the PCG, a monotonous sequence of 
interbedded greywacke and siltstone with deep water high energy characteristics, called the 
Finness River Group is not found in the east of the basin near Ranger.  

2.5 Cover Rocks 

New light has been shed on the plateau forming cover rocks of the PCG by the Arnhem Land 
section of the National Geoscience Mapping Accord (NGMA), a combined mapping project 
between AGSO and the NTGS. Previous studies (Walpole et al, 1968 and Roberts and Plumb, 
1965 in Sweet et al, 1999; Needham and S tuart-Smith, 1985) have separated the massive 
cover of sandstone with interbedded volcanics known as the Kombolgie Formation and the 
underlying accumulation of felsic volcanics and associated sediments, known as the El Sherana 
and Edith River Groups, with a marked regional unconformity.  The new evidence from dating 
and examination of differences within the Kombolgie Formation itself suggests the hiatus may 
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be as short as a few million years and t hat in fact the sandstones of the lower Kombolgie 
Formation are of the same tectonic regime as those of the El Sherana and Edith River Groups. 
A major regional unconformity was recognised within the Kombolgie Formation which effectively 
separates the lower from the upper sandstone sequences. The Kombolgie Formation has been 
renamed the Kombolgie Subgroup (as that of the greater Katherine River Group) and is possibly 
100 million years older than previously thought (Sweet et al, 1999). If the new dates are correct 
then the proposition that these rocks are the most north westerly preserved extent of the 
McArthur Basin, as has been presumed in the past (Needham et al, 1980; Needham, 1988), 
cannot be true. More importantly for Ranger, the new 1822-1720Ma age constraints mean that 
primary uranium mineralisation of Ranger ore at 1737 ± 20 Ma (for Orebody No. 3) (Ludwig et 
al, 1985, 1987) now fit well within a post-Kambolgie mineralisation model as proposed by Maas 
and McCulloch (1987) for Jabiluka, Koongarra and Nabarlek. Previous ages for the Kombolgie 
Sub-group were based on a basement ridge forming dolerite (Oenpelli Dolerite) being dated at 
c.1690 Ma and one of the volcanic members within it being dated as 1645 Ma (Page et al, 1980 
in Needham, 1988).  

The El Sherana and Edith River Groups occur mainly to the south of the uranium fields, as far 
south as Katherine (Needham, 1988). However small pockets of porphyritic rhyolite at Mount 
Basedow and tuff scattered elsewhere correspond to this rift dominated sedimentary regime, the 
former probably corresponding to the Pul Pul Rhyolite member of the El Sherana Group. 
Directly east of the Ranger 1 ore body isolated lenses of valley fill tuff unconformably overly the 
Nourlangie Schist (or Myra Falls Metamorphics – unresolved). It is thought to represent distal 
volcanic activity and has an apparent conformable relationship with the overlying lower unit of 
the Kombolgie Subgroup, the Mamadawerre Sandstone  (Needham, 1988). 

Due to the lack of El Sherana and E dith River rocks around the Alligator Rivers region, the 
Kombolgie Subgroup directly overlies PCG rocks in most places with a m arked regional 
unconformity. The unconformity surface is not unlike that of the present surface of the northern 
plains with a common local relief of around 20 metres, but with sandstone units thinning and 
pinching out against isolated basement highs of up to 250 metres. Ten percent of the 
sporadically distributed basal conglomerate consists of blades of PCG schist. Cross-bedding 
and ripple marks are widespread throughout the sandstone units, their types suggesting 
shallow-water origin (Needham, 1988). Evidence from recent mapping suggests that the lower 
unit (Mamadawerre Sandstone) and the units associated with the unconformities 
(Gumarrimbang and Marlgowa Sandstones) represent braided stream environments punctuated 
by brief marine incursions whilst the upper most unit (McKay Sandstone) is predominantly 
marine (Sweet et al, 1999).  

Two notable volcanic members exist conformably within the subgroup, the regionally continuous 
Nungbalgarri Member overlying the Mamadawerre Sandstone, and t he intermittent Gilruth 
Member, overlying the Gumarrimbang Sandstone in places. The Nungbalgarri Member is 
composed largely of massive basalt through trachybasalt and dac ite to rhyodacite with local 
cherty rhyolite and i gnimbrite whilst the Gilruth Member is a t hin sequence of tuffaceous 
siltstone, banded quartz-jasper rock and amygdaloidal and vesicular basalt. The basalt in the 
former member contains up t o 4ppm U and 12ppm Th, anomalous to average basalt 
concentrations (according to Taylor, 1964 in Needham, 1988).  

Some one billion years separates the depositional stratigraphic record above the Kombolgie 
Subgroup. In the far north east of Arnhem Land, below the escarpment at Junction Bay, a 
sequence of Middle Cambrian sandstone and shale (Wessel Group) has been preserved, the 
basal unit containing the trace fossil Skilithos (Plumb et al, 1976).  Also preserved in pockets of 
Arnhem Land are the Mesozoic Bathurst Island Formation and even rarer, upon the plateau, the 
Mesozoic Petrel Formation. The former consists of a sequence of fossiliferous paralic sediments 
palynologically dated from Neocomian to Cenomanian (Early to Late Cretaceous) in age. The 
Petrel Formation occurs as low mesas of white and pur ple claystone and medium to course 
friable sandstone up t o 25metres thick. It is lateritised completely and onl y rare fragments of 
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indeterminant plant fossils can be found. Both of these sequences have been examined in more 
detail using oil exploration drill holes to the north (see Needham, 1988).  

Throughout most of the lowlands including the areas directly surrounding Ranger, an overlying 
assortment of unconsolidated to weekly cemented coarse quartz sands and minor 
conglomerate, commonly with an Fe-oxide and clay matrix, dominate the surface. In places 
these are up to 75 metres thick as a single package and as such were named the Koolpinyah 
Surface by Williams (1969 in Needham, 1988), to represent the remnants of a Tertiary sand 
plain. They are most probably locally derived from the Mesozoic and Proterozoic strata; large 
sub-angular and s ub-rounded pebbles (up to 5cm in diameter) of Fe-stained Quartz and 
schistose material can be found in some ferricretes directly to the north of Ranger (North 
Magela Creek), most probably Fe-cemented slope lags (personal observations).  

Other Later Tertiary to Quaternary deposits can be f ound overlying this Koolpinya surface. 
Large talus slopes are widespread against the escarpment of the Kombolgie Formation. Alluvial 
sands are found in the rivers and streams and large sand outwash deposits are frequent over 
the flood plains. The current channels in theses flood plains are incised by abandoned river silts 
and muds. Clay and silt deposits can be found in isolated depressions, suggested to be 
‘swallow holes’ developed by solution or collapse of the mottled and/or pallid zones of the 
underlying clayey sands. It seems these have been preferentially ferruginised further to the west 
of the region (personal observations).  

At present the coastal flood plains are inundated with brackish water conditions during the wet 
season leaving behind sediments of both well drained silts and clays to poorly drained black soil 
plains and mud flats adjacent to channels. These deposits are no greater than 6 metres thick 
and contain various intertidal fauna and wood fragments. Coastal beach ridges are found 
parallel to and within 2km of the current coastline, the innermost ridge corresponding to a 7000 
B.P. shoreline (correlated to dated ridges 65km to the west of the region).  

2.6 Igneous Intrusions 

An extensive combination of sills, dykes, volcanic plugs and g ranites have intruded the PCG 
and its cover sequences, the rocks of Ranger not isolated from some of these events. Due to 
differences in metamorphic grade across the region, those intruded before peak metamorphism 
now host a r ange of different metamorphic lithologies. The Zamu Dolerite includes several 
geographical groupings of similar dolerite throughout the PCG but closer to Ranger it is 
metamorphosed to strongly foliated amphibolite. It outcrops as lensoids up to 2km long which 
are aligned parallel to the dominant foliation in the surrounding Cahill Formation or Nourlangie 
Schist, narrow dykes transgressing (apparent) the foliation of paragneiss in the Nanambu 
Complex and a 167m thick sill-like amphibolite intersected by drilling beneath the Jabiluka No. 1 
Orebody (Needham, 1988). Amphibolites within the Ranger deposits have also been suggested 
to be part of the Zamu Dolerite although alternative origins are possible (see later) (Reynolds 
and Miezitis, 1985). U-Pb zircon studies of a da cite intruded by the Zamu dolerite provide a 
maximum age of 1884 ± 3 Ma (Page pers. comm. 1984 i n Needham, 1988) for the dolerite 
whilst regional metamorphism at 1800Ma provides a minimum age. Geochronological studies of 
the dolerite itself constrain the age to 1914 ± 170 Ma (Page pers. comm. 1984 in Needham, 
1988). 

The Nimbuwah Complex represents a 2600km2 semi-circular body of mesocratic to leucocratic 
granitoid migmatite between Aurari Bay and Nabarlek and melanocratic migmatite and tonalite 
in the Caramal East and Beatrice Inliers. It is the only other major pre-metamorphic igneous 
intrusion, having a primary magmatic crystallisation age of 1886 ± 5 to 1866 ± 8 Ma being 
determined by Page et al (1980).  

Four major igneous intrusions are thought to have occurred after metamorphism but before the 
deposition of the overlying Kombolgie Formation.  The Nabarlek Granite and Tin Camp Granite 
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are both enriched in U and have been dated at 1780 Ma (at least) and 1755 ± 15 respectively 
(Page et al, 1980). Neither are found near Ranger, being near and beneath Nabarlek (Nabarlek 
Granite) and in inliers of the Kombolgie Formation (Nabarlek and Tin Camp Granites) and both 
have been pervasively altered. The Jim Jim Granite is an approximate circular pluton of granite 
and leucogranite which extends into the south of the Alligator Rivers Uranium Field. A Rb-Sr 
age of 1732 ± 11 Ma has been appointed to the granite by Page et al (1980). Near Jim Jim falls 
(southwest of Ranger) this granite is clearly intruded by the Oenpelli Dolerite with 
ferromagnesian metasomatism of the surrounding granite accompanying the intrusion.  

The Oenpelli Dolerite occurs as three ellipsoidal lopoliths, scattered exposures of dolerite north 
of Oenpelli, rare subvertical, possibly stringer dykes around 1 metre wide and as  an i solated 
exposure of dolerite in the west of the Alligator Rivers Uranium Field (Needham, 1988). Doleritic 
dykes within the Ranger Orebodies have been postulated to be Oenpelli Dolerite however 
dating of a similar rock adjacent to Orebody No. 1 suggests that they are unrelated 
chronologically (see below). The lopoliths crop out as arcuate ridges up to 100 metres high and 
1km wide in the centre and s outh of the region, one ex tending south into the Kombolgie 
Formation where it forms discontinuous inliers (Needham, 1988). They transgress all rock unit 
boundaries and foliations within the Early Proterozoic PCG and are unconformably overlain by 
the Kombolgie Formation often forming hornfels in surrounding rocks (Needham, 1988). The 
lopoliths basically consist of roughly differentiated layered sheets of olivine dolerite, all of which 
have been at  least slightly altered to chlorite, prehnite, epidote and calcite (Needham, 1988). 
Page et al (1980) proposed a pooled Rb-Sr isochron age of 1688 ± 13 Ma for the intrusions.  

Another phase of igneous intrusion seems to occur with the Mudginberri and Maningkorrirr 
Phonolite dyke swarms, the former dated by Page et al (1980) as 1316 ± 40 Ma (Rb-Sr). The 
Mudginberri Phonolite outcrops around the Mudginberri Homestead, only 10km NNE of Ranger 
and Granite Hill around 4km south of Jabiluka, intruding granitoid of the Nanambu complex in 
the latter area (Needham, 1988). The Maningkorrirr Phonolite occurs further to the NE near the 
Goomadeer River in Arnhem land. Also in this age bracket is the K-Ar pyroxene age of 1370 ± 
30 Ma for an al tered dolerite intersected by drilling directly east of the Ranger No.1 Orebody 
(Page et al, 1980). It is possible this corresponds with a dolerite dyke occupying the Ranger 
fault, which trends eastward through the Ranger 1 deposit.  

The only other evidence of igneous intrusions occurs far from the Ranger vicinity. A doleritic 
plug (Wurugoij Dolerite) K-Ar pyroxene dated at 1200 ± 40 Ma intrudes the Kombolgie 
Sandstone in the NE of Arnhem Land (Needham, 1988). Even later a small vertical porphyritic 
olivine basalt cuts the Nungbalgarri Volcanic member of the Kombolgie Formation, K-Ar dated 
at 522 Ma (Needham, 1988). 

3 LOCAL GEOLOGY 
The rock and mineralogical descriptions presented here have been grouped according to major 
rock type instead of the mine sequence groupings given earlier. It should be noted that some 
sources used to formulate these descriptions are copies of company reports, which are void of 
publication dates.  

SCHISTS 

Schists are probably the most common type of wasterock judging from their abundant 
distribution within the mines and from observations of the wasterock piles. Most of them have 
been chloritised although the degree of chloritisation varies. For those that are heavily 
chloritised, two phases have been recognised. Ewers and Ferguson (1980) observe that it is an 
earlier distorted period of muscovite and chlorite growth, which defines the schistosity, with later 
undeformed flakes superimposed on foliation. Segregation banding is also a c ommon 
characteristic of the schists with any one of the major minerals dominating each band. In many 
of the quartz-chlorite schists thin quartz veins and rarer carbonate veins (± quartz ± sulfides) 
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occur discordantly or concordantly to the schistosity. Six different types of schist have been 
recognised. 

UMS Quartz-chlorite schist  

Dominated by the quartz and chlorite, this schist is found closer to and within the mineralised 
zone of the UMS, having altered from a quartz-feldspar-biotite schist (Kendall, 1990) with biotite 
and/or phlogopite still evident in places (Colville, 1974). Extremely fine sericite is also present 
according to Colville (1974), at least in Orebody No.3, occurring in thin continuous bands. 
Earlier publications suggest that muscovite is also a dominant mineral in the UMS schist (Ewers 
and Ferguson, 1980; Nash and Frishman, 1983), however these may be simply referring to the 
sericitisation phase. Colville (1974) identifies both a light green and dark green variety of 
chlorite and suggests that the light green is a Ti rich variety. The UMS schist is the main host to 
uranium mineralisation at RUM.  

LMS Sericite- chlorite-quartz schist (Lenticle Schist) 

A prominent band in the LMS also called Lenticle schist due to the chlorite occurring as aligned, 
lenticular nodules (Kendall, 1990) or ‘micro-augen’ as described by Reynolds and Miezitis 
(1985). It has been suggested that these chlorites reflect the alteration of staurolite or similar 
minerals (Kendall, 1990). Once again earlier publications state muscovite as another dominant 
mineral in this schist but sericite/muscovite is probably a bet ter term (see above). Nash and 
Frishman (1983) actually define two schists in the LMS, a Lenticle schist and a Quartz-chlorite-
muscovite schist. Either way quartz, chlorite and sericite/muscovite are the dominant phases. 

HWS schists  

These rocks are not mineralised and of little use for construction materials therefore most of that 
mined would have been placed on the wasterock piles. Their mineralogy is a little confusing due 
to seemingly conflicting descriptions in published material. Needham (1988) identifies two 
different rocks, a Quartz-feldspar schist +- sericite+-biotite+-garnet and a c oarse sericitised 
chloritised mica and quartz schist +-feldspar, amphibole, garnet, pyrite and magnetite in both 
the Ranger and Koongarra deposits. Colville (1974) also notes the existence of chloritisation in 
HWS schists for the No. 3. Orebody, in fact describing no schists without it. He describes the 
HWS as Quartz-chlorite-muscovite schists with interbedded Quartz-chlorite schists, the latter 
possibly representing amphibolite units due to the existence of chloritised amphibole needles in 
many. Whilst others also note the existence of interbedded amphibolite units (Kendall, 1990; 
Reynolds and Miezitis, 1985), few describe the schists with chlorite inclusive. For example 
Kendall (1990) describes the unit as micaceous quartz-feldspar schists with local garnetiferous 
horizons. It is probable that Needham’s description is more precise as it is difficult to believe that 
the ‘zone of chloritisation’ does not extend, at least partly, into the HWS. However that being 
said it is clear that some units (possibly upper) have negligible chlorite due t o description of 
units of this nature in most publications.  G round magnetic surveys from a 1987 ex ploration 
program suggest that the magnetite in these rocks is concentrated in the basal 50 metres of the 
HWS (Kendall, 1990). 

UMS Quartz-feldspar-biotite schist 

This is the main constituent of the UMS away from the ore zone, where it has altered to the 
quartz-chlorite schist described above. It is unknown exactly how far the chloritisation within this 
rock extends laterally, although estimates of 300metres (see above) suggest that little of this 
rock would be present without chlorite within the mine area. There still may be at least some of 
this rock in the wasterock piles because if it does exist within the mined area, it would be 
unmineralised (chlorite-ore relationship described above). 
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FWS Quartz-biotite schist 

The Quartz-biotite schist of the FWS is well foliated, non ba nded and c omposed of 
approximately 70% biotite and 30% milky granular quartz. It is also partially chloritised (Colville, 
1974).  

It is important to include here some notes on the FWS rocks. Drill logs have noted biotite schist, 
augen gneiss, leucogneiss and granite within the FWS of Orebody No.3 (Reynolds and Meizitis, 
1985). Quartzites and Pegmatites have also been noted (Reynolds and Meizitis, 1985; Colville 
1974). Drill core from the No.1. Orebody reveal schist, gneiss, microgneiss and g ranitic rock 
(Kendall, 1990). Importantly however, Nash and Frishman (1983) identify only gneiss and 
schists and Reynolds and Meizitis (1985) state that there has been no true Archaean granite 
recorded in the entire mine area. Colville (1974) interprets the FWS into only two significant 
lithologies, Feldspathic Augen Gneiss and Quartz-biotite schist, which is the FWS interpretation 
accepted here. 

UMS Carbonaceous-chlorite schist 

This chloritised schist is confined to the base of the UMS schists and it contains fine grained 
and platey carbonaceous material, thought to be mainly graphite, which occurs as thin bands 
parallel to schistosity or as coatings on shear planes (Ewers and Ferguson, 1980). The unit is 
commonly brecciated and retextured and o ften contains fragments of UMS schist and L MS 
chert and carbonate. Pyrite mineralisation has also been noted within this zone (Colville, 1974). 
It is important to note that this unit is only 1 to 3 metres thick in Orebody no.3 (Colville, 1974) 
and that which occurs within the central disturbed zone is host to high-grade uranium 
mineralisation (Kendall, 1990). Therefore the Carbonaceous-chlorite schist is probably not in the 
wasterock piles or at least accounts for very little.  

MASSIVE CARBONATES 

Massive carbonates dominate the LMS and hol d no s ignificant mineralisation except deep i n 
orebody No.3 (refer to fig 3.4), hence these rocks will be abundant in the wasterock stockpiles. 
A number of interpretations of the carbonates have been made. Kendall (1990) separates the 
carbonates into a lower magnesian marble and an upper impure dolomite separated by the 
Lenticle schist. Colville (1974) prefers three types, a pink chloritic carbonate, a recrystallised 
carbonate and a banded carbonate, whilst Nash and Fr ishman have identified marble and a 
chloritic marble. Needham (1988) tends to group all of them together into the “most prevalent 
carbonate rock in the Cahill formation”, that of massive crystalline marble, which can vary from 
calcitic dolomite to magnesite often interbedded with various impurities. The difference between 
the interpretations seems to be simply differences in detail and so all of them are probably 
correct and i f taken together, explain the massive carbonate of the LMS and its variety. 
Colville’s (1974) interpretations of Orebody No.3 tend to be the most descriptive and preferred 
here due t o similarities noticed during brief observations of the surface of the southern 
wasterock dump. 

Pink coloured carbonate 

The rock consists of fine hypidiomorphic granular pink magnesian intergrowths with haematite 
finely dispersed between grains and on mineral cleavage plains being responsible for its colour. 
Fine wavy discontinuous concordant bands of dark green chlorite are found throughout this 
type.  

Recrystallised carbonate  

This marble like carbonate is more pure and course grained with subiodiomorphic intergrowths 
of dolomitic carbonate. Angular blobs and fine wispy disseminations of dark green chlorite still 
occur throughout but much less frequent than in the other carbonates. At depth in the mine the 
purity of the carbonate decreases with chlorite content increasing. Vughs containing rhombic 
crystals and fine well developed pyrite are common. Personal observations of rocks on the SWP 

170



 

confirm this with large calcite crystals present with pyrite, quartz and haematite developed on 
quartz within the vughs. The magnesite in the marble at Ranger has inclusions of anhydrite, 
which is another key piece of evidence to its original sedimentary origin (see Crick and Muir 
1980 for further details). It should also be noted that brief inspection of large carbonate boulders 
on the southern wasterock dump revealed large splay aggregations (up to 10cm diameter) of 
white to translucent grey tremolite consistent with tremolite found in equivalent marble in the 
Myra Falls Inlier to the east (Needham, 1988) and w ith a paragenesis of metamorphosed 
impure dolomite (see Deer et al, 1992).  

Banded carbonate 

The Banded carbonate is beneath and within the recrystallised carbonate within the mine and 
consists of white, greyish and pinkish slightly calcareous fine carbonate in alternating bands up 
to 5 cm thick. The banding becomes almost gneissic in nature in places and thin wispy dark 
green chlorite bands occur throughout. 

CHERT 

The chert has been mapped locally in the past as ‘Jasperoidal chert’ and so is often referenced 
with this name (Kendall, 1990; Nash and Fr ishman, 1983). It is a f ine, vaguely banded, 
recrystallised chalcedonic silica rock, white to greenish pink in colour depending on the chlorite 
and haematite content respectively (Colville, 1974). It replaces the carbonate closer to the ore 
zone but this is not as prevalent in Orebody No.3. Pyrite and minor chalcopyrite are common 
accessory minerals (Colville, 1974). Whilst the chert is found closer to the orebody it does not 
seem to be intimately associated with the ore zones (see fig 3.5) so a reasonable amount of this 
material may have been placed on the wasterock and VLG stockpiles.  

MASSIVE CHLORITE ROCK   

Massive chlorite rock which intrudes the UMS and LMS (Colville, 1974; Reynolds and Miezitis, 
1985) seems to have an i ntimate association with uranium mineralisation, at least in some 
places, according to Colville (1974), Needham (1988) and the cross section of Orebody No.1 in 
FIGURE 3.5 (Kendall, 1990) despite Kendall making no mention of this fact. Thus a significant 
portion of this material must have been i ncluded in higher grade stock piles, however rocks 
fitting drill core descriptions of this rock were found in abundance in places upon the surface of 
the southern wasterock pile (personal observations). It consists of dark green chlorite and light 
olive green soapy chlorite in a banded but  contorted texture (Johnson, DDH No.S1/56, 1971; 
Kitto and E upene DDH No.S1/55, 1971). In many places it contains fine disseminated red 
haematite zones and fine disseminated leucoxene (Colville 1974; Johnson, DDH No.S1/56, 
1971; Kitto and Eupene, DDH No.S1/55 1971). It is characteristically disrupted, fractured, 
talcose soft along joint planes and fractures with a serpentiferous texture (Kitto, DDH No.S1/54, 
1971). 

PEGMATITE 

All of the pegmatite is barren and therefore will be an important constituent of the wasterock 
piles. Once again descriptions are a l ittle confusing.  Kendall (1990) subdivides them into four 
different types, dark green quartz rich and quartz poor as well as light green quartz rich and 
quartz poor varieties. He suggests the dark green varieties to represent insitu digestates of LMS 
rocks and the others to be intrusive. Colville (1974) on the other hand identifies two varieties 
with chloritisation or lack of it, being the differentiating feature. Brief observations favour 
Colville’s interpretation but quartz content may be a factor. Basically, apart from differences in 
chlorite content and hence colour, pegmatites at Ranger consist of coarse grained intergrowths 
of microcline feldspar with quartz, muscovite and tourmaline (Colville, 1974). Their paragenisis 
is an issue that does not need to be dealt with here. 
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DOLERITE (DIABASE) 

Dolerite dykes are more common in the No.1 Orebody than in No.3.  There is only one known 
occurrence of economic primary mineralisation in diabase rock which, incidentally, corresponds 
to intense chloritisation (Kendall, 1990). Hence almost all of this rock will be found in the waste 
and VLG stockpiles. Few descriptions exist of these rocks however some characteristics can be 
pieced together. They can be c lassified as Olivine Dolerite dykes often heavily chloritised, 
therefore greenish in colour (Reynolds and Miezitis, 1985). It is mostly a massive, homogenous 
rock with aphanitic textures although it can develop rosettes of light green crystals in a darker 
groundmass (Kitto, DDH No.S1/54, 1971). On the wasterock stockpiles it is characteristically 
exfoliated insitu. Personal observations of hand specimens of this rock show veinlets of 
haematite are quite common. A classic unaltered olivine dolerite mineralogy should be 
dominated by pyroxene and pl agioclase with interspersed olivine (Best, 1982) and so it is 
probable that in the less altered rocks the plagioclase and pyroxene may still be at least partly 
tact.   

GNEISS 

The gneissic textured rocks are limited to the FWS and for further discussion of this sequence 
one should refer to the FWS schist description above. The definitive description of the FWS 
gneiss is from Colville (1974). 

Feldspathic Augen Gneiss 

The Feldspathic Augen Gneiss has a typical gneissic texture with white elongated augen of 
feldspar in a matrix of finely intergrown biotite, muscovite and granular milky quartz. It has also 
been partially chloritised.  

WEATHERED MATERIALS 

According to Ruddock (1981) the depth of weathering at RUM varies from 3 to 30 metres below 
the surface at orebody No.3 and the limit of oxidation, defined in geological logs as the base of 
iron staining on joint and foliation surfaces, ranges from 20 to 90 metres.  

In 1974 Colville stated that 15% of the U mineralisation in the No. 3 orebody is contained within 
the oxidised zone. While these figures are old and possibly out of date it still gives a clear 
indication that there is a proportion of the overlying weathering profile that will not be contained 
within the wasterock or VLG stockpiles. Even less of the weathering profile above Orebody No. 
1 should have been dumped as wasterock because in contrast to No.3, Orebody No. 1 
contained “a large tonnage of lateritic ore” (Ruddock, 1981). A brief inspection of early 
geological cross-sections of both orebodies shows these differences (figure 3.5). 

Combined with this, the cross-sections reveal which types of rocks have been weathered. Whilst 
mineralogical and geochemical characteristics will obviously be markedly different towards the 
more weathered surface within the lithologies, it gives a g ood indication of what type of 
transitional material may be present in the stockpiles.  

Using the information in figure 3.5 above, it is clear that there is still a considerable proportion of 
the weathering profile that will not be included as ore. Hence a significant amount of rocks and 
materials entering the wasterock and VLG stockpiles at Ranger are already weathered to some 
degree. These materials are not distributed evenly throughout the dumps due to their separation 
on classification by degree of weathering into transitional or laterite materials (see introduction).  

If figure 3.5 is a reasonably accurate representation then it can be used as an indication of the 
types of lithologies that have been effected by weathering. Whilst the upper weathering profile 
will have markedly different mineralogy the transitional material should include partially 
weathered pegmatite, HWS schists, UMS schists and LMS chert from orebody No.1 and HWS 
schists, UMS schists and pegmatite from orebody No.3. 
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Milnes (1988) described minerals in the weathering profile of Pit 1 to consist mainly of fine-
grained haematite, goethite and residual quartz as well as the dominant  c lays illite, kaolinite 
and smectite, which had replaced the primary minerals chlorite and muscovite. Von Gunten et al 
(1996) found that the weathering at depth (below ∼6metres) in the Ranger area consisted of 
quartz, chlorite/vermiculite, goethite, kaolinite and mica. It should also be noted that secondary 
uranium minerals (mostly uranophosphates) have been obs erved both on and w ithin the 
wasterock stockpiles in weathered samples, although such observations are not common. 

4 TENEMENT HISTORY 
On 15th March, 1971 Authority to Prospect (AtP) 2013 was acquired by Pancontinental from Air 
Navigators Pty Ltd (Figure 1).  In October 1971 a Joint Venture (JV) deal was signed between 
Pancontinental (65%) and Getty Oil (Texaco) (35%).  AtP 2013 was converted to an exploration 
license – EL12 – on 17th March, 1972 under the Northern Territory Mining Ordinance.  The 
holder of the title was transferred from Air Navigators to Pancontinental at this time.  EL12 
covered an area of approximately 186km2.  Thereafter EL12 was renewed annually until its 
expiry on 17th March, 1977 (Pancontinental, 1979). 

In each year from 1974 the area of EL12 was reduced by 50% as required by the Northern 
Territory Mining Ordinance.  In 1974, however, the area was effectively reduced by some 75% 
because the renewal application of that year was not granted in respect of ~60km2 on the 
grounds that such area fell within the proposed Kakadu National Park. 

An application was made on 13th October, 1973 over an area of ~31km2 for a Special Mining 
Lease (SML 61) to cover the Jabiluka 1 and Jabiluka 2 deposits. 

On 24th November, 1974 an application was made in the Hades Flat area for a further Special 
Mining Lease (SML64) covering an area of ~6km2. 

Several Gold Mining Leases (GMLs) were pegged and appl ied for on 29th July, 1975 to cover 
gold deposits which were discovered within the Jabiluka 2 deposit. 

A series of Mineral Leases (MLs) was pegged and applied for on 14th December, 1975 over an 
area within SML61 of ~5.5km2. 

On 24th November, 1976 a further series of MLs was pegged and applied for over an area of 
~6.8km2 also partly within SML61. 

Four MLs were pegged and applied for on 15th June, 1976 in the Granite Hill area to provide 
aggregate material for the Jabiluka Project. 

Two applications were made on 24th November and 14th December, 1976 for residential leases 
(RL) to cover the Company’s camp at Ja Ja. 

On 6th September, 1977 Pancontinental applied for block mineral leases covering the entire 
area within the Jabiluka Project Area not already covered by mineral lease applications – other 
than the lease applications in respect of aggregate material. 

The Northern Territory Government granted Mining Lease Northern 1 (MLN1) as replacement 
title for these applications on 12th August, 1982 for a period of 42 years. 

In 1991, the Jabiluka project was sold by Pancontinental to ERA. Since then ERA has become 
part of the Rio Tinto Group through the acquisition of the North Group. 

5 EXPLORATION HISTORY 
In 1970, the BMR (now Geoscience Australia) flew a fixed wing airborne magnetic/radiometric 
survey over the area.  No radiometric anomalies were detected from this survey. 
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In 1971, Pancontinental conducted a hel icopter borne radiometric survey that didn’t detect 
either Jabiluka 1 or 2.  The survey did, however, detect a number of other anomalies that were 
subsequently followed up.  In the 1971 dry season a hand held radiometric survey detected two 
small anomalies at Anomaly 7e (Jabiluka 1).  This anomaly was given a low ranking but a 
detailed radiometric grid survey was conducted over Anomaly 7e.  ( Apparently one of  the 
anthills in the area had a very high radiometric count which provided sufficient encouragement 
to warrant follow up).  Costeans were dug after the radiometric survey and secondary uranium 
mineralisation at Jabiluka 1 was intersected. 

In the period 1971/1973 diamond and per cussion drilling was conducted at Jabiluka 1 which 
delineated a resource of 3,500t U3O8  

Another prospect within the Jabiluka lease was discovered in 1971 – Hades Flat.  A series of 
auger, diamond and percussion drilling programs were conducted in the Hades Flat area 
covering three prospects between 1971 and 1976.  A resource of 800t U3O8  was delineated. 

Scout drilling to the east and w est of Jabiluka 1 along the strike of mineralisation led to the 
discovery of the Jabiluka 2 mineralisation.  In the period 1973/1976, percussion and diamond 
drilling at Jabiluka 2 defined a resource of 230,000t U3O8.  In November 1976, Pancontinental 
formed the Jabiluka Division to handle the development of the deposit.  D uring 1977/1979, 
further diamond drilling and r esource assessment was conducted on Jabiluka 2.  A n 
Environmental Impact Statement was lodged as a precursor to granting of permits to develop 
the project. 

In 1991, Pancontinental sold the Jabiluka Project to ERA.  Subsequent to the sale of the project, 
ERA conducted a d rilling program on Jabiluka 2 i n 1992/1993 (resource definition and 
geotechnical) and underground diamond drilling in 1998/1999 as part of the development of the 
exploration decline. 

In 2000, a new resource for Jabiluka 2 was calculated based on an updated geological model.  
The results of the underground drilling and mapping of underground exposures were the basis 
of this new model for the Jabiluka mineralisation.  A resource of approximately 156,000t U3O8 
(Measured, Indicated & Inferred was calculated - Hellman & Schofield, 2000) was defined. 

In summary, no “recent” exploration work has been c onducted on t he Jabiluka Project.  The 
exploration potential of MLN1 is highlighted by the lack of systematic work east of the Jabiluka 2 
deposit and nor th of Hades Flat containing the favourable stratigraphy that hosts both the 
Ranger and Jabiluka deposits. 

6 WORK COMPLETED 

No Exploration work has been carried out on the MLN1 lease. 

MLN1 and t he Jabiluka mineral resource remain under the Jabiluka Long Term Care and 
Maintenance Agreement between ERA, traditional owners and the Northern Land Council dated 
25 February 2005 (LTCMA).  Under the terms of the LTCMA ERA has agreed not to undertake 
any mining development or apply for any authorisation to undertake mining development on 
MLN1 without the approval of traditional owners.  Based on the current circumstances, ERA has 
not undertaken any exploration on the MLN1 lease during the period to which this report 
applies. 

7 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

No ground work is planned since the project remains under long term care and maintenance. 
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Linda’s approach has been defined by respect, listening and co-operation. 

Doing things with communities, not to them. 

And today – there is a fitting final chapter in the story. 

Over the past 18 months, Linda, Tanya Plibersek and myself have met with leaders and 

representatives of the Mirrar people, the traditional owners of the Jabiluka site in Kakadu. 

They were seeking a guarantee that there would never be uranium mining on their land. 

When Yvonne Margarula, the senior traditional owner of Mirrar country, wrote to me, she 

talked of the chance: 

“To finally be free of the threat of further uranium mining at Kakadu” 

That beautiful part of Australia is home to some of the oldest rock art in the world. 

It was there, in 2017, that archaeologists discovered axes and sharpening tools dating 

back tens of thousands of years. 

Proof of the extraordinary and enduring connection Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

people have with this land. 

A reminder of the extraordinary privilege all of us have to share this continent with the 

world’s oldest continuous culture. 

Delegates. 

In 1991, despite the pressure even from some within his own Cabinet, Bob Hawke acted to 

stop uranium mining in Kakadu National Park. 

In 2013, the Gillard Government, acting on the express wishes of traditional owner Jeffrey 

Lee from the Djok clan, legislated to protect his people’s land by adding Koongarra to the 
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national park. 

 

I remember Bob Hawke and Jeffrey Lee sitting together in the Parliament the day that law 

passed. 

 

Today, I am proud to announce that our Government will be working with the traditional 

owners to make Jabiluka part of Kakadu National Park, once and for all. 

 

This means there will never be mining at Jabiluka. 

 

The Mirrar people have loved and cared for their land for more than 60,000 years. 

 

Our Government will work with them to keep it safe for all time. 

 

This morning I also want to recognise my friend Brendan O’Connor. 

 

Brendan is a great Labor person and he has been an outstanding Minister in three Labor 

Governments. 

 

Brendan has always believed in the dignity of work, he has always understood the 

difference that a good job makes to individuals, families and communities – that’s why he 

has always been a champion for public TAFE.  

 

When we came to office, we set a goal of 180,000 fee-free TAFE places. 

 

Well, we didn’t quite deliver on that commitment. 

 

We’ve actually seen 500,000 enrolments. 

 

Half a million Australians who have had the doors of opportunity opened wide for them. 

 

Brendan, your work has changed lives and your service has changed our country, for the 

better. Thank you.  
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Delegates. 

 

Rank and file members. 

 

Members of the mighty trade union movement. 

 

True believers, one and all.  

 

Thank you for what you do, every day. 

 

As members of the parliamentary Labor Party, my colleagues and I stand on your 

shoulders. 

 

Your enthusiasm and energy drives us, your passion and dedication inspires us. 

 

And being here with you at New South Wales conference always feels like coming home. 

 

My Mum, who used to sit up there on these Saturday mornings to listen to the Labor 

leader, was an eternal optimist. 

 

She saw the best in everyone – and she taught me that everyone deserves an equal 

chance to be their best. 

 

And it was this branch where I learned how to put that optimism into action. 

 

I already knew the difference that a good government could make to the life of one family. 

 

The Labor Party showed me the difference a good government could make to the life of a 

nation.  

 

A fair bit has changed since the first time I came here as Delegate Albanese, back in 1983. 

 

My taste in music has held up better than my taste in fashion. 
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But the power of this place, this almost-sacred hall for the Labor Party, remains. 

 

Over the decades, this grand theatre has been the scene of high drama. 

 

This great political colosseum, an arena for fierce battles. 

 

Yet always in the service of a greater purpose. 

 

At Labor conferences the passion is real - because the consequences are real. 

 

The debates we have here matter, because they are about what matters to people’s lives.   

 

They help set the direction of our party – and the country we seek to serve.   

 

That’s how the New South Wales branch has earned its place in history – because it has 

always focused on the future. 

 

Because the Labor people in this hall, always put the Australian people first. 

 

And because, in the end, when we have had our say and made our decision, we go 

forward together, knowing we are part of something bigger than any of us as individuals. 

 

In these times of global uncertainty and rising tensions, we must remember that. 

 

Because - here in Australia - our disagreements do not define us and our differences do 

not divide us. 

 

And whenever our community is tested by tragedy or challenged by fear, as it has been 

this year at Bondi Junction and Wakeley, Australians from all walks of life and from every 

faith and background, respond with bravery, with unity, with kindness toward one another. 

 

That’s the standard that drives our Government every day – to prove worthy of the courage 

and compassion of the people we serve. 
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And that’s always been the story of Labor at our best – bringing people together in the face 

of uncertainty. 

 

Because the basis of all solidarity, is our common humanity. 

 

Yes, things have changed since the first time I came here as a delegate. 

 

Today I want to focus on what’s changed since the last time I spoke here as Prime 

Minister, back in 2022. 

 

For starters, the Blues have won Origin. 

 

And New South Wales Labor has won government. 

 

Thank you to all the volunteers who worked so hard to make that victory possible for Chris 

Minns and his team. 

 

When I spoke here two years ago, I talked about the legislation we were introducing to 

make child care cheaper.   

 

Today, I can report that Labor’s cheaper child care has benefitted over one million families. 

 

There are now 60,000 more children enrolled in early education and 30,000 more early 

educators. 

 

The next step is to look after the people working in child care - by making sure every single 

early educator gets a pay rise. 

 

Our Government promised aged care workers we would fund their wage increase – and 

we delivered. 

 

And we will deliver on this commitment too. 

 

Because the dedicated people who teach our youngest Australians and those who care for 
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our older Australians, deserve more than our thanks and praise. 

 

They deserve better pay and conditions. 

 

Two years ago, I spoke about our plans to rescue bulk-billing and open 50 Medicare 

Urgent Care Clinics. 

 

On Wednesday, we opened clinic number 66. 

 

In New South Wales alone, instead of waiting in a hospital emergency department, more 

than 100,000 people have been able to go to one of these clinics and get the treatment 

they need. 

 

They haven’t needed their credit card, just their Medicare card. 

 

In Cessnock and Tamworth and Queanbeyan. 

 

Wollongong and Lismore. 

 

Liverpool and Penrith. 

 

Bankstown and Batemans Bay. 

 

1 in 3 people to receive treatment at these clinics so far, have been children aged under 

15. 

 

Because it shouldn’t matter if it’s the weekend, or after normal working hours. 

 

If your child is hurt or sick, in Australia you should be able to see a doctor straightaway - 

and for free. 

 

That’s the meaning of Medicare. 

 

And that’s why, last November, we tripled the bulk-billing incentive which has already seen 
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an additional 2 million bulk-billed consultations. 

 

After a decade of Liberal cuts and neglect, we are getting bulk billing back on track. 

 

And guess who was in charge when the last Liberal Government launched its attack on 

Medicare, the same man the doctors of Australia voted the worst Health Minister ever: 

Peter Dutton. 

 

Through his whole time as Minister for Health he had one idea – making sick people pay 

more. 

 

A GP tax. A hospital tax. A medicine tax. 

 

And a six year freeze on Medicare rebates. 

 

Peter Dutton was so bad at his job that Tony Abbott sacked him. 

 

The Liberals’ history on Medicare is appalling - but the risk they pose to Medicare’s future 

is even worse. 

 

There’s only one sure way to keep Medicare strong – keep Labor strong in Government. 

 

When I spoke here two years ago, we had just passed the legislation for 10 days paid 

family and domestic violence leave. 

 

Today, all 55 recommendations of the Respect@Work report are being implemented. 

 

Casual workers have new rights and better security. 

 

And Same Job, Same Pay is now the law of the land. 

 

Let me tell you about the difference that makes: 

 

Danielle is a member of the Mining and Energy Union who was employed by labour hire at 
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the Mount Pleasant Coal Mine. 

She wore the same uniform as the workers directly employed. 

 

She had the same skills, answered to the same supervisor, drove the same vehicles and 

worked the same rosters. 

 

But she was paid $33,000 less than those who worked side by side with her. 

 

Now, because of an application her union made under our laws, Danielle is going to be 

directly employed and get a $33,000 payrise.  

 

Only the labour movement could drive that change – and only a Labor Government could 

deliver it. 

 

And today, let me send a very clear message to companies that are fighting to keep these 

loopholes open to undercut wages and conditions. 

 

When we pass a law about a fair go at work – we back the words with action. 

 

I am proud to announce we will be sending the Australian Government’s lawyers to back 

the workers and the unions in their case against the labour hire company Operational 

Services. 

 

Our principle is simple, our position is clear: same job, same pay. 

 

Delegates.  

 

It was on this stage that I first announced our plans to expand Paid Parental Leave to a full 

six months. 

 

On the 1st of July that expansion began: with an extra two weeks for every eligible parent. 

 

And next year, when we add another two weeks, we’ll also be adding superannuation. 
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That’s what happens when a Labor Government with a majority of women, makes equality 

for women a priority. 

 

And that’s why the gender pay gap is at an all-time low. 

 

Expanding Paid Parental Leave is just one way we are working to take pressure off the 

cost of living, while putting downward pressure on inflation. 

 

Today, inflation is almost half what it was when we came to office. 

 

930,000 jobs have been created, more than during any term of any government since 

Federation. 

 

Over 1000 new jobs every day – and the majority of them, full time jobs. 

 

We’ve turned a decade of Liberal Budget deficits into back-to-back Labor surpluses.   

 

And we’ve got wages moving again: real wages grew more in the past year - than they did 

under nine years of the Liberals. 

 

Of course, we understand there are Australians doing it tough. 

 

I’ve never forgotten what that’s like, I know that pressure is something you live with every 

day. 

 

That’s why our Government is working every day to help. 

 

We’ve just frozen the price of medicines on the PBS, for everyone.   

 

We’ve cut $300 off the energy bill of every household. 

 

2.6 million workers on award wages have just received their third consecutive pay 

increase. 
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We are wiping $3 billion in student debt. 

 

And every Australian taxpayer – all 13.6 million of them – are getting Labor’s tax cuts. 

 

At the start of the year, my colleagues and I decided to change the tax plan we had 

inherited from the Liberals.   

 

It wasn’t an easy call – but it was the right call. 

 

We made these tax cuts better for part time workers, better for women, better for young 

people, better for low and middle income earners. 

 

And better for the economy, by boosting workforce participation. 

 

We made them Labor tax cuts – because they deliver for all Australians.  

 

No-one held back and no-one left behind. 

 

And remember this: the Deputy Liberal Leader promised to fight these tax cuts before 

she’d seen them. 

 

Their Shadow Treasurer said he would roll them back. 

 

And Peter Dutton demanded an election to stop them going ahead. 

 

If the Liberals had their way: 

 

90 per cent of female taxpayers would be worse off. 

 

Average workers would be over $800 worse off. 

 

3 million people earning less than $45,000 would have got nothing. 

 

In these tough times, our Government is working to make it easier for people. 
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We’re helping Australians earn more – and keep more of what they earn. 

 

We’re building a stronger economy - and we’re investing in the infrastructure that drives 

growth and productivity. 

 

Including $2 billion for the roads and rail that will connect communities to the new jobs 

Western Sydney International Airport will bring. 

 

And – all over Australia – we are building more homes. 

 

Our Government’s $32 billion Homes for Australia plan means: 

 

Training more tradies. 

 

Building more social housing. 

 

More crisis accommodation for women and children fleeing violence. 

 

And working with the Minns Labor Government to strengthen renters’ rights and build more 

homes where people want to live: close to family, jobs, services and public transport. 

 

We are focused on practical measures that make a positive difference. 

 

The Liberals have opposed every one of them - more often than not with the backing of the 

Greens Political Party. 

 

The Greens post about housing on social media – and protest social housing in their 

communities. 

 

They move motions about housing in the Parliament – but sign petitions against building 

more homes in their electorate. 

 

For our opponents, housing is a talking point – for us, housing is the starting point for a 
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better life. 

They are the wreckers and the blockers – we are the builders. 

And we are getting on with the job. 

We’re also investing in the things that turn suburbs into communities. 

The parks and sporting fields, netball courts and local pools that teach our children the joy 

of sport and the value of teamwork. 

The community centres and halls and libraries that bring people together. 

Our Government is going to contribute to these projects – not on the basis of a colour-

coded spreadsheet but on their merits. 

And I am pleased to announce our new $350 million Thriving Suburbs program is open to 

every suburb across our nation, from today. 

Building stronger communities is about working together to shape the future, not waiting for 

the future to shape us. 

The Liberals and Nationals wasted a decade pretending change wasn’t happening. 

Who can forget Scott Morrison standing in the Parliament and passing a lump of coal down 

the front bench, I’ll give them the big tip, don’t try that stunt with uranium. 

Meanwhile, on their watch, 24 out of 28 coal fired power stations around the country 

announced they would be closing. 

And all the Liberals did was close their eyes. 

Buried in denial and frozen in time, while the world warms around them. 
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Not just stuck in the past but trying to drag the rest of Australia back there just to keep 

them company. 

 

And because they have nothing positive to say about the future – they do nothing to 

prepare for it. 

 

That’s not caution or conservatism – that’s negligence. 

 

Now look at what’s happening at the old Liddell Power Station in the Hunter today. 

 

Workers, local businesses and AGL are co-operating to turn the site into a new clean 

energy hub.  

And our Solar Sunshot Program is investing in hundreds of new local manufacturing jobs, 

right along the solar panel supply chain. 

Soon there will be more workers employed on that site than at any time when the old 

power station was operating. 

This is what our vision for a future made in Australia is all about. 

Seizing the opportunities of cleaner, cheaper, renewable energy to power a new 

generation of secure, well-paid manufacturing jobs in our regions and suburbs alike. 

Making sure no community is held back and no worker is left behind.  

Making more things here. 

And making the most of our national strengths. 

At the next election, all this is at stake. 

Because the Liberal Party oppose new investments in critical minerals and clean energy. 

They say fee-free TAFE is a waste of money. 

They call Australian manufacturing a graveyard. 

They brag about driving the car industry out of Australia when they were last in 

government. 
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And now they want to sacrifice a new generation of manufacturing jobs, all in the name of 

their obsession with nuclear power. 

It’s been over a month since the Liberals finally announced their plan for nuclear reactors 

in every state on the mainland. 

They can’t find a single investor to back it. 

They won’t tell people what the cost of building these reactors will be. 

They won’t tell you how long it will take. 

They don’t have an answer about how or where they will safely store the nuclear waste. 

They can’t tell us how much energy these reactors will produce - because they’re not sure 

how many reactors there will actually be. 

But there is one thing they have been crystal clear on, from the outset - they don’t like the 

memes. 

Peter Dutton spends a lot of time demanding a ‘mature debate’, on the facts. 

He should start by facing the facts. 

Nuclear power is the most expensive form of new energy – renewables are the cheapest. 

Building one nuclear reactor will cost taxpayers at least 8.5 billion dollars. 

It will take at least 20 years. 

And even if the Liberals’ reactors are up and running, sometime in the distant future, they 

will only produce about 4 per cent of the energy we need. 

That measly 4 per cent will cost families and businesses up to eight times more than solar 

or wind power. 

And on top of all this, there is the opportunity cost. 

The jobs, investment, energy and certainty Australia would miss out on, now. 

 

The price our nation would pay for turning away from our unbeatable natural advantages to 

go chasing after something that takes longer, costs more and delivers 

less.                                                                                                               
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Delegates. 

 

Let there be no doubt. 

 

This is the decisive decade for our nation’s future. We are in it right now. 

 

And in Australia we have everything we need to seize this moment and make it our own. 

 

We have the sunlight, the space, the critical minerals, the skilled workers, the great 

universities and TAFEs, the trade ties to our region, diaspora communities that connect us 

to every nation in the world. 

 

The only thing we do not have is time to waste. 

 

That’s why the next election is about more than the next three years. 

 

It is about the next generation of Australian jobs - and the once-in-a-generation chance we 

have to secure a new era of growth and fairness. 

 

The choice facing our nation is clear: a Labor Government driven by our optimism for a 

better future, our plan to deliver it and our determination to see all Australians share in it or 

a Liberal National Noalition that spent a decade creating the problems and the last two 

years standing in the way of the solutions. 

 

For every urgent challenge Australians are facing, for every opportunity our nation must act 

to seize. 

 

The Liberals have nothing to offer but the negativity that takes us nowhere. 

 

This is the choice. 

 

This is what’s at stake. 

 

This is why we have to win. 
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This is why - with your help - we will win.   

 

Delegates. 

 

Not far from here, more than 130 years ago, the founding members of our movement 

made a choice that defines us still. 

 

Labor chose to be a movement for change and a party of government. 

 

We chose to make ourselves part of the foundations of Australian democracy. 

 

To campaign for rights and reforms that would not just win the backing of a caucus or a 

conference, they would win the support of the nation. 

 

We set ourselves the toughest democratic test – earning the trust of the Australian people 

and proving worthy of it. 

 

Every great Labor generation that has gone before us has shown the courage to choose 

that hard road and the determination to follow it.  

 

That’s the choice everyone in this hall and everyone in our movement makes every day.  

 

We choose progress over protest. 

 

We choose delivery and action over empty words. 

 

And our Members choose to help vulnerable people inside electorate offices – not 

intimidate them outside. 

 

Of course, there are times when building to last, bringing people together, doing the patient 

work of meaningful change is hard. 

 

Ben Chifley said it at New South Wales conference, 75 years ago: 

194



 

“People who work within the Labor movement…can never have an easy job”. 

 

Our job will never be easy - because the work of progress is never done. 

 

Because we should always be striving for better and aiming higher for the people we 

serve. 

 

That’s what drives me in this job - the determination to do better for Australians. 

 

And as long as there is more to do, our Labor Government will keep working. 

 

We’ll keep working to bring people together. 

 

We’ll keep working to make Medicare stronger. 

 

We’ll keep working to build more homes. 

 

We’ll keep working to help families under pressure. 

 

We’ll keep working to boost pay and job security and safety at work. 

 

We’ll keep working to bring the life-changing opportunity of education in reach of all 

Australians. 

 

We’ll keep working to deliver the cleaner and cheaper renewable energy our nation needs 

- and preserve the natural environment that all of us treasure. 

 

We’ll keep working to ensure that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have an 

equal chance at a safe and fulfilling life. 

 

We’ll keep working to make our future here in Australia. 

 

We’ll keep working to build an economy and a society where no-one is held back and no-
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The Albanese Labor Government has advised the Northern Territory Government that the

Jabiluka Mineral Lease should not be renewed, allowing the site to be added to Kakadu

National Park.

The Commonwealth advice has enabled the Northern Territory Government to decline to

extend the lease of the Jabiluka uranium project. 

The Albanese Government will now begin the process of incorporating the site to the

Kakadu National Park, in line with the wishes of the Mirarr Traditional Owners.

Minister for Resources and Northern Australia Madeleine King said the decision would

end decades of uncertainty about the project.

“ERA and their major shareholder, Rio Tinto, rightly committed to not developing the site

without the support of the Mirarr Traditional Owners, who are completely opposed to the

renewal of the lease.

“I have met with all significant stakeholders in the Jabiluka Mineral Lease. This decision

provides clarity and certainty to all parties.”

Minister King said Jabiluka contains outstanding and extensive rock art, shelters and

paintings that are recognised as among the longest historical records of any group of

people on earth.

“Aboriginal people have occupied the Kakadu region continuously for at least 65,000

years.”

Minister for the Environment and Water, Tanya Plibersek said “Following this significant

step, we can now work with Traditional Owners to begin the process of incorporating

Jabiluka into Kakadu National Park.

“Labor protected Macquarie Island, Kakadu, the Daintree and the Great Barrier Reef. And

today we are expanding on that legacy.

“Kakadu is one of our most precious places – Kakadu’s rock art documents Indigenous

creation stories and makes up one of the longest historical records of any group of people

in the world.

“And it’s home to 2,000 plant species, around one-third of all Australian bird species and

about one-fifth of all Australian mammals.

“That’s why today I’m pleased to begin work to incorporate the Jabiluka site into Kakadu

National Park.

“We’ll do that alongside Mirrar Traditional Owners who have been successfully looking

after this land for tens of thousands of years.”
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Senior Traditional Owner of Jabiluka, Yvonne Margarula said “Jabiluka is a significant place

for Mirrar people. It is the site of strong cultural significance – a place we have fought to

protect.  

“I thank all people and governments who have worked with Mirrar over the last 30 years

to ensure the protection of Jabiluka.”

The mineral lease for the site will end on August 11. 

Energy Resources Australia (ERA) has held the licence of the Jabiluka site since 1991 but

no mine has been developed. 

Jabiluka sits alongside the former Ranger Uranium Mine, which is also owned by ERA and

their major shareholder, Rio Tinto, and has been in rehabilitation since 2021.

The decision will not impact Australian uranium supplies to customers as the Jabiluka site

has never been mined. 
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